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Forward-looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties Forward-looking statements convey

current expectations or forecasts of future events for ExamWorks Group Inc and its consolidated subsidiaries also referred to herein

as we our us Company or ExamWorks All statements contained in this report other than statements of historical fact

including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position business strategy and plans and our objectives

for future operations are forward-looking You can identi forward-looking statements by terminology such as project believe

anticipate plan expect estimate intend should would could will can continue or may or the negative

of these terms or other similar expressions that convey uncertainty of future events or outcomes The following uncertainties and

factors among others including the factors described in the section entitled Risk Factors in this report could affect our future

performance and cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements

our limited operating history

our ability to implement our growth strategy and acquisition program

our ability to integrate completed acquisitions

our expansion into international markets

our ability to secure additional financing

regulation of our industry

failure to effectively and efficiently develop and integrate our information technology platform

our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and other information including non-public medical related

personal information

our ability to compete successfully

our ability to retain qualified physicians and other medical providers for our medical panel

our ability to retain our clients

our ability to provide our services in an accurate timely and efficient manner

our ability to retain key management personnel and

restrictions in our credit facility and future indebtedness

There are number of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results anticipated by

these forward-looking statements These important factors include those that we discuss in this report under the caption Risk

Factors You should read these factors and the other cautionary statements made in this report as being applicable to all related

forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this report If one or more of these factors materialize or if any underlying

assumptions prove incorrect our actual results performance or achievements may vary materially from any future results

performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements Moreover we operate in very competitive

and rapidly changing enviromnent New risks emerge from time to time It is not possible for our management to predict all risks nor

can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual

results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make We undertake no obligation to

update any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise except as required by law

This report also contains statistical data and estimates including those relating to market size and growth rates of the markets

in which we participate that we obtained from industry publications and generated with internal analysis and estimates These

publications include forward-looking statements made by the authors of such reports These forward-looking statements are subject to

number of risks uncertainties and assumptions Actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or

implied in the forward-looking statements Some data and information are also based on our good faith estimates which are derived

from our review of internal surveys as well as the independent sources listed above Although we believe these sources are reliable

we have not independently verified the information and cannot assure you of its
accuracy or completeness



Part

Item Business

Our Company

ExamWorks is leading provider of independent medical examinations or lIMEs peer and bill reviews and related

services which include litigation support services administrative support services and medical record retrieval services and which we

collectively refer to as lIME services or the 1MB industry We provide these IME services through our medical panel of independently

contracted credentialed physicians and other medical providers Our clients include property and casualty insurance carriers law

firms third-party claim administrators and government agencies that use independent services to confirm the veracity of claims by

sick or injured individuals for workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability insurance coverage We help

our clients manage costs and enhance their risk management processes by verifying the validity nature cause and extent of claims

identifying fraud and providing fast efficient and quality IME services

We provide our clients with the local presence expertise and broad geographic coverage they increasingly require Our size

and geographic reach give our clients access to our medical panel and proprietary information technology infrastructure that has been

specifically designed to streamline the complex process of coordinating referrals scheduling appointments complying
with

regulations and client reporting Our primary service is to provide lIMEs that give our clients authoritative and accurate answers to

questions regarding the nature and permanency of medical conditions or personal injury their cause and appropriate treatment

Additionally we provide peer and bill reviews which consist of medical opinions by members our medical panel without conducting

physical exams and the review of physician and hospital bills to examine medical care rendered and its conformity to accepted

standards of care

The qualifications experience and availability of physicians and other medical providers are critical to the lIME industry as

they are the primary determinants of the speed and quality with which 1MB services are performed We provide our physicians and

other medical providers with seamless document management scheduling transcription and tracking systems helping them increase

efficiency and optimize the number of IME services they can conduct based on their availability Our ability to minimize

administrative burden and schedule appointments efficiently encourages physicians and other medical providers to perform 1MB

services through us Based on client and physician feedback we believe our medical panel effectively meets our clients needs

Our revenues consist primarily of fees per 1MB service performed Our fees vary by physician/medical provider specialty

and type of service Our primary costs are the payments made to physicians and other medical providers on our medical panel Our

costs are variable as members of our medical panel are independent contractors allowing us to maintain and manage our operating

margins more effectively Our long-standing relationships with clients have resulted in historically consistent and recurrent demand

for our services

On July 14 2008 we acquired three 1MB businesses in New York New Jersey and Texas Since then we have acquired 27

additional 1MB businesses including 1MB businesses in Canada and in the United Kingdom and leading provider of software

solutions to the 1MB industry As result of our corporate infrastructure and scale our acquired businesses have generally been able to

increase revenues and improve operating margins post acquisition In addition we have developed and refmed our services by

identifying and integrating processes from acquired businesses throughout our entire organization that require accountability set clear

sales goals and track progress effectively

Today we are an international company delivering our services in all 50 U.S states Canada and the United Kingdom Our

operating model enables us to provide our clients with the localized services they are accustomed to while realizing the benefits of

scale that accrue to larger integrated company



Initial Public Offering

On November 2010 we completed an initial public offering of common stock The total offering size was 11845000

shares after exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option consisting of 9290114 shares issued by us and 2554886

shares sold by existing stockholders of the Company The Companys common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange

under the symbol EXAM

Significant Recent Developments

Exercise of Accordion Feature Under Senior Revolving Credit Facility

In February 2011 ExamWorks exercised the accordion features of our senior secured revolving credit facility dated October

11 2010 by and among the Company the guarantors party thereto Bank of America N.A as administrative agent and the other

lenders party thereto The exercises of the accordion features increased the committed capacity of the Credit Facility by $65 million

from total of $180 million to total of $245 million

Acquisition of MES Group Inc

On February 28 2011 through our wholly-owned subsidiary ExamWorks Inc we acquired MES Group Inc IVIES
leading provider of IMEs peer reviews bill reviews and utilization reviews Pursuant to the terms of Stock Purchase Agreement

dated January 11 2011 ExamWorks purchased all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of MES from the shareholders

of IVIES for $215 million We paid total consideration consisting of $175 million in cash 1424501 shares of our common stock with

fair value of $30 million using value of $21.07 per share the closing price of our common stock on February 28 2011 and the

payoff of $10 million of indebtedness under IVIES credit facilities

Industry Opportunity

We believe the IME industry represented sales volumes in 2009 of approximately $4 billion in the U.S $0.6 billion in

Canada and $0.5 billion in the United Kingdom based on our analysis of data reported by the U.S National Association of Insurance

Commissioners U.S NAIC the Insurance Bureau of Canada the Association of Workers Compensation Boards of Canada and

the Association of British Insurers regarding the number of claims made in 2009 for which IMIE services may be requested in

insurance lines we service the estimated average price for IMEs and our knowledge of the IME market our competitors and potential

acquisition targets

The following clients routinely request IME services

Clients Description

Insurance Mainly claims adjusters and in-house counsel for major insurance companies covering workers compensation

Companies automotive personal injury liability and disability insurance claims

Law Firms Attorneys who request IMIE services based on specific claims for insurance carriers

Third-Party Claim Process claims and administer benefits for large self-insured corporations that outsource claims management

Administrators

TPA

Government Government agencies across the federal state and local levels e.g U.S Department of Labor and Health

Agencies Canada

State Funds State-mn payors that provide mandatory workers compensation insurance to companies



The IME industry is highly fragmented consisting of an estimated 500 companies in the U.S most of which are privately

owned and generate less than $10 million in annual revenues and thousands of independent physicians and other medical providers

Many of these companies provide IME services to only one line of business and only at local or regional level In contrast we
believe the needs and requirements of IME clients are evolving and are increasingly sophisticated requiring broader portfolio of

services uniform quality standards consistent reporting and robust administrative and information systems necessary to meet their

needs across multiple geographies and lines of business

IME Industry Growth Drivers

We believe the IME industry presents llvlE services providers like us with continued potential for growth and profitability

through consolidation growth in international markets and capture of market share from lIME companies without national

infrastructure large credentialed medical panel and/or robust technology platform The following are some of the factors that

contribute to these opportunities

IME services are used for large number of claims TIME services are regularly used by insurance companies law

firms TPAs government agencies and state fUnds for the evaluation of non-litigated and litigated claims In the U.S

lIME market we estimate based on data reported by the U.S NAIC that approximately 25 million workers

compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability insurance claims are made per year many of

which are potentially subject to IME services Particular types of claims with high economic value such as

permanent disability typically require IMIEs and have shown strong demand in recent years

Cost containment and risk management will be primary areas offocus Current macroeconomic demographic and

regulatory trends including increased medical costs and administrative and regulatory burdens will continue to

pressure users of IIVIE services to better manage costs and mitigate risks If settled claims are usually paid as

multiple of medical
expenses and other costs accrued Consequently clients increasingly demand fast accurate and

efficient provision of IME services to help manage costs

Demand for IME services due to the prevalence of fraud The National Health Care Anti-Fraud Association

estimates that 3% of all healthcare spending in the U.S approximately $68 billion in 2007 was lost to fraud With

ongoing efforts to address healthcare fraud we expect the demand for IMIE services to increase

Sources of low-risk revenue are increasingly attractive to physicians Pressure in the healthcare industry on

physician compensation encourages physicians to take on additional work including performing IME services to

supplement their incomes There is almost no reimbursement risk associated with performing IME services as

physicians are paid on per service basis at pre-negotiated rate Consequently demand from physicians to perform

TIME services is expected to remain strong



International markets represent key growth opportunities There are several international markets with demand for

IME services either due to regulatory requirements such as national health programs or private-sector adoption of

claims validation practices to better manage costs and mitigate risks

In dustry fragment ati on inefficiencies and lack of scale present challenges for smaller IME companies The IME

industry is highly fragmented and smaller 1MB companies may provide IIVIB services inefficiently and with

inconsistent quality With ongoing pressure in the IME industry to reduce costs improve quality and improve

workflow efficiency we believe the market opportunity for 1MB companies with comprehensive portfolio of

services and broad geographic coverage is significant

Our Competitive Strengths

While we compete with large number of primarily local and regional 1MB providers we believe our competitive strengths

include the following

Growing brand name associated with market leading capabilities Our ExamWorks brand has distinct geographic

and market strengths which continue to grow stronger as we build our national and international presence We are

known by our clients as having industry leading capabilities and continue to position ourselves as the optimal IME
services provider for insurance companies and other clients as well as physicians and other medical providers As

we acquire companies we seek to maintain the relationships and recognition associated with the acquired brand We
believe that as our brand strength improves we will continue to attract clients and qualified physicians and other

medical providers to our medical panel

Well positioned to capture market share With our focus on national accounts our long-standing local relationships

and our national and international footprint we believe we are well positioned to continue to capture market share at

the local and national level To date we have been successful in being named preferred vendor for many of the

largest insurers and are in the process of adding more national accounts to our client list Our recent acquisition of

MES has also added significant expertise in the management and marketing to national accounts As preferred

vendor local offices of national accounts while generally maintaining discretion are free to utilize our services over

other vendors Consequently as we add national accounts and proactively sell our services to our clients through our

sales force we should continue to receive new business and grow our market share The quality of our long-standing

relationships with our clients has historically provided consistent and recurrent demand for our services

Large qualjfied and experienced medical paneL We believe our medical panel represents one of the 1MB

industrys leading groups of widely accessible experienced and credible physicians and other medical providers

We have relationships with physicians and other medical providers across nearly every medical specialty We are

able to attract and retain our highly qualified medical panel through our ability to fill schedules and offer full
range

of administrative services We believe that quality of service professionalism and speed of IME or review

completion are key areas of focus for our clients and we work with our medical panel to ensure that we meet or

exceed client expectations

Leading technology platform Our IMBCentric technology platform streamlines our business processes and

reduces administrative operating costs with industry leading coordination of patient referrals appointment

scheduling client reporting and real-time case tracking We believe that the complexities of the 1MB industry and

client demand for broader more cost-effective portfolio of services will continue to benefit companies like us

which remain at the forefront of technological innovation



Proven track record of successfully completing and integrating key acquisitions Our growth is supplemented by

selective disciplined acquisitions to expand our geographic coverage provide new or complementary lines of

business expand our portfolio of services and increase our market share Since our founding we have acquired 30

1ME businesses and have track record of successfully integrating acquired businesses into our operations Through

rapid and effective integration we have been able to utilize acquired platforms to cross-sell lIME services As

awareness of our brand continues to increase we find that smaller IlVIE companies increasingly want to join

ExamWorks To date we have successfully realized several key benefits through our acquisition strategy including

the scale to operate efficiently while retaining the critical local office presence ii the ability to offer our clients

leading medical panel iiiservice-specific processes which are rapidly shared throughout our entire Company and

iv the opportunity to introduce new products and services and enter new markets and geographies

Experienced management team Our management team has an in-depth understanding of the IME industry as well

as extensive experience growing companies profitably both organically and through acquisitions Prior to founding

our Company our senior executive team founded and operated three successful public companies They bring

extensive experience in growing businesses organically and acquisitively having successfully integrated over 80

acquisitions during their careers Many of the members of the executive management team have worked together

closely over the past 15 years Since ExamWorks inception the management team has sourced and successfully

completed 30 acquisitions In addition the MES acquisition has added large number of highly experienced

industry veterans to our management team

Our Growth Strategies

Our objective is to continue to be leading provider of IME services and to build on our position as an essential and trusted

service provider in claims validation and verification processes Our principal strategies to meet our objectives are

Maintain Strong Organic Growth

We believe the following initiatives will allow us to continue to grow

Drive sales growth As many of our acquired companies were family-owned businesses built on local relationships

they often did not have well-developed management strategies policies and procedures We have been able to

implement processes that require accountability set clear sales goals and track progress effectively enabling us to

increase the number of 1MB services provided to existing clients This in turn has increased the growth and

profitability of our acquired companies

Sell additional services to existing clients With locations serving the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom we are

able to use our large network to efficiently share services expertise within our sales force By accelerating the

knowledge transfer and cross-selling capabilities of our sales force we are able to offer additional IMIE services to

existing clients for example peer and bill reviews to existing IME clients This allows us to capture additional

market share and grow our presence in markets by increasing utilization of our existing platform across all IMIE

service offerings



Cross-sell into other insurance lines of business Currently we have clients that use our services for specific line of

business We can increase sales to existing clients through cross-selling into additional lines of business such as

workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability

Expand geographic footprint with existing clients We intend to build on our local relationships and expand into new

geographies where our clients operate As many of our clients have broad national and/or international presence

we believe our strong relationships and reputation for providing quality IME services will provide us with

opportunities to receive intra-client referrals and increase our geographic footprint As we expand geographically

and serve clients in new geographic regions we expect our national account program to build momentum and for us

to become preferred provider for more of our clients

Pursue Acquisitions

We believe based on our knowledge of the IME market our competitors our acquired businesses and potential acquisition

targets that we are the largest provider of 1MB services in the U.S based on revenues and the only provider with operations in both

Canada and the United Kingdom However we estimate that our revenues represent only approximately 7% of the markets we serve

We believe that the remainder of the market is serviced by local and regional companies and thousands of physicians and other

medical providers As result we believe this fragmented industry provides many opportunities for acquisitions We plan to continue

to pursue acquisitions to grow our business in existing markets and add new service areas and geographies including new

international markets We have history of successfully integrating acquired businesses and have acquired 30 1MB businesses to date

The acquisitions have allowed us to diversify our portfolio of services and expand our geographic footprint

As we grow our reputation and recognition in the IME industry we believe more 1MB companies will want to join

ExamWorks Since the 1MB industry is highly fragmented we believe we will have additional opportunities to identify and capitalize

on complementary acquisitions in the future

Our Services Medical Panel and Technology Platform

Our services primarily include IMEs and peer and bill reviews which are provided by members of our medical panel Our

portfolio of 1MB services mcets thc urgcnt claims evaluation needs of our clients by verifying the validity nature cause and extent of

claims identifying fraud and providing fast efficient and quality 1MB services

Independent Medical Examinations IMEs

Our primary service is to arrange for the provision of IMIEs that give our clients authoritative and accurate answers to

questions regarding the nature and permanency of medical conditions or personal injury their cause and appropriate treatment Clients

use IMEs as part of their claims or liability management process in order to confirm the veracity of claims by sick or injured

individuals for workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability insurance coverage Our independent and

clearly wriften opinions prepared by our credentialed panel of physicians and other medical providers address both medical and legal

competencies In most cases clients cannot perform the services in-house as there is need to perform IMBs independently

objectively and in cost-effective manner IMBs are also used by attorneys for legal disputes and proceedings related to personal

injury and other claims In the case of litigated claims physicians and medical providers on our medical panel are able to provide

expert testimony

Peer Reviews

We offer full range of peer review services including medical record reviews nurse file reviews utilization reviews and

radiology reviews by members of our medical panel Our peer reviews which are performed by members of our medical panel

provide an informed credible and evidence-based medical opinion of claimants condition and treatment These reviews examine

and include opinions as to causal relationships ii reasonableness and appropriateness of treatment iiimitigating conditions with

relevant associated and degenerative conditions and iv the necessity of medical service and treatment all for the purpose of

facilitating the fair and proper handling of claims



Bill Reviews

We offer full range of bill review services including physician and hospital bill reviews and surgical cost estimates Bill

reviews examine the specific medical care rendered and how its relevance and cost conform to industry accepted standards of care

Physician and hospital bill reviews are used to facilitate the adjudication settlement or resolution of medical bill or claim through

line item audit for every charge on the bill based on service rates from local market data Our surgical cost estimates performed by

credentialed registered nurses on our medical panel highlight ways in which costs can be anticipated managed and reduced This

service provides insight into prospective procedures likely rehabilitation and implications for disability and costs and is particularly

helpful in addressing claims where medical severity continues to increase

Other IME related services

We also offer variety of other IlviE related services including litigation support services medical record retrieval services

and administrative support services Litigation support services involve member of our medical panel providing expert testimony on

behalf of our clients Medical record retrieval services are performed by an ExamWorks employee and involve the physical retrieval

of the claimants historical medical records typically in conjunction with an 1MB or peer review Administrative support services are

performed by an ExamWorks employee and involve the completion and submission of forms required for the request of exams on

behalf of our clients

Medical Panel

Our IME services are performed by panel of experienced and credentialed physicians and other medical providers which

include dentists chiropractors psychologists acupuncturists physical therapists nurses and social workers among others Our

medical panel consists of physicians and other medical providers who have performed services and received compensation from us

and our acquired businesses These physicians and other medical providers are engaged by us on an independent contractor basis

which is customary in the 1MB industry Because members of our medical panel are independent contractors as opposed to

employees we do not withhold income or other employment related taxes pay employment related taxes provide workers

compensation insurance or directly assume any malpractice liabilities with respect to them Utilization of members on our medical

panel is heavily dependent on geographic location and certain specialties including orthopedic chiropractic rehabilitation and

neurology specialties Importantly our medical panel costs are variable allowing us to effectively maintain and manage our operating

margins We have been able to attract and retain members of our own panel through our ability to fill schedules and offer full range

of administrative services We also employ in-house recruiters who are responsible for the identification and recruitment of members

of our medical panel and members of our panel also serve as source of referrals

Members of our medical panel must have extensive applicable experience and clinical background an active medical

practice and/or hold position in reputable medical or clinical facility To the extent applicable we require our physicians and other

medical providers to be board certified licensed or accredited practitioners of related and supporting medical specialties ii have

proof of medical malpractice insurance iiipass background checks for disciplinary action iv maintain offices that are well kept

and clean submit to regularly scheduled site inspections to ensure that the highest standards of courtesy and professionalism are

observed and vi be available to testify when needed

The credentialing of physicians and other medical providers is critical component of our ability to provide and maintain the

integrity and quality of our services and compete effectively All physicians and other medical providers in our panel must comply

with any and all requests for information and with our credentialing procedures The process starts with each physician and other

medical provider completing comprehensive questionnaire that is reviewed carefully and primary source verification methods are

used to verify his or her license status and other professional qualifications Primary source verification involves direct contact with

the sources of licenses and qualifications to confirm that information provided to us about licenses and qualifications are legitimate

and current As we acquire businesses we implement our credentialing policies and procedures to ensure that all of our acquired

businesses operate on consistent basis and in conformity with our procedures as quickly as reasonably possible after being acquired



Technology Platform

Through our acquisition of IME Software Solutions in July 2009 we acquired IMEtCentric leading platform software

solution for the 1MB industry and are in the process of deploying this technology We are now able to customize specific software

initiatives to meet our clients needs and to support our strategic objectives With IIVIECentric we provide clients with access to our

HIIPAA-compliant web portal and computing network that automates host of tasks that can otherwise consume significant amount

of time for both our staff and our clients Specific functions of our technology platform include central data collection data privacy

controls elimination of cost centers business continuity procedures and data mining capabilities We use real-time feedback from our

clients to improve flinctionality and performance of our technology and processes and incorporate these improvements into our

portfolio of services on regular basis

IMECentric links our clients with our IME platform and medical panel and allows for the following functionality

Online referrals and electronic record submission

Automated forms generation

Search and scheduling

Review and comment on documents and physician reports

Tracking and auditing

The architecture of our IME Centric technology platform is built in Private Virtual Cloud Computing Network

PVCCN
In addition through our acquisition of MES in February 2011 we acquired OMS another leading software platform for the

TIvIE industry The OMS software solution shares many of the features of IMIE Centric and is fully deployed throughout all of IVIES

service centers To date the IMECentric software solution has been deployed in the majority of our other service centers As we

continue to run IMECentric and OMS our ownership of both solutions provides us with the flexibility to build technology platform

that combines the strengths of both systems

The development and deployment of our technology platform is led by our Chief Information Officer and managed centrally

by dedicated team leaders and other members of our information technology department We plan to continue developing our

technological capabilities nationally and internationally and enhancing the competitive advantages our technology platform provides

Acquisitions

We have substantial experience in identi1ing acquiring and integrating IME services businesses Since our inception we

have acquired 30 1MB businesses and have track record of successfully integrating acquired businesses into our operations These

acquisitions have enabled us to establish presence in new markets strengthen our position in existing markets and add new or

complementary lines of business to our portfolio of services Our management team executes our growth strategy by being involved in

the process of identi1ing complementary acquisition opportunities in new and existing markets Our management team is

experienced having collectively coordinated due diligence negotiation and execution for all acquisitions to date

We anticipate that we will continue to acquire companies in geographic regions in which we currently have limited

presence or that offer complementary portfolio of services to those that we already provide and would consider suitable acquisition

candidates characterized by several if not all of the following attributes

an experienced and talented management team prepared to make commitment to executing our strategic business

plan



specialization in certain services that may be beneficial to or complement our other companies

demonstrated record of organic growth and profitability or capable of achieving our minimum financial

performance targets in the near term

Our process to source execute and integrate acquisition targets has been successifil to date as we have been able to identif

suitable targets efficiently and close the vast majority of transactions we initiated Our acquisition process includes several key steps

During sourcing we either identifS potential targets directly or receive inbound requests from smaller 1MB or IME-related businesses

interested in joining ExamWorks Our preliminary assessment consists of an evaluation of the targets financial performance and fit

with our business model and culture If proposal is considered we formulate suitable bid based on critical assessment of the

targets historical and projected performance We always aim to negotiate and complete purchase agreements as efficiently as

possible During the final stage of closing and integration we strive to introduce concrete goals and objectives and implement

professional management practices to ensure that the targets culture and processes are consistent with those of ExamWorks

Exam Works Acquisitions

From our inception through the date of this filing we have closed the following acquisitions
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Acquisition Date

February 28 2011

February 18 2011

December 20 2010

October 2010

September 2010

September 2010

August 2010

August 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

March 26 2010

March 15 2010

March 15 2010

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

August 14 2009

August 2009

July 2009

May 212009

May 21 2009

April 17 2009

July 14 2008

July 14 2008

July 14 2008

Name

MES Group Inc

National IME Centres Inc

Royal Medical Consultants Inc

BMEGateway
UK Independent Medical Services

Health Cost Management

Verity Medical

Exigere

SOMA Medical Assessments

Direct 1MB

Network Medical Review

Independent Medical Services

401 Diagnostics

Metro Medical Services

American Medical Bill Review

Medical Evaluations

Abeton

Medical Assurance Group

MedNet I.M.S

Year Founded

1978

2003

1997

1990

2003

1997

2001

1996

1999

2003

1995

1999

2002

1987

1989

1984

1984

2001

1992

1994

2007

2000

1989

2002

1989

2002

1987

1990

1992

1992

Main Office Location

Warren MI

Thomhill ON
Tampa FL

Woburn MA
Durham England

Beaverton OR

Madison WI

Bellevue WA
Toronto ON
Toronto ON
Rockford IL

St Paul MN
Sacramento CA
East Rockaway NY
Redding CA

Minneapolis MN
Portland OR

Phoenix AZ

Atlanta GA
Mount Laurel NJ

Boynton Beach FL

Southfield MT

Sacramento CA

Farmington Hills MI

Fort Lauderdale FL

Roseland NJ

Dublin OH
Roseland NJ

Syosset NY
Dallas TX

Geographic Information

For the year ended December 31 2010 $147.9 million $9.7 million and $5.9 million of our revenues were generated in the

U.S Canada and the U.K respectively With the acquisition of SOMA and Direct 1MB on June 30 2010 we entered the Canadian

market and with the acquisition of UK Independent Medical Services on September 2010 we entered the U.K market Total long-

lived assets in the U.S Canada and the U.K were $139.4 million $26.3 million and $8.8 million as of December 31 2010

respectively

Sales and Marketing

We employ direct sales force of approximately 125 representatives with in-depth knowledge of the lIME industry Given the

experience of our sales team and the constant sharing of market data and other relevant information from each of our 41 service

centers we believe our sales force provides us with competitive advantage Our sales force promotes and sells our services to

existing and new clients and seeks to expand the services we provide to our existing client base We focus on both our clients who

request IME services and the physicians and other medical providers who perform them

QualMed

1MB Operations of Physician Practice

The Evaluation Group

Benchmark Medical Consultants

lIME Software Solutions

Florida Medical Specialists

Marquis Medical Administrators

Ricwel

CFO Medical Services

Crossland Medical Review Services

Southwest Medical
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Physician and other medical providers enrollment and retention are critical aspects of our sales strategy It is important for us

to have large motivated network of physicians and other medical providers who collectively offer diverse expertise and enable

accelerated IMIE and review times We recruit physicians and other medical providers through various channels including med-legal

conferences referrals and continuing medical education seminars Our ability to recruit physicians and other medical providers has

been supported by the increasing prominence of our brand both domestically and abroad

Our marketing efforts focus on creating strong brand identity for ExamWorks through industry trade shows websites print

media and development of industry related seminars and continuing medical education opportunities Our brand awareness in the 1MB

industry has resulted in several companies proactively reaching out to us to join ExamWorks and aided in our national account

program to become preferred service provider for clients We have developed and intend to continue to develop local regional

national and international marketing programs designed to create strong brand identity for ExamWorks emphasizing our wide

geographic footprint capabilities and technology platform

Clients

Our clients include insurance companies law firms TPAs government agencies and state fhnds Our client base is

diversified with no client contributing more than 10% of total revenue in year ended December 31 2010 Pro forma for acquisitions

completed through March 2011 no client contributed more than 10% of pro forma total revenue in 2010

Competitive Landscape

Our competitors primarily consist of significantly smaller local and regional companies in fragmented landscape In the

U.S we estimate that there are approximately 500 mainly private companies and thousands of independent physicians and medical

providers that provide 1MB services Small local and regional providers often lack the scale and experience to provide multiple

products across multiple service lines Typically these companies are able to provide just one product We indirectly compete with

local providers HMOs and non-profit hospitals utilizing staff physicians insurance companies employing in-house staff and public

companies providing services as subset of core line of business In the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom lIME providers

compete on the basis of their geographic footprint the strength of their client relationships quality of reports availability of qualified

physicians and other medical providers service offering and to lesser extent price Increasingly 1MB providers in all three countries

also compete on the strength of their technology platform to streamline the 1MB business processes of their clients

The competitive landscapes in Canada and the United Kingdom have similar characteristics in that 1MB services are mainly

provided by smaller companies and independent physicians We estimate that there are in excess of 90 and 40 companies that provide

lIME services in Canada and the United Kingdom respectively We believe there is an opportunity for an 1MB services company such

as ExamWorks with broad infrastructure and extensive experience to grow and expand in Canada and the United Kingdom

Some of our competitors may have more significant historical relationship with clients in their geographic area or may be

perceived as having more experience than we do in the specific line of insurance they serve Some of our competitors may also have

greater financial resources

Government Regulation

As participant in the healthcare industry our operations and relationships with our clients physician contractors and other

medical professionals are subject to variety of government regulations These laws and regulations are broad in scope and they are

subject to evolving interpretations which could require us to incur substantial costs associated with compliance and to alter one or

more of our practices We devote significant efforts to establish and maintain compliance with all regulatory requirements that we

believe are applicable to our business and the services we offer Specifically but without limitation the following laws and

regulations may affect our operations and contractual relationships
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Government Regulation ofHealth Information

HIPAA The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 as amended including by the Health Information

Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act HITECH including the regulations issued and effective thereunder which we

collectively refer to as HIPAA contains substantial restrictions and requirements with respect to the use and disclosure of individuals

protected health information HTPAA applies to covered entities such as certain healthcare providers and health plans as well as

business associates that perform functions on behalf of or provide services to covered entities

As result of our dealings with clients suppliers and contractors in the medical industry which may be considered covered

entities under or otherwise subject to the requirements of HIPAA we are in some circumstances considered business associate

under HIPAA As business associate we are subject to the HIPAA requirements relating to the privacy and security of protected

health information Among other things HIPAA requires business associates to maintain physical technical and administrative

safeguards to prevent protected health information from misuse ii report security incidents and other inappropriate uses or

disclosures of the information including to individuals and governmental authorities and iii assist covered entities from which we

obtain health information with certain of their duties under HIPAA We have policies and safeguards in place intended to protect

health information as required by FIIPAA and have processes in place to assist us in complying with applicable laws and regulations

regarding the protection of this data and responding to any security incidents

On July 14 2010 the Department of Health and Human Services published set of proposed rules designed to modifS and

add provisions to HIPAA to reflect HTTECH If finalized these proposed HITECH regulations could expand the applicability of

HIPAA to our business For example the proposed HITECH regulations would among other things

Expand the circumstances we could be considered business associate subject to HIPAA

Require us to comply directly with many of HIPAAs privacy requirements for which currently we are only

obligated to comply contractually via our agreements with covered entities and other business associates and

Require us to implement additional provisions in our agreements with our subcontractors

We are monitoring these proposed changes to HIPAA with the goal of effecting compliance when and if
any new rules or

regulations go into effect

Other Laws In addition to HIPAA most states have enacted confidentiality laws that protect against the unauthorized

disclosure of confidential health information and many states have adopted or are considering further legislation in this area

including privacy safeguards security standards and data security breach notification requirements Such state laws if more stringent

than HIPAA requirements are not preempted by the federal requirements and we must comply with them even though they may be

subject to different interpretations by various courts and other governmental authorities In addition numerous other state and federal

laws govern the collection dissemination use accesses to confidentiality and retention of health information

False or Fraudulent Claim Laws

There are numerous federal and state laws that forbid submission of false information or the failure to disclose information in

connection with the submission and payment of physician claims for reimbursement In some cases these laws also forbid abuse of

existing systems for such submission and payment for example by systematic over treatment or duplicate billing of the same services

to collect increased or duplicate payments

In particular the federal False Claims Act or FCA prohibits person from knowingly presenting or causing to be presented

false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval by an officer employee or agent of the U.S In addition the FCA prohibits

person from knowingly making using or causing to be made or used false record or statement material to such claim The FCAs

reverse false claim provision also creates liability for persons who knowingly and improperly conceal the retention of an

overpayment of government money Violations of the FCA may result in treble damages significant monetary penalties and other

collateral consequences including potentially exclusion from participation in federally fbnded health care programs The scope and

implications of the Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act FERA amendments have yet to be filly determined or adjudicated and

as result it is difficult to predict how fhture enforcement initiatives may impact our business
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In addition under the Civil Monetary Penalty Act of 1981 the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector

General has the authority to impose administrative penalties and assessments against any person including an organization or other

entity who among other things knowingly presents or causes to be presented to state or federal government employee or agent

certain false or otherwise improper claims

State and Local Laws and Licenses

We are subject to various federal state and local laws rules and regulations relating to our industry and our specific lines of

business including without limitation workers compensation auto-injury and insurance laws These laws are wide-ranging in scope

and effect and range from requiring that we register with governmental agency to imposing specific limitations on how medical

assessments must be scheduled and conducted and how payment must be collected For example effective December 2010 the

New York State Workers Compensation Board implemented new medical treatment guidelines under the New York State Workers

Compensation Law that affects the processes by which certain workers compensation claims are reviewed which may affect our

compliance obligations as well our business with respect to lIMEs conducted in New York Our other lines of services including our

bill review and peer review services are also subject to or influenced by wide variety of state and local laws rules and regulations

In addition in some states these laws require us to obtain and maintain licenses certifications and/or accreditations in order

to conduct business as for example an independent review organization or utilization review agent We are subject to periodic

inspection by governmental and other authorities to assure continued compliance with the various standards necessary for licensing

and accreditations We are taking the steps that we believe are required to maintain or obtain all requisite licenses and certifications

and to comply with these laws

State Laws Regarding Prohibition of Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee Splitting Arrangements

The practice of most healthcare professions requires appropriate licensing under applicable state law Some states prohibit

general business entities such as we are from practicing medicine controlling physicians medical decisions and engaging in some

practices such as fee-splitting Among other things we currently contract with physicians to facilitate provision of ilvilEs in all 50 U.S

states Although we are not in the business of providing healthcare or practicing medicine and notwithstanding the way our

arrangements our structured others could potentially allege that we are in violation of some or all of these laws If state determines

that some portion of our business violates these laws it may seek to have us discontinue those portions or subject us to penalties fines

certain license requirements or other measures Any determination that we have acted improperly in this regard may result in liability

to us Even an unsuccessful challenge by regulatory authorities or others of our practices could result in adverse publicity and be

costly to respond te

Health care Reform Law

On March 23 2010 the healthcare reform bill passed into law as the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act as amended

by the Healthcare and Education Reconciliation Act This law and related measures call for increased scrutiny of and may impose

requirements on physicians and insurance companies and their third party contractors While we are not in the business of providing

healthcare to the extent we contract with these physicians and insurance companies these reforms could indirectly affect our

business however at this time we do not believe that these reforms will have significant impact on our business

Foreign Regulations

In General Our operations in Canada are subject to variety of federal and provincial regulations related to privacy security

and employment

Canada The Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act PIPEDA is federal legislation that applies to

federally regulated private sector organizations including organizations in the transportation communications broadcasting and

banking sectors and to provincially regulated private sector organizations in provinces that have not enacted substantially similar

legislation P1PEDA applies to personal information including health information which is collected used or disclosed in the course

of commercial activity that takes place across the Canadian border between provinces or within Canadian province that has not

enacted substantially similar legislation
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The province of Ontario has not enacted privacy law of general application thus PIPEDA applies to the activities of

organizations operating within the province of Ontario including SOMA Medical Assessments and Direct 1MB PIPEDA requires that

organizations obtain consent from individuals for the collection use or disclosure of their personal information subject to limited

exceptions PIPEDA also requires that organizations protect collected information with reasonable security measures ii

implement privacy policy including an information retention policy iiiappoint privacy officer responsible for representing the

organization in privacy matters and iv provide individuals with the right to access personal information held by the organization and

to challenge its accuracy Physicians and other persons providing services to us may also be subject to other provincial laws governing

health information that is transmitted to us in connection with these services

In Ontario the conduct of medical assessments and examinations as IMIEs are called in Canada and the preparation of

reports in connection with motor vehicle accident claims are governed by the Statutory Accident Benefit Schedule SABS set forth

in regulations promulgated under the Insurance Act Ontario Under SABS insurers are generally required to pay for all reasonable

expenses incurred by or on behalf of an insured person for the purpose of obtaining and attending an examination or assessment or in

obtaining certificate report or treatment plan Recent amendments to the SABS that went into effect on September 2010 no

longer require insurance companies to first obtain medical assessments before denying claims but clarify that denials must state

medical or other reason require that all fees and expenses for conducting medical assessments other than those requested by

insurance companies be paid out of claimants medical and rehabilitation benefits and
cap at C$2000 the fees that may be charged

for all medical assessments Historically fees for medical assessments for non-catastrophic automobile injuries which constitute the

substantial majority of medical assessments performed by us are well below the new C$2000 cap As result we do not currently

anticipate the cap itself to significantly impact our business The cap would impact fees charged for medical assessments related to

catastrophic injuries which are typically well in excess of the cap However those constitute only small number of the medical

assessments we provide and there is uncertainty in the industry as to the real effect this cap will have on the demand for and the

willingness of providers to perform medical assessments for catastrophic claims As result new rules and regulations are currently

being discussed presumably to mitigate the impact that the cap would have on IMEs for catastrophic claims There is also uncertainty

in the industry as to the effect that the changes related to insurers ability to deny claims without medical assessment and charging

claimants benefits for the cost of medical assessments will have on the demand for medical assessments Some observers argue that

the impact on demand will be limited if any since insurers have to state the medical or other reasons for denials which would

generally require an ilviE and claimants faced with denied claims will demand medical assessments Since the amendments have only

recently become effective we cannot at this time predict the effects and implications of the SABS amendments However we do not

currently expect such amendment to have material impact on our business

United Kingdom In the United Kingdom the collection and use of personal data is principally governed by the Data

Protection Act 1998 the Data Protection Act The Data Protection Act applies to the processing of personal data with both of

these terms being widely defined Consequently virtually every business operating in the United Kingdom holding information about

employees customers or anyone else is required to comply with the Data Protection Act which is administered and enforced by the

Information Commissioner

Subject to some limited exceptions the Data Protection Act requires those subject to it to notify the Information

Commissionerprior to commencing the processing of information Notifications need to include specific information including the

processors name ii description of the personal information being processed iii the reasons the information needs to be

processed iv security measures in place relating to the information and details about whom the information is processed by

The Data Protection Act also imposes obligations on those processing personal data including right for the individual to

inspect their personal data ii restrictions on the transfer of data outside the European Economic Area without adequate safeguards

iii need to have in place appropriate security measures to safeguard the personal data iv requirement that the data held is not

excessive in relation to the purpose for holding the information and an obligation not to retain data longer than necessary breach

of data protection legislation can result in civil and criminal sanctions as well as the risk of adverse publicity
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Intellectual Property

Our success and ability to compete depend in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights We rely on

combination of copyright trademark trade secret and other related laws and confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to

protect maintain and enforce our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights Our two main intellectual properties are the

registered trademark of ExamWorks and our ExamWorks domain name We also own the copyright to the IMECentric software as

well as the trademarks and service marks for the names of our acquired businesses and their domain names With our recent

acquisition of MES we acquired the copyright to the MIES OMS software as well as the registered trademark ofMES Solutions We
own no patents In the U.S and many foreign jurisdictions trademark protection can potentially be perpetual provided the relevant

mark is still used in commerce and all applicable fees are paid Likewise domain names typically can be renewed perpetually upon

the payment of applicable registrar and renewal fees Copyrights have limited duration but such duration in the U.S for works

made for hire is 95 years from publication or 120 years from creation whichever is earlier As such almost all copyrightable works

are protected beyond their useful life In the case of IMIECentric the copyright is protected for approximately 70 years All of our

trademarks are currently used in commerce and we have paid all applicable trademark domain name and copyright fees

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights we may fail to adequately protect

our copyright trademark or trade secret rights while trademark copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited

in some countries or may expire or provide us commercial advantage for only limited period of time Furthermore third parties may
use our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights without our consent As such it is possible we will not be able to

protect maintain or enforce our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights

Employees

As of March 2011 we had approximately 1485 employees of whom approximately 1281 are full-time employees None

of our employees are represented by union or collective bargaining agreements We believe our relationship with our employees to

be positive which is key component of our operating strategy We seek to create corporate culture in which virtually every

employee benefits from his or her and our success through participation in our employee stock option program and culture that

rewards performance and accountability

Our employees are required to participate in various training sessions each year Our ongoing training and executive learning

programs are modeled after the practices of companies that we believe have reputations for service excellence

Independent Contractors

We also have medical panel consisting of credentialed physicians and other medical providers Our memberpanel costs are

variable as members of our medical panel are independent contractors allowing us to effectively maintain and manage our operating

margins

Corporate Structnre

ExamWorks Inc which we refer to herein as EWI was incorporated in Delaware on April 27 2007 ExamWorks Group

Inc was incorporated in Delaware on June 22 2010 to enable its now wholly-owned subsidiary EWI to implement holding

company organizational structure Effective June 23 2010 EWI reorganized into holding company structure effected by merger

conducted pursuant to Section 251g of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware which we refer to herein as the

Reorganization

Immediately prior to the Reorganization ExamWorks was direct wholly-owned subsidiary of EWI and ExamWorks

Merger Sub Inc Delaware corporation which we refer to herein as the Merger Sub was direct wholly-owned subsidiary of

ExamWorks Both ExamWorks and Merger Sub were organized for the sole purpose of implementing the holding company structure

Pursuant to the Reorganization the Merger Sub merged with and into EWI with EWI continuing as the surviving corporation Each

issued and outstanding share of common stock and preferred stock of EWI was converted into one share of common stock or preferred

stock of ExamWorks as applicable The separate corporate existence of Merger Sub ceased and all of the issued and outstanding

shares of ExarnWorks owned by EWE were automatically canceled and retired As result of the Reorganization each stockholder of

EWI became holder of the common stock andlor the preferred stock of ExamWorks evidencing the same proportional interests and

EWI became direct wholly-owned subsidiary of ExamWorks
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In connection with the Reorganization ExamWorks assumed EWIs 2008 Stock Option Plan as amended In addition

ExamWorks assumed EWIs obligations under the various warrants to purchase an aggregate of 447763 shares of EWIs common

stock which were issued on May 2010 in connection with the private placement of Series Convertible Preferred Stock

Outstanding options and warrants to purchase EWIs common stock were automatically converted into options and warrants to

purchase an equal number of shares of common stock of ExamWorks

The conversion of shares of capital stock in the Reorganization occurred without an exchange of certificates The initial

certificate of incorporation and bylaws of ExamWorks were identical to those of EWI prior to the Reorganization The initial directors

and executive officers of ExamWorks were the same individuals who were directors and executive officers of EWI immediately prior

to the Reorganization The other liabilities of EWI including the existing credit facility were not assumed by ExamWorks in the

transaction and therefore continue to be obligations of EWI and the assets of EWI were not transferred to ExamWorks and continue to

be the assets of EWI

Corporate Information

Our executive offices are located at 3280 Peachtree Road N.E Suite 2625 Atlanta GA 30305 and our telephone number at

this location is 404 952-2400 Our website is www.examworks.com Information included or referred to on or otherwise accessible

through our wcbsite is not intended to form part of or be incorporated by reference into this report

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties including without limitation those

described below that could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations performance

and the trading price of our common stock You should carefully consider the following risks as well as the other information

included in this Form 10-K including Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations and our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

We have llmited history and may not be able to achieve financial or operational success

We are relatively new company with an approximate four year history Our operations are subject to all risks inherent in the

establishment of recently formed business Our success may be limited by problems fluctuations in expenses difficulties and delays

frequently encountered with new businesses as well as competition in the IME industry While we have been able to generate

revenues we may not be able to increase the amount of revenues we generate and we will likely continue to incur net losses for some

time as we continue to grow Any evaluation of our business and our prospects must be considered in light of these factors and the

risks and uncertainties often encountered by companies in our state of development Further we may not be able to successfully

implement any of our plans in timely or effective manner which would negatively impact our ability to generate or increase revenues

as well as our results of operations and financial condition

We may not be successful in implementing our growth strategy and acquiring companies that complement our business which

would adversely impact our growth and profitability

Our growth strategy is primarily dependent on acquiring and integrating the operations of companies in the lIME industry

Since our inception we have acquired 30 IlvIE businesses including provider of software solutions to the IME industry To continue

this strategic growth we will need to continue to identify appropriate businesses to acquire and successfully undertake the acquisition

of these businesses on reasonable terms Although we expect to continue to evaluate such strategic acquisitions we may not be

successful in pursuing acquisition opportunities and implementing our growth strategy if without limitation

suitable acquisition candidates are not available

acquisitions cannot be completed on reasonable terms
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we inherit or assume significant liabilities relating to acquired entities or businesses including liabilities for failure

to comply with applicable laws or

we are unable to raise the funds necessary to make acquisitions

In addition we may compete for acquisitions with other potential acquirers some of which may have greater financial or

operational resources than we do If we are not successful in finding attractive acquisition candidates that we can acquire on

satisfactory terms or if we cannot complete those acquisitions that we identi1 we will not be able to realize the benefit of this part of

our growth strategy which could harm our future profitability

If we finance acquisitions by issuing equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities our existing

stockholders will be diluted If we finance an acquisition with debt it will result in higher leverage and interest costs As result if we

fail to evaluate and execute acquisitions properly we might not achieve the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions and we may
increase our acquisition costs

The terms of certain of our acquisitions have included and may in the future include earnout provisions or the issuance of

indebtedness of the seller Such earnout provisions may require us to make additional payments in cash which would reduce the

amount of cash available to us or could cause us to incur additional indehtedness or cause us to issue additional shares resulting in an

increase in the number of our outstanding shares In addition these arrangements may make it more difficult to consummate such

acquisitions and can sometimes complicate integration efforts

We may be unable to successfully integrate completed acquisitions and such acquisitions may fail to achieve the financial results

we expected

Since July 2008 we have acquired 30 IME businesses These acquisitions have involved and could continue to involve the

integration of separate company that previously operated independently and had different systems processes and cultures into our

existing operations While we expect to continue to evaluate potential strategic acquisitions that might augment our existing services

we may be unable to successfully integrate businesses we acquire including our recently completed acquisitions and such

acquisitions may fail to achieve the financial results we expected Integrating completed acquisitions into our existing operations

particularly larger acquisitions involves numerous risks including loss of clients diversion of our managements attention failure to

retain key personnel and failure of the acquired business to be financially successful In addition we cannot be certain of the extent of

any unknown or contingent liabilities of any acquired business including liabilities for failure to comply with applicable laws We

may incur material liabilities for past activities of acquired businesses Also depending on the location of the acquired business we

may be required to comply with laws and regulations that may differ from those of the jurisdictions in which our operations are

currently conducted Our inability to successfully integrate businesses we acquire or if such businesses do not achieve the financial

results we expect may increase our costs and have material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations

Our international expansion and operations in foreign markets expose us to risks associated with international sales and

operations

On June 30 2010 we acquired substantially all of the assets of SOMA Medical Assessments Inc and Direct IME which

provide th4E and certain medical review services in Canada On September 2010 we acquired the entire issued capital of UK
Independent Medical Services Limited which provides 1MB services in the United Kingdom We intend to continue to expand

internationally and operate in select foreign markets Managing global organization is difficult time consuming and expensive Our

inexperience in operating our business globally increases the risk that any future international expansion efforts that we may undertake

will not be successful In addition conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally faced These

risks include lack of familiarity with and unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements longer accounts receivable payment

cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable difficulties in managing and staffing international operations fluctuations in

currency exchange rates potentially adverse tax consequences including foreign value added tax systems and restrictions on the

repatriation of earnings the burdens of complying with wide variety of foreign laws and legal standards increased financial

accounting and reporting burdens and complexities and political social and economic instability abroad Operating in international

markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources The investment and additional resources required to

establish operations and manage growth in other countries may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability
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We are sensitive to regional weather conditions that may adversely affect our operations

Our operations are directly affected in the short-term by the weather conditions in certain of our regions of operation

Therefore our business is sensitive to the weather conditions of these regions Unusually inclement weather including significant rain

snow sleet freezing rain or ice can temporarily affect our operations if clients are forced to close operational centers and physicians

and claimants are unable to travel to theft appointments Accordingly our operating results may vary from quarter to quarter

depending on the impact of these weather conditions

We may need additional capital to fund our operations and finance our growth and we may not be able to secure such capital on

terms acceptable to us or at all

In order for us to grow and successfully execute our business plan we may require additional financing which may not be

available or may not be available on acceptable terms If such financing is available it may dilute the existing stockholders ownership

interests in the Company Failure to obtain financing may have material adverse effect on our financial position and may cause you

to lose your entire investment in the Company In addition if we are unable to secure additional financing on acceptable terms or at

all it will impact our ability to consumate acquisitions

Our industry may be regulated at the federal state and local levels and government authorities may determine that we have failed

to comply with applicable laws and regulations

As company involved in the provision of IME peer review bill review and related services we are subject to certain

federal state and local laws and regulations There are significant costs involved in complying with these laws and regulations

Moreover if we are found to have violated any applicable laws and regulations we could be subject to civil andlor criminal damages

fines sanctions or penalties and have our licenses revoked If our arrangements or business practices become subject to government

scrutiny or are found to violate laws or regulations we could incur significant costs and may be required to modifS certain aspects of

our operations Government audits investigations and prosecutions even if we ultimately are found to be without fault can be costly

and disruptive to our business and could result in the loss of clients Any of these actions could have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition and results of operations

Unintended consequences of recently adopted health reform legislation in the U.S may adversely affect our business

The healthcare industry is undergoing fundamental changes resulting from political economic and regulatory influences In

the U.S comprehensive programs are under consideration that seek to among other things increase access to healthcare for the

uninsured and control the escalation of healthcare expenditures within the economy On March 23 2010 health reform legislation was

approved by Congress and has been signed into law While we do not believe this legislation will have direct impact on our business

the legislation has only recently been enacted and requires the adoption of implementing regulations which may have unintended

consequences or indirectly impact our business For instance the scope and implications of the recent amendments pursuant to the

Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009 FERA have yet to be fully determined or adjudicated and as result it is difficult to

predict how future enforcement initiatives may impact our business Also in some instances our clients are health insurers that will be

subject to limitations on their administrative expenses and new federal review of unreasonable rate increases which could impact the

prices they are willing to pay for our services If the legislation causes such unintended consequences or indirect impact it could have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition and resuhs of operations
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Changes in government regulations could increase our costs of operations and/or reduce the demand for our services which

would negatively impact our growth and profitability

Federal and state legislatures may review and consider legislation that may impact our business and our industry If new laws

or regulations are implemented or changes are made to existing laws or regulations impacting the 1MB industry we may be required to

incur additional costs or make changes to our services which could have material adverse impact on our financial condition and

results of operations

The Province of Ontario has recently enacted amendments to the Statutory Accident Benefits Schedule which governs motor

vehicle accident claims in Ontario Canada Recent amendments that took effect on September 2010 no longer require insurance

companies to first obtain medical assessments before denying claims but clarify that denials must state medical or other reason

require that all fees and expenses for conducting medical assessments other than those requested by insurance companies be paid out

of claimants medical and rehabilitation benefits and cap at C$2000 the fees that may be charged for all medical assessments Since

the amendments have only recently become effective we cannot at this time predict the effects and implications of these amendments

on the financial condition and results of operations of our Canadian business

In addition the confidentiality and security of patient records and the circumstances under which such infonnation may be

used or released are subject to substantial regulation by state and federal laws and regulations The administrative simplification

provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 as amended HIPAA and other regulations governing

privacy security and electronic health data transmissions including under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009

ARRA are evolving rapidly through regulation and are often unclear and difficult to apply If we violate HIPAA ARRA or other

state or federal laws or regulations we could be subject to fines and penalties Further final or new regulations may require costly

system purchases or additional modifications to our policies and procedures which could have material adverse impact on our

financial condition and results of operations

Changes in laws at either the national or state level making it more difficult to bring certain kinds of cases or that limit jury

awards commonly referred to as tort reform could decrease the demand for our services

Changes in laws at either the national or state level making it more difficult to bring certain kinds of cases or that limit jury

awards commonly referred to as tort reform could lead to smaller number of insurance or other claims which in term could result

in decrease in demand for IMEs and other services we provide Such decrease in demand for our services could have material

adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations

We may not be able to maintain or expand our accreditation which may adversely affect our ability to market our services

Certain of our subsidiaries and/or divisions are accredited by third-party accreditation bodies We intend to further expand

our accreditation in the U.S However we may not be able to maintain or expand our accreditation which may adversely impact our

ability to competitively market our services The costs of initial accreditation and maintenance of accreditation may exceed our

expectations and the benefits of accreditation may be outweighed by the related costs
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If we cannot update and maintain our information technology platform so that we can meet critical client requirements the

competitiveness of our business will suffer

Our information technology platform is critical to our competitive position and success If we are unable for technological or

other reasons to develop and introduce new software solutions or enhance our existing ones in cost-effective and timely manner and

to respond to changing market conditions or client requirements our business results of operations and financial conditions may be

adversely affected

We rely on combination of internal development and strategic relationships to develop our infrastructure platform and

software solutions Through our acquisition of lIME Software Solutions in July 2009 we acquired platform software solution for the

lIME industry and are in the process
of deploying this technology throughout our entire organization Our information technology

platform is built in Private Virtual Cloud Computing Network PVCCN Our development and implementation of new generation

software solutions and an information technology infrastructure may take longer than originally expected and require the acquisition

of additional personnel and other resources which may adversely affect our business results of operations and fmancial condition

Also any inability to deploy our technology platform through our entire organization could cause us to operate different platforms

slow integration efforts and increase costs

Failures of interruptions of or breach in security relating to our information systems could adversely affect us

Any system failure that causes an interruption in service or availability of our information technology infrastructure could

adversely affect our operations Even though we have implemented network security measures our servers may be vulnerable to

computer viruses break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering In addition certain of our services are based upon

the collection distribution and protection of sensitive private data Unauthorized users might access that data and human error or

technological failures might cause the wrongful dissemination of that data The occurrence of any of the events described above could

result in interruptions delays the loss or cormption of data cessations in the availability of systems or liability under privacy laws all

of which could have material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations

Our intellectual property rights are valuable and if we are unable to protect them or are subject to intellectual property rights

claims our business may be harmei

Our intellectual property rights include certain trademarks copyrights and trade secrets which are important assets for our

business Although we take precautions to protect our intellectual property rights these efforts may not be sufficient or effective In

addition various events outside of our control pose threat to our intellectual property rights as well as to our business For example

we may be subject to third-party intellectual property rights claims Regardless of the merits of the claims any intellectual property

claims could be time-consuming and expensive to litigate or settle In addition if any claims against us are successful we may have to

pay substantial monetary damages or discontinue any of our practices that are found to be in violation of another partys rights We

may also have to seek license to continue such practices which may significantly increase our operating expenses or may not be

available to us at all Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business or our ability to compete
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Our operations and reputation may be harmed we do not adequately secure information

Federal and state laws regulate the disclosure of certain medical test results and other nonpublic medical-related personal

information If we do not adequately safeguard such information and it were to become available to persons or entities that should not

have access to it our business could be impaired our reputation could suffer and we could be subject to fines penalties and litigation

In addition any incidents with respect to the handling of such information could involve us in litigation or indemnification claims with

members of our medical panel our clients or other parties Although we have implemented security measures to protect confidential

information our infrastructure is vulnerable to computer viruses break-ins and similar disruptive problems caused by our clients or

others which could potentially jeopardize the security of confidential information stored physically at our locations or electronically

in our computer systems Such an event could damage our reputation cause us to lose existing clients and deter potential clients as

well as expose us to liability to parties whose security or privacy has been infringed Moreover if we do not protect the confidentiality

of private information in accordance with applicable laws we could face significant civil or criminal sanctions The occurrence of any

of the foregoing events could adversely impact our business

Competition in the IME industry could result in reduction in our revenues and earnings and adversely affect our financial

condition

The ilviE industiy is highly fragmented and competitive Our primary competitors in the lIME industry include companies and

individual physicians that specialize in one or more services similar to those offered by us on local or regional basis as well as

insurance companies and other organizations which have established an in-house capability of performing such services It is also

possible that our clients may establish the in-house capability of performing certain services offered by us or decide to continue to use

any of our numerous small local or regional competitors to service their needs We also compete with national regional and local

firms specializing in case management medical records reviews and other services we provide It is possible that now or in the future

some of our competitors could have greater financial and market resources than us Increased competition or new entrants to our key

markets could prevent price increases for our services or could require price reductions for our services which could adversely affect

our results of operations

If we are unable to attract and retain qualffied physicians and other medical providers as independent contractors to perform IME
services on our behalf our financial condition may suffer

Our performance and future success depends on the talents and efforts of the physicians and other medical providers on our

medical panel who perform the IME services on our behalf on an independent contractor basis and on our ability to maintain good

relations with those physicians and other medical providers If we do not succeed in attracting qualified physicians and other medical

providers or retaining or motivating physicians or other medical providers our performance may suffer and we may be unable to

grow our business effectively Further we may be required to enhance compensation in order to recruit and retain physicians and other

medical providers on an independent contractor basis As result our medical panel costs could increase and we may not be able to

raise rates to offset these increased costs which could have material adverse effect on our results of operations

Our clients may terminate their relationships with us or reduce the fees they pay us which may have negative impact on our

business

Our operations depend upon our relationships with our clients Our clients are primarily insurance companies law firms

TPAs government agencies and state funds We do not have formal written agreements with most of our clients and to the extent we

do such agreements do not generally restrict our clients from terminating or deciding not to renew our contracts If clients attempt to

introduce unfavorable terms or limit the services and products we provide them our revenues could be negatively impacted In

addition the termination of business by any of our clients could have material adverse effect on our operations There is no

guarantee that we will be able to grow or retain our existing clients particularly after acquisitions or develop relationships with new

clients
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We may be subject to possible litigation and legal liability which could adversely affect our business or results of operations

Through the medical certifications of our independent contractor medical panel we make recommendations concerning the

appropriateness of providers medical treatment plans of patients throughout the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom and could

share in potential liabilities for adverse medical consequences if the independent contractor negligently provides its services or we

and/or the independent contractor are alleged to have inappropriately failed to certi condition requiring care or treatment plans We
do not grant or deny claims for payment of benefits and we do not believe that we engage in the practice of medicine or the delivery of

medical services However we may become subject to claims or litigation related to the grant or denial of claims for payment of

benefits or allegations that we engage in the practice of medicine or the delivery of medical services We credential our medical panel

in variety of ways including utilizing reputable contractor in many cases If such credentialing is not carried out appropriately or if

we do not re-credential at appropriate intervals to identify changes in licensure or other status we may become subject to claims or

litigation Our clients might also allege that we negligently failed to detect provider fraud Further in performing our services we or

our independent contractors may provide services that rely on the interpretation of reports or data prepared or gathered by third

parties If such information is not properly prepared or gathered or is not accurate or complete we may become subject to claims or

litigation In addition we may become subject to other litigation that may adversely affect our business or results of operations We
maintain professional liability and other insurance as we believe are reasonable in light of our experience to date However such

insurance may not be sufficient or available in the fixture at reasonable cost to protect us from liability which might adversely affect

our business or results of operations

If we lose our key management personnel or if we are unable to attract hire integrate and retain key personnel and other

necessary employees our business would be harmed

We are dependent on our executive officers and other key personnel and those of the acquired companies the loss of one or

more of whom could materially and adversely affect us Some of these personnel are new to the industry and some have been part of

target companies for many years
but may not have experience managing larger company and integrating the separate operations of

newly acquired entities Currently we do not have employment agreements with any of our executive officers Our success will

depend in large part on our ability to attract and retain talented and qualified employees as well as our executive officers We may not

be able to retain our executive officers and key employees or attract assimilate and retain other qualified personnel in the fixture

The terms of our existing credit facility and future indebtedness could restrict our operations particularly our ability to respond to

changes in our business or to take specified actions

Our existing credit facility contains and any fixture indebtedness would likely contain number of restrictive covenants that

impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us including restrictions on our ability to take actions that may be in our best

interests The credit facility includes covenants including requirements that

restrict our ability to pay dividends on repurchase or make distributions in respect of our capital stock or make other

restricted payments

limit our ability to make certain investments or sell or transfer assets

require us to obtain consent from our lenders with respect to acquisitions

we grant security interests in newly-acquired companies

restrict our ability to consolidate merge sell or otherwise dispose of our properties or assets and

we do not impair our lenders security interests in our assets

As discussed above our credit facility requires us to satisfy and maintain specified financial ratios Our ability to meet those

financial ratios can be affected by events beyond our control and we may not be able to continue to meet those ratios breach of any

of these covenants could result in default under the credit facility Upon the occurrence of an event of default our lenders could elect

to declare all amounts outstanding under the credit facility to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to

extend further credit If we were unable to repay those amounts the lenders under the credit facility could proceed against the

collateral granted to them to secure such indebtedness We have pledged all of our assets and personal property as collateral under the

credit facility If any of the lenders accelerate the repayment of borrowings we may not have sufficient funds to repay our existing

debt
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We may be able to incur substantially more debt which could further exacerbate the risks we face

We and our subsidiaries have the ability to incur additional indebtedness in the fhture subject to the restrictions contained in

our credit facility If we amend the credit facility to increase the level of our indebtedness or if we enter into new facilities to incur

more debt we may be faced with additional risks and restrictions on our operations including the following

an increase in our vulnerability to downturns or adverse changes in general economic industry or competitive

conditions and adverse changes in government regulations

requirement to dedicate substantial portion of cash flow from operations to the payment of principal and interest

on our indebtedness therefore reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations capital expenditures

and future business opportunities

limit on our ability to make strategic acquisitions

limit on our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital capital expenditures debt service

requirements and general corporate or other purposes and

limit on our ability to adjust to changing market conditions and placing us at competitive disadvantage compared

to our competitors who are less highly leveraged

The market price of our common stock may be volatile which could cause the value of our common stock to decline

The market price of our common stock may be volatile due to number of factors including without limitation those listed

in Risk Factors and the following some of which are beyond our control

quarterly variations in our results of operations

results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors

the failure of securities analysts to publish research about us or to make changes in their financial estimates

results of operations that vary from those of our competitors

changes in expectations as to our future fmancial performance including financial estimates by securities analysts

and investors

announcements by us our competitors or our vendors of significant contracts acquisitions joint marketing

relationships joint ventures or capital commitments

announcements by third parties or govermnental entities of significant claims or proceedings against us

new laws and governmental regulations applicable to the IME industry

default under agreements covering our existing or future indebtedness

future sales of our common stock by us directors executives and significant stockholders and

changes in economic and political conditions

Furthermore the stock market has recently experienced extreme volatility that has particularly affected the market price of

the stock of many early-stage companies and that in some cases has been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance

of these companies These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock

regardless of our actual operating performance Further securities class action suits have been filed against companies following

periods of market volatility in the price of their securities If such an action is instituted against us we may incur substantial costs and

diversion of management attention and resources which would seriously harm our business financial condition and results of

operations regardless of the outcome of such litigation
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The requirements of being public reporting company including compliance with the reporting requirements of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and adoption of corporate governance

practices that are customary forpublic companies may strain our resources increase our costs and distract management and we

may be unable to comply with these requirements in timely or cost-effective manner

We have recently become public company As public company we are subject to the reporting requirements of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act and requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act These requirements may place strain on our systems and resources The Exchange Act requires that we file

annual quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition The Sarbanes-Oxley Act as well as rules

subsequently implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange have

imposed various requirements on public companies including corporate governance requirements The cost of preparing and filing

annual and quarterly reports proxy statements and other information with the SEC and furnishing audited reports to stockholders

cause our expenses to be higher than they would be if we had remained privately-held company Our management and other

personnel need to devote substantial amount of time to comply with these rules and regulations

In addition the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal

control over financial reporting To maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures significant

resources and management oversight are required We are implementing additional procedures and processes for the purpose of

addressing the standards and requirements applicable to public companies We have and continue to incur significant additional annual

expenses related to these activities and among other things additional directors and officers liability insurance director fees

reporting requirements transfer agent fees hiring additional accounting legal and administrative personnel increased auditing and

legal fees and similar expenses

Evolving regulation of corporate go vernance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses and continuing uncertainty

Changing laws regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure including the Sarbanes

Oxley Act new SEC regulations the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and New York Stock Exchange

rules are creating uncertainty for public companies We continually evaluate and monitor developments with respect to new and

proposed rules and cannot predict or estimate the amount of the additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs These new

or changed laws regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations in many cases due to their lack of specificity and as

result their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies This

could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure

and governance practices

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
and public disclosure If our efforts to comply with

new or changed laws regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to

ambiguities related to practice regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and we may be harmed
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Failure to design implement and maintain effective internal controls could have material adverse effect on our business and

stock price

As public company we have significant requirements for financial reporting and internal controls The process of designing

and implementing effective internal controls is continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business

and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources to maintain system of internal controls that is

adequate to satisf our reporting obligations as public company If we are unable to establish appropriate internal financial reporting

controls and procedures it could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations on timely basis result in material misstatements in

our financial statements and harm our operating results In addition we will be required pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act to furnish report by management on among other things the effectiveness of our internal control over fmancial reporting

for each fiscal year beginning with 2011 Each assessment will need to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our

management in our internal control over financial reporting as well as statement that our auditors have issued an attestation report

on effectiveness of our internal controls Testing and maintaining internal controls may divert our managements attention from other

matters that are important to our business We may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control

over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 or our independent registered public accounting firm may not issue an

unqualified report If either we are unable to conclude that we have effective internal control over fmancial reporting or our

independent registered public accounting firm is unable to provide us with an unqualified report investors could lose confidence in

our reported financial information which could have negative effect on the trading price of our stock

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders or the possibility or perception of such future sales could cause our stock price to

decline

Sales of substantial number of shares of common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales could occur

could substantially decrease the market price of our common stock If our existing stockholders sell or indicate an intention to sell

substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market after the contractual lock-up agreements described below expire and

other restrictions on resale lapse the trading price of our common stock could decline Substantially all of the shares of our common

stock are eligible for sale in the public market except that approximately 21.6 million shares are subject to 180-day contractual lock

up following October 27 2010 the date of our initial public offering Goldman Sachs Co and Credit Suisse Securities USA LLC
acting as representatives of the underwriters to our initial public offering may permit our executive officers directors employees and

current stockholders who are subject to the contractual lock-up to sell shares prior to the expiration of the lock-up agreements

The exercise of options or other equity awards or the issuance and/or payout of additional equity will result in dilution to our

stockholders

Under the Companys Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan the Company granted and in the future intends to

grant awards of stock options to purchase common stock and other awards to our officers directors employees and consultants As of

December 31 2010 5058525 shares of our common stock were subject to issuance upon exercise of outstanding stock options and

24934 shares were subject to vesting and payout under outstanding restricted stock units Also as of December 31 2010 443375

shares of our common stock were subject to issuance upon exercise of outstanding warrants

Our stockholders ownership interest will be diluted by the exercise of any of these outstanding stock options or warrants

We will in the future grant stock options and other awards to certain current or future officers directors employees and

consultants of the Company under additional plans or individual agreements The grant and exercise of these awards as applicable

will have the effect of diluting our stockholders ownership interests in the Company
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Further we may need to raise additional funds in the future to finance our operations and/or acquire complementary

businesses If we obtain capital in future offerings the value of the price per
share of our stockholders common could be reduced In

addition if we issue additional equity securities in future offering and certain stockholders do uot participate in such offering there

will effectively be dilution in their percentage ownership interest in the Company

We may also issue additional equity securities iu connection with other types of transactions including shares issued as part

of the purchase price for acquisitions of assets or other companies from time to time in connection with strategic partnerships or joint

ventures or as incentives to management or other providers of resources to the Company Such additional issuances are likely to have

the same dilutive effect

We do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for theforeseeablefuture and our credit facility prohibits

us from paying such cash dividends

To date the Company has not paid any dividends on its capital stock The Company does not anticipate making any cash

dividends or other distributions to the stockholders in the immediate or foreseeable future and any future decision to make such

distributions will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company referred to herein as the Board of Directors or the

Board and in any event will be dependent upon the Companys financial condition results of operations capital requirements

contractual restrictions and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant Further our existing credit facility prohibits

us from paying cash dividends and any future financing agreements may prohibit us from paying any type of dividends As result

you may not receive any return on an investment in your shares of common stock unless you sell such shares for price greater than

that which you paid In addition to the extent we do not pay dividends our common stock may be less valuable because return on

investment will only occur if and to the extent our stock price appreciates

Your ability to influence corporate matters may be limited because small number of stockholders beneficially own substantial

amount of our common stock and have substantial control over us

As of March 2011 our officers directors and principal stockholders greater than 5% stockholders collectively

beneficially own approximately 33.6% of our issued and outstanding common stock As result these stockholders may be able to

exert significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval including the election of directors and approval of

significant corporate transactions such as merger or other sale of our Company or its assets and may have interests that are different

from yours and may vote in way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests In addition this concentration

of ownership may have the effect of preventing discouraging or deferring change of control which could depress the market price

of our common stock

Transactions engaged in by our principal stockholders our officers or directors involving our common stock may have an adverse

effect on the price of our stock

As described above as of March 2011 our officers directors and principal stockholders greater than 5% stockholders

collectively control approximately 33.6% of our issued and outstanding common stock Subsequent sales of our shares by these

stockholders could have the effect of lowering our stock price The perceived risk associated with the possible sale of large number

of shares by these stockholders or the adoption of significant short positions by hedge funds or other significant investors could cause

some of our stockholders to sell their stock thus causing the price of our stock to decline In addition actual or anticipated downward

pressure on our stock price due to actual or anticipated sales of stock by our directors or officers could cause other institutions or

individuals to engage in short sales of our common stock which may further cause the price of our stock to decline

From time to time our directors and executive officers may sell shares of our common stock on the open market These sales

will be publicly disclosed in filings made with the SEC In the future our directors and executive officers may sell significant

number of shares for variety of reasons unrelated to the performance of our business Our stockholders may perceive these sales as

reflection on managements view of the business and result in some stockholders selling their shares of our common stock These

sales could cause the price of our stock to drop
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Certain provisions of our corporate governing documents and Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more

difficult

Provisions contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and Delaware law impose various procedural

and other requirements which could make it more difficult for third party to acquire us or for stockholders to effect certain corporate

actions For example our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board of Directors to determine the rights

preferences privileges and restrictions of unissued series of preferred stock without any vote or action by our stockholders Therefore

the Board of Directors can authorize and issue shares of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect

the voting or other rights of holders of our common stock In addition our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and

amended and restated bylaws provide for staggered or classified board of directors consisting of three classes of directors each

serving staggered three-year terms These rights may have the effect of delaying or deterring change of control of our Company
These provisions could limit the price that certain investors may be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We lease our corporate headquarters at 3280 Peachtree Road N.E Suite 2625 Atlanta GA 30305 approximately 6900

square feet We also lease office space for our corporate office in New York New York approximately 4200 square feet as well as

our 40 service centers in the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom under lease agreements The lease for our corporate headquarters

in Atlanta Georgia expires on May 31 2014 The lease for our corporate office in New York expires on June 30 2014 We expect to

be able to renew each of our leases or to lease comparable facilities on terms commercially acceptable to us at each of our leased

locations throughout the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom In addition we own an office facility located in Warren Michigan

which houses certain of the operations of our subsidiary MES

We believe that our current facilities are sufficient for our current needs We intend to add new facilities or expand existing

facilities as we add employees or expand our geographic markets and we believe that suitable additional or substitute space will be

available as needed to accommodate any sueh expansion of our operations

Item Legal Proceedings

We are currently party to various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities While we do not

presently believe that the ultimate outcome of such proceedings will have material adverse effect on our business operating results

or financial condition litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties If an unfavorable ruling were to occur it is possible that such

ruling could have material adverse impact on our business operating results or financial condition in the period in which the ruling

occurs Our current estimates of the potential impact from such legal proceedings could change in the future

Item Removed and Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On October 28 2010 our common stock commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol EXAM
The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock for the period indicated

2010

Quarter High Low

Fourth 19.79 15.10

The number of record holders of our common stock as of March 2011 was 240 excluding individual participants in

nominee security position listings

Dividend Policy

Since our incorporation in 2007 we have not declared or paid any dividends on our common stock We currently intend to

retain all of our future earnings if any to finance the growth and development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash

dividends for the foreseeable future Our existing credit facility prohibits us from paying cash dividends and any future financing

agreements may prohibit us from paying any type of dividends

Use of Proceeds

On November 2010 we completed an initial public offering of common stock The total offering size was 11845000

shares the IPO Shares after exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option consisting of 9290114 shares issued by

us and 2554886 shares sold by existing stockholders of the Company The IPO Shares were registered under the Securities Act of

1933 as amended on registration statement on Form 5-1 Registration No 333-168831 The registration statement was declared

effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 27 2010 Goldman Sachs Co Credit Suisse and Barclays

Capital acted as joint book runners for the offering William Blair Company and Needham Company LLC acted as co-managers

of the offering

Net proceeds from the sale of shares of our common from the offering stock were approximately $133.7 million after

deducting $14.9 million of expenses including underwriting discounts commissions and other offering expenses We did not receive

any proceeds from the sale of the shares sold by existing stockholders of the Company We sed approximately $102.4 million of the

net proceeds to repay in full all outstanding amounts under our outstanding credit facility at the time of the offering We will use the

remaining $33.8 million to expand our business through acquisitions and for working capital and other general corporate purposes

Unregistered sales of equity securities sold during 2010

Stock Options

During fiscal year 2010 we granted options under our stock incentive plan to purchase an aggregate of 3930054 shares of

common stock net of expirations and cancellations to employees officers and directors having exercise prices ranging from $4.86 to

$11.67 per share Of these options to purchase 31484 shares of common stock have been exercised for aggregate consideration of

approximately $153000 at an exercise price of $4.86 per share None of the foregoing transactions involved any underwriters

underwriting discounts or commission or any public offering and the company believes the transactions were exempt from the

registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on Section 42 thereof and the rules and regulations promulgated

thereunder or Rule 701 thereunder as transactions by an issuer not involving public offering or transactions pursuant to

compensatory benefit plans The recipients of such securities were our employees officers or directors who received the securities

under our stock incentive plan Appropriate legends were affixed to the securities issued in these transactions Each of the recipients of

securities in these transactions had adequate access through employment business or other relationships to information about us
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Acquisitions

During fiscal year 2010 pursuant to the exemption from registration provided in Section 42 of the Securities Act common
stock was issued as portion of the purchase price in connection with the acquisitions set forth below The per share price set forth

below represents the estimated fair market value of the shares at the time of issuance No underwriters were involved in these sales of

securities nor were any commissions paid as part of these sales

Number of

Name Acquisition Date Shares Price Per Share

American Medical Bill Review March 15 2010 299818 4.86

Metro Medical Services March 26 2010 589930 3.89

Direct IIMIE June 30 2010 507606 C$ 8.22

SOMA Medical Assessments June 30 2010 530921 CS 8.22

Network Medical Review June 30 2010 565474 7.79

Independent Medical Services June 30 2010 31005 7.79

Exigere August 2010 167317 11.67

Health Cost Management September 12010 52881 11.67

UK Independent Medical Services September 2010 253003 7.57

Royal Medical Consultants Inc December 20 2010 37896 18.51

Common Stock Issuauce to Investors

On August 23 2010 pursuant to the exemption provided in Section 42 of the Securities Act we issued 8585 shares of

common stock to each of Michael Foley and Anthony Prater at purchase price of $11.67 per share No underwriters were

involved in the foregoing sales of securities nor were any commissions paid as part of these sales

Private Placement of Common Stock

On January 2010 pursuant to the exemption from registration provided in Section 42 of the Securities Act we completed

the private placement of an aggregate of 1989855 shares of our common stock 1250349 shares were issued to existing stockholders

and certain employees of the company at purchase price of $2.76 per share We issued 739506 shares to two of our directors

Richard Perlman and James Price in connection with an amendment to the Monitoring Fee Agreement between the Company

and Compass Partners L.L.C Compass Partners whereby our ongoing obligation to pay Compass Partners cash monitoring fee

for certain services provided by Compass Partners was terminated See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions No
underwriters were involved in the foregoing sales of securities nor were any commissions paid as part of these sales

Private Placement of Series Convertible Preferred Stock

On March 12 2010 we received gross proceeds of approximately $12.3 million in the first closing of private placement of

our Series Convertible Preferred Stock to accredited investors Pursuant to subscription agreements entered into with these

investors we sold 1857246 shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock at $6.63 per share On March 26 2010 we completed

second closing of the private placement for an additional 1057269 shares The additional gross proceeds to us amounted to

approximately $7.0 million On May 2010 we completed the third and final closing of the private placement of 2060666 shares of

the Series Convertible Preferred Stock and an additional of approximately $13.7 million in gross proceeds After payment of

commissions and expenses associated with the private placement as described below we received approximately $32.4 million of

net proceeds in the private placement

30



Broadband Capital Management LLC Broadband acted as the exclusive placement agent in connection with the private

placement For their services as placement agent pursuant to the terms of an engagement agreement between the Company and

Broadband Broadband received cash fee equal to $270000 of the gross proceeds In addition certain officers and employees of

Broadband received 407062 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 447763 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $6.63 per share The warrants are filly vested and have term of years The Company believes the

issuances of the common stock and warrants to certain officers and employees of Broadband were exempt from the registration

requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on Section 42 thereof and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder or Rule

701 thereunder as transactions by an issuer pursuant to contracts relating to compensation as provided under such Rule 701

In issuing the shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock to investors without registration under the Securities Act we

relied upon one or more of the exemptions from registration contained in Section 42 of the Securities Act and in Regulation

promulgated thereunder as the shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock were issued to accredited investors without view to

distribution and were not issued through any general solicitation or advertisement We made this determination based on the

representations of each investor which included in pertinent part that such investor is an accredited investor within the meaning of

Rule 501 of Regulation promulgated under the Securities Act that such investor was acquiring the shares of Series Convertible

Preferred Stock and the common stock issuable upon conversion thereof for investment purposes for its own account and not with

view to or for resale in connection with any distribution or public offering thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act and that

such investor understood that the shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock and the common stock issuable upon conversion

thereof may not be sold or otherwise disposed of without registration under the Securities Act or an applicable exemption therefrom

The investors did not enter into the transaction with us as result of or subsequent to any advertisement article notice or other

communication published in any newspaper magazine or similar media or broadcast on television or radio or presented at any

seminar or meeting Each investor represented they were afforded the opportunity to ask questions of our management and to receive

answers concerning the terms and conditions of the private placement

Restricted Stock Awards to Directors

On July 16 2010 pursuant to the exemption from registration provided in Section 42 of the Securities Act each of the non-

employee directors with the exception of Mr Graham whose grant took place on October 11 2010 was granted the number of

shares of restricted common stock pursuant to our Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan set forth below Such restricted

stock awards shall vest on the one year anniversary of the grant date or upon change of control

Number of

Restricted

Name Shares

Peter Bach M.D MAPP 10266

Peter Graham 6853

Thomas Presby 11546

William Shutzer 10904

David Zenoff 10904

Repurchases of Securities

None

31



Equity Compensation

The following table provides information as of December 31 2010 with respect to the shares of our common stock that may
be issued under our existing equity compensation plan

Number of securities

to be issued upon

exercise of

outstanding

options warrants

and rights

Weighted average

exercise price of

outstanding options

warrants and rights

7.25

Number of

securities

remaining

available for

future issuance2

5003430

Includes our Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan

Number of securities available for future issuance represents securities available under the Amended and Restated 2008 Stock

Incentive Plan

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on an investment of $100 in our common
stock from the time of our initial public offering until December 31 .2010 with the total return of the Russell 3000 Index on which we
are listed and the SP 600 Health Care Index

0EXAM Russell 3000 Index 4-SP 600 ilcalthesre Index

$100 invested on October 28 2010 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends

Plan Cateaorv

Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders1

Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders

Total

5083459

5083459 7.25 5003430

$13000

Comparison of Cumulative Total Retum

5110.00

58000

S1OOO
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10/28/2010 11/15/2010 11/30/2010 12/15/2010 12/31/2010

Exam Works Group Inc 100.00 96.25 107.81 119.75 115.50

Russell 3000 Index 100.00 101.45 100.41 105.05 107.06

SP600Healthcareludex 100.00 101.50 101.40 108.58 110.55

The stock performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock perfonnance

Item Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth for the periods and as of the dates indicated our predecessor and successor summary

consolidated financial data For financial statement presentation purposes CFO Medical Services P.A CFO has been identified as

the predecessor The summary predecessor statement of operations data for the year ended December 31 2006 is derived from

unaudited financial statements not included in this report The summary predecessor statement of operations data for the year ended

December 31 2007 is derived from previously audited financial statements not included in this report The summary predecessor

statement of operations data for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 are derived from audited financial statements

included in this report ExamWorks is the successor company having been founded on April 27 2007 for the purpose of acquiring

companies in the IME industry The successor summary consolidated statement of operations data for the period from April 27 2007

inception to December 31 2007 and the successor summary consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31 2007 is derived

from previously audited financial statements not included in this report The successor summary consolidated statement of operations

data for the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 and the successor summary consolidated balance sheet data as of

2009 and 2010 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements The successor summary consolidated balance sheet

data as of December 31 2008 are derived from previously audited financial statements not included in this report The summary

predecessor balance sheet data as of December 31 2007 are derived from previously audited financial statements not included in this

report The predecessor summary balance sheet data as of December 31 2006 are derived from CFOs unaudited financial statements

not included in this report Historical results are not indicative of the results to be expected in the future

You should read the following selected consolidated financial data below in conjunction with Management Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements related notes and other

financial information included in this Form 10-K The significant changes in balances impacting comparability are the result of

business combinations See further discussion in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of

Operations Data3

For the

years ended

Decemher 31

2006 2007

For the

years ended

December 31

2009 2010

Revenues 9145 9783 6072 14694 49634 163511

Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues

Selling general and administrative

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income loss

11

56 64

1434
36 226 2172

2613 2484
4404 6038

Net income loss per share

attributable to common stockholders

basic and diluted 56.00 54.01 30.38 0.73 0.44 0.42 0.33

Weighted average shares

outstanding common stock 1000 1185 1185 308466 4895962 10479155 18500859

Other Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDA34 42 138 11 36 1076 6496 30321

Predecessor

For the

period

ended

July 13

20081

Successor

20072 2008

6466 5873 3757

expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses

Income loss from operations

Interest and other expenses net

Income loss before income taxes

2637 3772

80 57

9.183 9.702

38 81

13

45 68

2304

33

6094

22
11

33

9828

226 4610

2392

226 16830

226 2136
1470

226 3606

32026 103606

15811 37689

6889 19505

54726 160.800

5092 2711

1925 11233

7017 8522
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____________________
Successor

__________________
As of December 31

_______ _______
2007 2008 2009 2010

In thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets

Total assets

Current portion of long-term debt

Current portion of subordinated unsecured notes

payable

Current liabilities

Revolving line of credit and discount facility

Long-term debt less current portion

Long-term subordinated unsecured notes payable

less current portion

total liabilities

Convertible preferred stock

Total stockholders equity

Includes the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 for the predecessor company

Includes the period from April 27 2007 inception to December 31 2007 for the successor company

The significant changes in balances impacting comparability are the result of business combinations See further discussion

in Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net loss below and is not substitute for the

GAAP equivalent We define Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest taxes depreciation amortization acquisition related

transaction costs stock based compensation expenses and other non-recurring costs We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an

important measure of our operating performance because it allows management lenders investors and analysts to evaluate and assess

our core operating results from period to period after removing the impact of changes to our capitalization structure acquisition

related costs income tax status and other items of non-operational nature that affect comparability The following table presents

reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss the most comparable GAAP measure for each of the periods indicated See also

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsResults of Operations Adjusted

EBITDA

Predecessor

As of December 31
2006 2007

180

1605

1755

191

1625

1883

416

416

689

1203

4735

38898

1534

921 648

500

49

251

1172 1197

583 686

1499

11497

76547

3263

1565

20871

600

29371

33624

74580

249062

2312

37580

4998

434 5700

1500

10205

3552 2546

434 18375 56147 48822

255 20523 20400 200240
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Predecessor Successor

For the For the For the For the

years ended years ended period ended years ended

Decemher 31 December 31 July 13 December 31
2006 2007 2008i 2007u 2008 2009 2010

In thousands

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA

Netincomeloss 56 64 36 226 2172 4404 6038
Share-based compensation expense 101 218 1816

Depreciation asd amortization expense 80 57 33 2392 6889 19505

Acquisitson-related
transaction costs 719 2109 6101

Monitoring feeOii 1738
Other non-recurring costsiv 190 634 188

Interest and other expenses net 13 11 1470 1925 11233

Provision benefit for income taxes 11 1434 2613 2484
AdjustedEBITDA 42 138 11 36 1076 6496 30321

Tncludes the period from
Januasy

200R to July 13 2008 for the predecessor company

ii Includes the period from April 27 2007 inception to December 31 2007 for the successor company

iii See Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsMonitoring Fee Agreement for description of the monitoring fee

iv Other non-recurring costs consist of start-up costs incurred in 2007 severance and facility termination costs in 2009 and

severance and relocation costs in 2010

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with

Selected Consolidated Financial Data and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and the other financial

information appearing elsewhere in this report This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and

uncertainties such as statements of our plans objectives expectations and intentions Our actual results could differ materially from

those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as result of various factors including those discussed beluw and elsewhere in

this report particularly under Risk Factors and Forward-Looking Statements 11 forward-looking statements in this document

are based on information available to us as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking

statements

Our Business

We are leading provider of independent medical examinations or lIMEs peer and bill reviews and related services

which include litigation support services administrative support services and medical record retrieval services We were incorporated

as Delaware corporation on April 27 2007 From July 14 2008 through the date of this filing we have acquired 30 IME businesses

including leading provider of software solutions to the IME industry We currently operate out of 41 service centers servicing all 50

U.S states Canada and the United Kingdom In June 2010 we effected corporate reorganization creating holding company

ExamWorks Group Inc with ExamWorks Inc becoming wholly-owned subsidiary of ExamWorks Group Inc In the fourth

quarter of 2010 we issued 9.3 million shares of our common stock in an initial public offering IPO
We provide our services to property and casualty insurance carriers law firms third-party claim administrators government

agencies and state funds that use independent services to confirm the veracity of claims by sick or injured individuals for workers

compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability insurance coverage We help our clients manage costs and enhance

their risk management processes by verifying the validity nature cause and extent of claims identifying fraud and providing fast

efficient and quality IME services
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We provide our clients with the local presence expertise and broad geographic coverage they increasingly require Our size

and geographic reach give our clients access to our medical panel of credentialed physicians and other medical providers and our

proprietary information technology infrastructure that has been specifically designed to streamline the complex process of

coordinating referrals scheduling appointments complying with regulations and client reporting Our primary service is to provide

IlviEs that give our clients authoritative and accurate answers to questions regarding the nature and permanency of medical conditions

or personal injury their cause and appropriate treatment Additionally we provide peer and bill reviews which consist of medical

opinions by members of our medical panel without conducting physical exams and the review of physician and hospital bills to

examine medical care rendered and its conformity to accepted standards of care

Acquisitions

We operate in highly fragmented industry and have completed numerous acquisitions key component of our business

strategy is growth through acquisitions that expand our geographic coverage provide new or complementary lines of business expand

our portfolio of services and increase our market share Another central feature of our business strategy is to grow our business

organically by selling additional services to existing clients cross-selling into additional insurance lines of business and expanding our

geographic footprint with existing clients To date we have completed the following 30 acquisitions

Acquisition Date

February 28 2011

February 18 2011

December 20 2010

October 2010

September 2010

September 2010

August 2010

June 30 2010

March 26 2010

March 15 2010

December 31 2009

August 14 2009

August 2009

July 2009

May 21 2009

April 17 2009

July 14 2008

Sources of Revenues and Expenses

Revenues

Name

MES Group Inc

National 1MB Centres Inc

Royal Medical Consultants

BMEGateway
UK Independent Medical Services

Health Cost Management

Verity Medical

Exigere

SOIvIA Medical Assessments

Direct IME

Network Medical Review

Independent Medical Services

401 Diagnostics

Metro Medical Services

American Medical Bill Review

Medical Evaluations

Abeton

Medical Assurance Group

MedNet I.M.S

QualMed

IME Operations of Physicians Practice

The Evaluation Group

Benchmark Medical Consultants

IME Software Solutions

Florida Medical Specialists

Marquis Medical Administrators

Ricwel

CFO Medical Services

Crossland Medical Review Services

Southwest Medical

We derive revenue primarily from fees charged for independent medical examinations peer and bill reviews and other related

services which include litigation support services administrative support services and medical record retrieval services Revenues are

recognized at the time services have been performed and if applicable at the time the report is shipped to the end user We expect

revenue to continue to increase principally through organic and acquisition growth Our revenue is derived from services performed in

different geographic areas Pro forma for acquisitions completed through December 31 2010 no client contributed more than 10% of

pro forma total revenue in the years ended December31 2009 or 2010
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Costs of revenues

Costs of revenues are comprised of fees paid to members of our medical panel other direct costs including transcription film

and medical record obtainment and transportation and other indirect costs including labor and overhead related to the generation of

revenue We expect these operationally driven costs to increase to support future revenue growth and as we continue to grow through

acquisitions

Selling general and administrative expenses

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses
consist primarily of expenses for administrative human resource

related corporate information technology support legal primarily from transaction costs related to acquisitions fmance and

accounting personnel professional fees primarily from transaction costs related to acquisitions insurance and other corporate

expenses We expect that SGA expenses will increase as we continue to add personnel to support the growth of our business and

pursue acquisition growth In addition we anticipate that we will incur additional personnel expenses professional service fees

including audit and legal investor relations costs of compliance with securities laws and regulations and higher director and officer

insurance costs related to operating as public company As result we expect that our SGA expenses will continue to increase in the

future but decrease as percentage of revenue over time as our revenue increases

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization DA expense consists primarily of amortization of our fmite lived intangible assets

obtained through acquisitions completed to date and to lesser extent depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements We

expect that depreciation and amortization expense will increase as we continue our acquisition strategy

Results of Operations

ExamWorks was formed on April 27 2007 for the purpose of acquiring companies in the IIVIE industry and is the successor

company For financial statement purposes CFO Medical Services P.A CFO has been identified as the predecessor The

following table sets forth the predecessor successor and pro forma combined consolidated statement of operations data for the periods

indicated The
pro forma comhined consolidated statement of operations data combine our results of operations for the year ended

December 31 2008 and the predecessors results of operations for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 as if the

predecessor acquisition had occurred on January 2008 See below for description of the assumptions used in preparing the pro

forma combined consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended 2008 The pro forma combined consolidated financial

statement information is presented for informational purposes only does not purport to represent what our results of operations

actually would have been had the predecessor relevant transactions been consummated on the dates indicated and is not necessarily

indicative of our results of operations for any future period or our financial condition as of any future date
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Predecessor Successor Pro Forma

For the For the For the

period ended years ended year ended

July 13 December 31 December 31

20081 2008 2009 2010 2008

In thousands except share and per share data

Revenues 6072 14694 49634 163511 20766

Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 3757 9828 32026 103606 13585

Selling general and administrative expenses3 2304 4610 15811 37689 5090

Depreciation and amortization4 33 2392 6889 19505 3149

Total costs and expenses 6094 16830 54726 160800 21824

Income loss from operations 22 2136 5092 2711 1058
Interest and other expenses netS 11 1470 1925 11233 1770

Loss before income tax benefit 33 3606 7017 8522 2828
Provision benefit for income taxes6 1434 2613 2484 1124
Net loss 36 2172 4.404 6.038 1.704

Net loss per share attributable to common

stockholders basic and diluted 30.38 0.44 0.42 0.33

Weighted average shares outstanding common

stock 1185 4895962 10479155 18500859

Other Financial Data

AdjustedEBITDA7 11 1076 6496 30321 2911

Includes the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 for the predecessor company

The pro forma combined consolidated financial information has been prepared from and should be read in conjunction with our

historical consolidated financial statements and related notes and the audited financial statements with respect to the predecessor

company included elsewhere in this report

The pro forma acquisition adjustments described in and below were based on available information and certain

assumptions made by our management and may be reviscA as additional information becomes available The unaudited pro forma

combined consolidated financial information included in this report is not intended to represent what our financial position is or

results of operations would have been if the acquisition had occurred on that date or to project our results of operations for any

future period Since the Company and the predecessor business were not under common control or management for some of the

period presented the pro forma combined consolidated financial results may not be comparable to or indicative of future

performance

The pro forma combined consolidated statements of operations included herein have been prepared pursuant to the rules and

regulations of the SEC Certain information and certain footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in

accordance with U.S GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to these rules and regulations however management

believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading

The pro forma combined consolidated financial information does not reflect any cost savings operating synergies or revenue

erthancements that the combined company may achieve as result of the acquisition the costs to combine our operations or the

costs necessary to achieve these cost savings operating synergies and revenue enhancements

The predecessors pre acquisition selling general and administrative expenses were $2.3 million the successors selling general

and administrative expenses were $4.6 million for combined selling general and administrative expenses of $6.9 million prior to

this adjustment This adjustment represents the elimination of certain selling general and administrative costs that represent

material non-recurring costs related to predecessor entity To arrive at pro forma selling general and administrative costs of $5.1

million an adjustment of $l.8 million was recorded representing certain salary and related personal expenses attributable to the

previous owners of the predecessor These adjustments represent contractual reductions for new compensation terms entered into as

part of the acquisition agreement The expenses in the predecessor historical financial statements are considered to be non-recurring

and are not expected to have continuing impact on the operations of the Company

The predecessors pre acquisition depreciation and amortization expenses were $33000 the successors depreciation and

amortization expenses were $2.4 million for combined depreciation and amortization expenses of $2.4 million prior to this

adjustment To arrive at pro forma depreciation and amortization expenses of $3.1 million an adjustment of $700000 was recorded

to reflect incremental depreciation and amortization expense for the pro forma period The pro forma incremental depreciation and

amortization expense represents approximately 6.5 months of incremental depreciation and amortization expense resulting primarily

from acquired intangibles
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The predecessors pre acquisition interest and other expenses net were $11000 the successors interest and other expenses

net were $1.5 million for combined interest and other expenses net of $1.5 million prior to this adjustment To arrive at pro

forma interest and other expenses net of $1.8 million an adjustment of $300000 was recorded assuming that acquisition

related debt was incurred on January 2008 and reflecting incremental interest expense incurred on this borrowing The pro

forma incremental interest expense represents approximately 6.5 months of incremental interest expense resulting primarily

from the debt incurred to acquire the predecessor

The predecessors pre acquisition provision benefit for income taxes were $3000 the successors provision benefit for

income taxes were $1 .4 million for combined provision benefit for income taxes of $1 .4 million prior to this

adjustment To arrive at pro forma provision benefit for income taxes of $1.1 million an adjustment of $300000 was

recorded to reflect the calculated income tax provision for the predecessor acquisition due to it being flow through entity

prior to acquisition

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net loss in the next section and is not

substitute for the GAAP equivalent

Adjusted EBITDA

In connection with the ongoing operation of our business our management regularly reviews Adjusted EBITDA non

GAAP financial measure to assess our performance We defme Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest taxes depreciation

amortization acquisition-related transaction costs share-based compensation expenses and other non-recurring costs We believe that

Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure of our operating performance because it allows management lenders investors and

analysts to evaluate and assess our core operating results from period to period after removing the impact of changes to our

capitalization structure acquisition related costs income tax status and other items of non-operational nature that affect

comparability

We believe that various forms of the Adjusted EBITDA metric are often used by analysts investors and other interested

parties to evaluate companies such as ours for the reasons discussed above Additionally Adjusted EBITDA is used to measure certain

financial covenants in our credit facility Adjusted EBITDA is also used for planning purposes and in presentations to our Board of

Directors as well as in our incentive compensation programs for our employees excluding our senior management

Non-GAAP information should not be construed as an alternative to GAAP information as the items excluded from the non
GAAP measures often have material impact on our financial results Management uses and investors should use non-GAAP

measures in conjunction with our GAAP results

The following table presents reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss the most comparable GAAP measure for each

of the periods indicated The following table also presents reconciliation of pro forma Adjusted EBITDA to pro forma net loss for

the period presented

Predecessor Successor Pro Forma

For the For the For the

period ended years ended year ended

July 13 December 31 December 31

2008i 2008 2009 2010 2008

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
Net loss 36 2172 4404 6038 1704
Share-based compensation expense 101 218 1816 101

Depreciation and amortization 33 2392 6889 19505 3149

Acquisition-related transaction costs 719 2109 6101 719

Monitoring feeii 1738

Other non-recurring costsiii 634 188

Interest and other expenses net 11 1470 1925 11233 1770

Provision benefit for income taxes 1434 2613 2484 1124
AdjustedEBITDA 11 1076 6496 30321 2911
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Includes the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 for the predecessor company

ii See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions Monitoring Fee Agreement for description of the monitoring fee

iii Other non-recurring costs consist of severance and facility termination costs

Comparison of the Fears Ended December 31 2010 and 2009 Successor

Revenues Revenues were $163.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $49.6 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of $113.9 million or 229% The increase in revenues over the 2009 period was due to the

following

$108.1 million or 217% was attributable to acquisitions completed throughout 2009 and 2010

$5.8 million or 12% was due to organic growth primarily attributable to both increased volume and to lesser

extent favorable change in sales mix

Costs of revenues Costs of revenues were $103.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $32.0 million

for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $71.6 million or 224% The increase in costs of revenues over the 2009 period

was due to the following

$69.7 million or 218% was attributable to acquisitions completed throughout 2009 and 2010

$1.9 million or 6% was primarily attributable to increased fees paid to members of our medical panel and to

lesser extent an increase in other direct costs

Costs of revenues as percentage of revenues for the year ended December 31 2010 decreased slightly from 65%

for the year ended December 31 2009 to 63% for year ended December 31 2010 The improvement in this

percentage was primarily due to the impact of favorable change in sales mix and to lesser extent the operating

leverage inherent in the business

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses were $37.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to

$15.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $21.9 million or 138% The increase in SGA expenses over the

2009 period was due to the following

$17.2 million or 109% was attributable to the acquisitions completed throughout 2009 and 2010

$4.7 million or 29% was primarily attributable to increased acquisition related transaction costs of $2.7 million

increased share based compensation expense of approximately $1.6 million primarily due to the accelerated vesting

provision certain options upon the initial public offering an increase of approximately $2.7 million primarily in

legal phone rent travel personnel expenses and other administrative expenses to support the growth in operations

These increases in SGA expenses were offset by the decrease of approximately $1.9 million in professional fees due

to the termination of the Compass Monitoring agreement in 2009 coupled with decrease of approximately

$400000 in bad debt expense attributable to improved collection efforts

Depreciation and amortization DA
expenses were $19.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $6.9

million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $12.6 million or 183% The increase in DA expenses over the 2009

period was due to the following

$12.8 million or 185% was attributable to growth resulting from additional amortization of finite-lived intangibles

and tangible assets related to acquisitions completed during 2009 and 2010

$160000 or 2% was attributable to certain intangible assets arising from 2008 acquisitions becoming fully

amortized in 2010 resulting in decrease in amortization expense

Interest and other expenses net Interest and other expenses net were $11.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010

compared to $1.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $9.3 million or 484% Interest expense net increased

by approximately $5.6 million due to increased borrowings used to finance our acquisitions completed in 2009 and 2010 In addition

amortization of capitalized loan costs increased by approximately $740000 Coupled with the increase in other expenses net

approximately $385000 of the variance is attributable to the change in the interest rate swap from net gain of $343000 for the year

ended December 31 2009 to net loss of approximately $42000 during the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in net loss

on the interest rate swap was due to the change in the fair value of the instrument primarily driven by falling interest rates during 2009

and 2010 Lastly approximately $2.7 million of the variance is attributable to the write-off of capitalized loan costs related to our

senior credit facility with Fifth Third Bank which was repaid and terminated in November 2010
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Income tax benefit Income tax benefit was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared with $2.6 million

for the year ended December31 2009 decrease of $0.1 million or 4.9% Our effective income tax rate was 29.1% and 37.2% for the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively The tax rates in the 2010 period were impacted by state net operating losses

and non deductible items

Net loss For the foregoing reasons net loss was $6.0 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compnred to $4.4 million

for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $1.6 million or 37.1%

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 Successor

Revenues Revenues were $49.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $14.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 an increase of $34.9 million or 238% The increase in revenue over the 2008 period was due to the following

$32.4 million or 221% was attributable to acquisitions completed in 2008 and 2009

$2.5 million or 17% was due to organic growth primarily attributable to increased volume and to lesser extent

favorable change in sales mix

Costs of revenues Costs of revenues were $32.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $9.8 million for

the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $22.2 million or 226% The increase in costs of revenues over the 2008 was due to

the following

$21.4 million or 18% was attributable to acquisitions completed in 2008 and 2009

$750000 or 8% was primarily attributable to increased fees paid to members of our medical panel and other direct

costs resulting from increased revenues

Costs of revenues as percentage of revenues was 65% for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to 67% for

the year ended December 31 2008 The improvement in this percentage was primarily due to the impact of

favorable change in sales mix to higher margin services

Selling general and administrative SQA expenses were $15.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to

$4.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $11.2 million or 243% The increase in SQA expenses over the

2008 was due to the following

$5.1 million or 110% was attributable to the acquisitions completed in 2008 and 2009

$6.1 million or 133% was primarily attributable to increased corporate headcount and other overhead expenses of

$2.7 million to support our growing operations and develop the related corporate infrastructure costs of $1.7 million

incurred under the monitoring fee agreement and increased transaction costs of $1.4 million related to the eleven

acquisitions completed in 2009

Depreciation and amortization DA expenses were $6.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $2.4

million for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $4.5 million or 188% The increase in DA expenses over the 2008

was due to the following

$4.3 million or 179% was attributable to the acquisitions completed in 2008 and 2009

$220000 or 9% was primarily attributable to increased depreciation expense resulting from continued capital

expenditures to support our growing operations
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Interest and other expenses net Interest and other expenses net were $1.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009

compared to $1.5 million for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $455000 or 31% Interest expense increased by $1.3

million or 25 1% primarily due to borrowings incurred to complete the 2008 and 2009 acquisitions As of December 31 2009

borrowings under our then outstanding senior credit facilities were $33.5 million compared to $13.2 million as of December 31 2008

In December 2009 we entered into senior credit facility with Fifth Third Bank and repaid and terminated our 2008 senior credit

facility The 2008 senior credit facility was terminated in order for us to enter into the senior credit facility with Fifth Third Bank

which was larger and allowed us to fhrther finance our growth The original lender with the 2008 senior credit facility was

significant participant in our Fifth Third senior credit facility In conjunction with the termination of the 2008 senior credit facility we

recognized loss from early extinguishment of debt in the amount of approximately $461000 attributable to the unamortized portion

of capitalized loan costs The increase in other expenses was partially offset by the net gain in the interest rate swap of approximately

$343000 in the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of approximately 136% compared to net loss recorded in the prior year

This increase in net gain resulted from the change in the fair value of the instrument primarily due to an increase in interest rates in

2009 compared to 2008

Income tax benefit Income tax benefit was $2.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $1.4 million for

the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $1.2 million or 82% Our effective income tax rate was 37.2% and 39.8% for the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively
The decrease in the effective income tax rates in 2009 was primarily due to

changes in state tax apportionment factors as we expanded our geographic footprint

Net loss For the foregoing reasons net loss was $4.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $2.2 million

for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $2.2 million or 100%

Comparison of Year Ended December 31 2009 and Pro Forma Year Ended December 31 2008

Revenues Revenues were $49.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $20.8 million for the pro forma

year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $28.8 million or 138% The increase in revenue over the 2008 pro forma period was

due to the following

$25.9 million or 125% was attributable to the Crossland and Southwest Medical acquisitions completed in 2008

and acquisitions completed in 2009

$2.9 million or 13% was due to organic growth primarily attributable to increased volume and to lesser extent

change in sales mix

Costs of revenues Costs of revenues were $32.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $13.6 million for

the
pro

forma year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $18.4 million or 136% The increase in costs of revenues over the pro

forma 2008 period was due to the following

$16.0 million or 118% was attributable to the Crossland and Southwest Medical acquisitions completed in 2008

and acquisitions completed in 2009

$2.4 million or 18% was primarily attributable to increased fees paid to members of our medical panel and other

direct costs resulting from increased revenues

Costs of revenues as percentage of revenues remained consistent at 65% for the years ended December 31 2009

and 2008

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses were $15.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to

$5.1 million for the pro forma year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $10.7 million or 211% The increase in SGA expenses

over the pro forma 2008 period was due to the following

$4.3 million or 84% was attributable to the Crossland and Southwest Medical acquisitions completed in 2008 and

acquisitions completed in 2009

$6.4 million or 127% was primarily attributable to increased corporate headcount and other overhead expenses of

$2.7 million to support our growing operations and develop the related corporate infrastructure costs of $1.7 million incurred under

the monitoring fee agreement and increased transaction costs of $1.4 million related to the eleven acquisitions completed in 2009
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Depreciation and amortization DA expenses were $6.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $3.1

million for the pro forma year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $3.8 million or 119% The increase in DA
expenses over

the pro forma 2008 period was due to the following

$3.6 million or 113% was attributable to the Crossland and Southwest Medical acquisitions completed in 2008 and

acquisitions completed in 2009

$200000 or 6% was primarily attributable to increased depreciation expense resulting from continued capital

expenditures to support our growing operations

Interest and other expenses net Interest and other expenses net were $1.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009

compared to $1.8 million for the pro forma year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $155000 or 9% Interest expense increased

by $1.0 million or 123% primarily due to borrowings incurred to complete the 2008 Crossland and Southwest Medical acquisitions

and to complete the 2009 acquisitions As of December 31 2009 borrowings under our then outstanding senior credit facilities were

$33.5 million compared to $13.2 million as of December 31 2008 In December 2009 we entered into senior credit facility with

Fifth Third Bank and repaid and terminated our 2008 senior credit facility In conjunction with the termination of the 2008 senior

credit facility we recognized loss from early extinguishment of debt in the amount of approximately $461000 attributable to the

unamortized portion of capitalized loan costs The increase in other expenses was partially offset by the net gain in the interest rate

swap of approximately $343000 during the year ended December 31 2009 resulting in an increase of approximately $1.3 million or

136% compared to net loss of approximately $1.0 million recorded in the prior year This increase in net gain resulted from the

change in the fair value of the instrument primarily due to an increase in interest rates in 2009 compared to 2008

Income tax benefit Income tax benefit was $2.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $1.1 million for

the pro forma year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $1.5 million or 132% Our effective income tax rate was 37.2% and

39.7% for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The decrease in the effective income tax rates in 2009 was

primarily due to changes in state tax apportionment factors as we expanded our geographic footprint

Net loss For the foregoing reasons net loss was $4.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $1.7 million

for the pro forma year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $2.7 million or 159%
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

In thousands except share and per share data

Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 September30 December 31

2010

Revenues 25400 35279 48563 54269

Costs and expenses

Costs ofrevenues 16132 22133 30428 34913

Selling general and administrative expenses 6011 8372 9587 13719

Depreciation and amortization 2977 3570 5905 7053

Total costs and expenses 25120 34075 45920 55685

Income loss from operations 280 1204 2643 1416
Other expenses net 1464 1347 2533 5889

Income loss before income taxes 1184 143 110 7305
Provision benefit for income taxes 589 71 33 1857
Net income loss 595 72 77 5448
Net income loss per share attributable to common

stockholders

Basic 0.04 0.20

Diluted 0.04 0.20

Weighted average shares outstanding common stock

Basic 13943454 15270593 17367540 27168890

Diluted 13943454 15270593 22342793 27168890

Other Financial Data

AdjustedEBITDAl 4166 6183 9915 10057

In thousands except share and per share data

Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 September30 December 31

2009

Revenues 8697 10931 14168 15838

Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 5569 6787 9226 10445

Selling general and administrative expenses 2455 3627 3851 5877

Depreciation and amortization 1228 1364 2038 2259

Total costs and expenses 9252 11778 15115 18581

Loss from operations 555 847 947 2743
Other expenses net 221 98 522 1084

Loss before income taxes 776 945 1469 3827
Benefit for income taxes 289 352 547 1425
Net loss 487 593 922 2402
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

Basic 0.05 0.06 0.09 0.22

Diluted 0.05 0.06 0.09 0.22

Weighted average shares outstanding common stock

Basic 10023160 10158839 10722997 10986551

Diluted 10023160 10158839 10722997 10986551

Other Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDAI 1450 1358 1861 1827

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net income loss below and is not substitute for

the GAAP equivalent We define Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest taxes depreciation amortization acquisition related

transaction costs share-based compensation expenses and other non-recurring costs We believe that Adjusted BBITDA is an

important measure of our operating performance because it allows management lenders investors and analysts to evaluate and assess

our core operating results from period to period after removing the impact of changes to our capitalization structure acquisition

related costs income tax status and other items of non-operational nature that affect our comparability The following table presents

reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss the most comparable GAAP measure for each of the periods indicated See also

Results of Operations Adjusted EBITDA
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In thousands

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Quarter Ended 2010 2010 2010 2010

Net loss income 595 72 77 5448
Share-based compensation expense 114 184 261 1257

Depreciation and amortization expense 2977 3570 5905 7053

Acquisition-related transaction costs 795 1225 1106 2975

Monitoring Feei
Other non-recurring costsii 188

Interest and other expenses net 1464 1347 2533 5889

Provision benefit for income taxes 589 71 33 1857
Adjusted EBITDA 4166 6183 9915 10057

In thousands

Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2009

Net loss 487 593 922 2402
Share-based compensation expense 59 73 79

Depreciation and amortization expense 1228 1364 2038 2259

Acquisition-related transaction costs 192 499 617 801

Monitoring Feei 197 73 1468

Other non-recurring costsii 329 196 74 35

Interest and other expenses net 221 98 522 1084

Benefit for income taxes 289 352 547 1425
Adjusted EBITDA 1450 1358 1861 1827

See footnote of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for description of the Monitoring Fee

iiOther non-recurring costs consist of severance facility termination and relocation costs

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal capital requirements are to find operations and acquisitions To date we have fUnded our capital needs from

cash flow generated from operations private placements of our common and preferred stock the initial public offering and

borrowings under our existing credit facility We have also funded our acquisition program with equity issuances to sellers and with

seller debt fmancing We expect that cash and cash equivalents availability under our existing credit facility and cash flows from

operations will be sufficient to support our operations planned capital expenditures and acquisitions for at least the next 12 months

Although we believe that our current cash and cash equivalents and fUnds available under our senior revolving credit facility

will be sufficient to meet our working capital and acquisition plans for at least the next 12 months we may need to raise additional

fUnds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities or increase borrowings to fUnd acquisitions If we raise additional

funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders will be

reduced and these securities might have rights preferences and privileges senior to those of our current stockholders Additional

financing may not be available or if available such financing may not be obtained on terms favorable to our stockholders and us
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Private Placements

From our inception through July 2008 we privately placed an aggregate of 6169320 shares of common stock to one investor

for gross proceeds of $12.0 million

January 2010 we issued an aggregate of 1989867 shares of common stock for gross proceeds of $3.5 million and as

consideration for the termination of the monitoring fee See Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsMonitoring Fee

Agreement

In May 2010 we completed private placement of our Series Convertible Preferred Stock which were convertible into

shares of our coimnon stock at the option of the holder to raise additional capital to fund our acquisition program We also increased

the number of our authorized shares to 250 million shares of common stock and 50 million shares of preferred stock Between March

2010 and May 2010 we issued an aggregate of 4975180 shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock for approximately $33.0

million in gross proceeds to the Company These shares of preferred stock had an aggregate initial liquidation preference of $33.0

million and accrued dividends at an annual rate of 12% in each case payable only upon liquidation or deemed liquidation event The

preferred stock automatically converted into shares of our common stock simultaneously with the closing of the IPO

On August 13 2010 we issued 8585 shares of common stock each to two investors at purchase price of $11.67 per share

Initial Public Offering

On November 2010 we completed an IPO of common stock The total offering size was 11845000 shares after exercise

by the underwriters of their over-allotment option consisting of 9290114 shares issued by us and 2554886 shares sold by existing

stockholders of the Company Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $133.7 million of which $102.4 million was used to

repay the amounts outstanding under the Fifth Third Credit Facility

Credit Facilities

Credit Facility

In November 2010 in conjunction with the initial public offering we repaid $102.4 million of outstanding debt and

terminated credit facility This facility was replaced with new senior revolving credit facility with Bank of America N.A as

administrative agent and the other lenders party thereto which following the exercise of the accordion feature in February 2011

provides for borrowings of up to $245 million Up to $15 million of the new senior credit facility may be in the form of letters of

credit and up to $15 million may be in the form of swingline loans We may elect to increase the new senior credit facility by an

additional $35 million so long as we are not in default under its terms and subject to the agreement of our lenders or new lenders to

provide additional credit Loans under the new senior credit facility will be used to fund our acquisition program plans and for

general corporate purposes including permitted acquisitions and terminates in November 2013 As of December 31 2010 there were

no amounts outstanding under the senior revolving credit facility As result of the closing of the acquisition of MES in February of

2011 approximately $165 million is outstanding under this facility as of the date of this filing

Our obligations under the new senior credit facility are guaranteed by each of our existing and future direct and indirect

domestic subsidiaries and such obligations are secured by substantially all of the assets of us and our domestic subsidiaries however

in the case of our foreign subsidiaries no more than 65% of the capital stock of first-tier subsidiaries shall be pledged and no assets

will be encumbered by liens in favor of our lenders
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Borrowings under the new senior credit facility bear interest at either LIBOR pins the applicable margin or ii base rate

equal to the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% the Bank of America prime rate and LIBOR using one month-

period plus 1.0% plus the applicable margin as we elect The applicable margin means percentage per annum determined in

accordance with the following table

Commitment

Pricing Fee/Unused Letter of Enrocurrency Base Rate

Tier Consolidated Leverage Ratio Line Fee Credit Fee Rate Loans Loans

2.50 to 1.0 0.50% 3.75% 3.75% 2.75%

2.50 to 1.0 but 1.75 to 1.0 0.63% 3.50% 3.50% 2.50%

1.75 to 1.0 but 1.0 to 1.0 0.63% 3.25% 3.25% 2.25%

1.0 to 1.0 0.75% 3.00% 3.00% 2.00%

In the event of default the outstanding indebtedness under the new credit facility will bear interest at an additional 2%

The new senior credit facility contains restrictive covenants including among other things financial covenants requiring us to

not exceed maximum consolidated senior leverage coverage ratio maximum total consolidated leverage ratio and to maintain

minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio The new senior credit facility also restricts our ability subject to certain

exceptions to incur indebtedness prepay or amend other indebtedness create liens make certain fundamental changes including

mergers or dissolutions pay dividends and make other payments in respect of capital stock make certain investments sell assets

change our lines of business enter into transactions with affiliates and other corporate actions

The new senior credit facility also includes events of default typical of these types of credit facilities and transactions

including but not limited to the nonpayment of principal interest fees or other amounts owing under the new senior credit facility

the violation of covenants the inaccuracy of representations and warranties cross defaults insolvency certain ERISA events material

judgments and change of control The occurrence of an event of default could result in the lenders not being required to lend any

additional amounts and the acceleration of obligations under the new senior credit facility causing such obligations to be due and

payable immediately which could materially and adversely affect us

Working Capital Facility

On September 29 2010 our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary UK Independent Medical Services Limited UKIM entered

into Sales Finance Agreement SFA with Barclays Bank PLC Barclays pursuant to which Barclays will provide UKIJYI

working capital facility of up to 5000000 subject to the terms and conditions of the SFA The working capital facility bears

discount margin of 2.5% over Base Rate 0.5% rate on December 31 2010 and serves to fmance UKIMs unpaid account receivables

The working capital facility will operate on co-terminus and cross-default basis with other facilities provided by Barclays Bank PLC

and with our new senior credit facility with Bank of America N.A As of December 31 2010 we had $5.0 million outstanding under

the working capital facility resulting in $2.8 million in availability

Cash Flow Summary

Cash and cash equivalents were $33.6 million at December 31 2010 as compared with $1.5 million at December 31 2009

and $1.2 million at December 31 2008
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Our cash flows from operating investing and financing activities as reported in our consolidated financial statements

included elsewhere in this report are summarized as follows

Predecessor Successor

For the

period from

January 2008 For the years ended

to July 13 December 31

2008 2008 2009 2010

in thousands

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 693 289 4177 18303

Net cash used in investing activities 23173 25775 116537
Net cash provided by used in financing activities 549 24249 21894 130319

Exchange rate impact on cash and cash equivalents _______________ _________ __________
40

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 144 787 296 32125

Operating Activities Net cash provided by operating activities was $18.3 million in the year ended December 31 2010 as

compared with net cash provided by operating activities of $4.2 million in the year
ended December 31 2009 Net cash provided by

operating activities for 2010 consisted of our net loss of $6.0 million which was offset by net non-cash charges of $20.1 million

including $19.5 million in depreciation and amortization and $5.4 million from deferred income taxes and decrease in working

capital of approximately $4.2 million in 2010 The decrease in working capital primarily consisted of increases in accounts receivable

of $2.1 million offset by increases in trade accounts payable and accrued expenses of $5.0 million and other current liabilities of

$1.7 million

Net cash provided by operating activities was $4.2 million in the
year

ended December 31 2009 as compared with net cash

used in operating activities of $289000 in the year
ended December 31 2008 Net cash provided by operating activities for 2009

consisted of our net loss of $4.4 million which was offset by non-cash charges of $4.9 million including $6.9 million in depreciation

and amortization and $2.7 million from deferred income taxes and decrease in working capital of approximately $3.6 million in

2009 The decrease in working capital primarily consisted of increases in accounts receivable of $1 .1 million offset by increases in

trade accounts payable and accrued expenses of $3.0 million and amounts due to related parties of $1.9 million

Net cash used in operating activities for 2008 resulted from our net loss of $2.2 million and net increase in working

capital of approximately $591000 primarily due to cash provided by increases in trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities

which was offset by non-cash charges of $2.5 million

Net cash provided by operating activities for the predecessor was $693000 for the period from January 2008 to July 13

2008 resulting from net income of $218000 and net increase in working capital of $440000 principally due to the reduction of

accounts receivable and an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses

Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities was $l 16.5 million and $25.8 million in the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively This increase was directly attributable to cash paid for increased acquisition activity and

capital asset purchases during 2010 of approximately $1 15.2 million and $3 .4 million respectively The increase in cash used was

partially offset by increases in other acquisition settlement related activities of approximately $418000

Net cash used in investing activities was $25.8 million and $23.2 million in the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively This increase was directly attributable to cash paid for increased acquisition activity and capital asset purchases during

2009 of approximately $25.7 million and $l.6 million respectively The increase in cash used was partially offset by increases in

other acquisition settlement related activities of approximately $1.5 million
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Net cash used in investing activities was $23 .2 million in the year ended December 31 2008 The cash used in investing

activities in 2008 was primarily attributable to cash paid of approximately $22.7 million to complete three acquisitions on July 14

2008

There was no change in net cash from investing activities for the predecessor in the period from January 2008 to July 13

2008

Financing Activities Net cash provided by financing activities was $130.3 million and $21.9 million in the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively This increase was primarily attributable to the net issuance of preferred stock of $32.4

million and net issuance of common stock of approximately $136.7 million offset by net repayments and borrowings under our credit

facilities of approximately $32.6 million and payment of deferred financing costs of approximately $6.5 million

Net cash provided by financing activities was $21.9 million and $24.2 million in the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively This decrease was primarily attributable to the net decrease of borrowings and repayments under our credit

facilities of approximately $8.6 million and reduction of proceeds from the issuance of common stock of approximately $10.9

millionyear over year

Cash provided by financing activities of $24.2 million during 2008 resulted primarily from the net borrowings and

repayments under our credit facility of $12.4 million coupled with $11.5 million in proceeds from the issuance of our common stock

completed in July 2008 The cash provided by financing activities during 2007 was limited to cash received from investors of

approximately $0.5 million

Net cash used in fmancing activities for the predecessor was $549000 for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008

resulting from net repayments of $500000 on its revolving line of credit facility and repayments of $49000 on note payable

Contingencies

We record contingent liabilities resulting from asserted and unasserted claims against us when it is probable that liability

has been incurred and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable We disclose contingent liabilities when there is reasonable

possibility that the ultimate loss will exceed the recorded liability Estimating probable losses requires analysis of multiple factors in

some cases including judgments about the potential actions of third-party claimants and courts Therefore actual losses in any future

period are inherently uncertain We currently are not involved in any material legal proceedings It is possible however that future

results of operations for any particular quarterly or annual period could be materially affected by changes in our assumptions or the

effectiveness of our strategies related to any future proceedings Contingent liabilities are described in Note to the consolidated

financial statements included elsewhere in this report

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our contractual cash payment obligations as of December 31 2010 are set forth below

Payments due by year ending December 31

Total 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter

In thousands

Operating leases $15652 4316 3647 2808 1889 1352 1640

Amounts outstanding under discount facility 4998 4998

Subordinated unsecured notes payable and

deferred payments 4858 2312 1848 222 209 267
__________

Total 25508 6628 5495 8028 2098 1619 1640

As of December 31 2010 we leased our office spaces for our corporate locations in Atlanta Georgia and New York New

York and also for our 27 service centers in various cities under non-cancelable lease agreements
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We have certain contractual obligations including various debt agreements with requirements to make interest payments
These amounts are subject to the level of borrowings in future periods and the interest rate for the applicable periods and therefore the

amounts of these payments are not detenninable Based upon amounts outstanding at December 31 2010 and applicable interest rates

of between 0.0% and 6.0% interest amounts are expected to be approximately $300000 per year over the next three years and

immaterial thereafter

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We engage in no activities obligations or exposures associated with off-balance sheet arrangements

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Overview and Definitions

We have identified the policies below as critical to our business operations and understanding of our results of operations

The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business operations are discussed throughout this managements

discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations where such policies affect our reported and expected financial

results Our consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles require us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue and expenses

cash flow and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities Our estimates include those related to accounts receivable

reserves goodwill and other intangible assets share-based compensation other equity instruments income and other taxes derivative

instruments and contingent obligations We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates and the impact of changes in key

assumptions may not be linear Our management has reviewed the application of these policies with the audit committee of our Board

of Directors For detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies see Note to the consolidated

fmancial statements included elsewhere in this report We believe that our most critical accounting policies and estimates relate to the

following

Revenue Recognition

Revenue related to IMEs peer reviews bill reviews and administrative support services is recognized at the time services

have been performed and the report is shipped to the end user We believe that recognizing revenue at the time the report is shipped is

appropriate because we meet the following four criteria in accordance with ASC 605-10-S25 Revenue Recognition Overall

persuasive evidence that arrangement exists ii shipment has occurred iii the price is fixed and determinable and iv collectability

is reasonably assured

Revenue related to other ilviE services including litigation support services and medical record retrieval services where no

report is generated is recognized at the time the service is performed We believe that recognizing revenue at the time the service is

performed is appropriate because we meet the following four criteria in accordance with ASC 605-10-S25 persuasive evidence that

arrangement exists ii services have been rendered iii the price is fixed and determinable and iv collectability is reasonably

assured

Should changes in conditions cause management to determine these criteria are not met for certain future transactions

revenue recognized for any reporting period could be adversely affected

Trade Accounts Receivable andAllowance for DoubtfulAccounts

Accounts receivable balances consist of amounts owed to us for services provided in the normal course of business and are

reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts Generally no collateral is received from clients and the collectability of trade

receivable balances is regularly evaluated based on combination of factors such as client credit-worthiness past transaction history

with the customer current economic industry trends and changes in customer payment patterns and additions to the allowance are

made based on these trends Accounts are reviewed regularly for collectability and those deemed uncollectible are written off
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in business combination that are

not individually identified and separately recognized Based on the provisions of ASC 350 IntangiblesGoodwill and Other ASC
350 goodwill and indefmite lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if impairment indicators

arise We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year and between annual valuations if events

occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount

Such circumstances include significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate unanticipated competition or

an adverse action or assessment by regulator When evaluating whether goodwill is impaired we compare the fair value of the

reporting unit to which the goodwill is assigned to the reporting units carrying amount including goodwill The fair value of the

reporting unit is estimated using primarily the income or discounted cash flows approach If the carrying amount of reporting unit

exceeds its fair value then the amount of the impairment loss must be measured The impairment loss is calculated by comparing the

implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill to its carrying amount In calculating the implied fair value of the reporting units

goodwill the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the other assets and liabilities of that unit based on their fair values

The excess of the fair value of reporting unit over the amount assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of

goodwill An impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value

Intangible assets including client relationships trade names covenants not to compete and technology that have finite lives

are amortized over their useful lives

We performed our annual impairment review of goodwill in October 2010 and reviewed subsequent events through

December 31 2010 and determined that the carrying value of goodwill was not impaired as of year end Further we believe that there

have been no facts or circumstances subsequent to December 31 2010 that indicate an impairment of goodwill exists

Deferred Income Taxes

In preparing our consolidated financial statements we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in

which we operate This process involves estimating actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences

resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes These differences result in deferred income tax

assets and liabilities

As of December 31 2009 we had net operating losses NOL5 which are subject to annual limitations resulting from the

change in control provisions in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code We generated $5.2 million of federal taxable income in the

year ended December 31 2010 fully utilizing the NOLs in 2010

Additionally we currently have significant deferred tax assets and other deductible temporary differences including basis

differences between intangible assets We do not provide valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets as we believe that it is

more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized based on available evidence including scheduled

reversal of deferred tax liabilities projected future taxable income and other tax planning considerations

Effective January 2009 we adopted the provisions of ASC 740 Income Taxes ASC 740 as it relates to uncertain tax

positions This guidance prescribes comprehensive model for how company should recognize measure present and disclosure in

its financial statements uncertain tax positions that the Company has taken or expects to take on tax return ASC 740 states that tax

benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on

its technical merits The tax benefit of qualifing position is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being

realized upon settlement with taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information As of January 2009 we

recognized liability for unrecognized tax liabilities of approximately $96000 We recorded an additional $80000 liability for

unrecognized tax benefits in the year ended December 31 2010 related to prior year tax positions of an acquired company

Additionally the Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense

We are no longer subject to U.S federal income or state tax return examinations by tax authorities before 2006 and 2005

respectively which periods relate to certain acquired businesses We operate in multiple taxing jurisdictions and face audits from

various tax authorities We remain subject to examination until the statute of limitations expires for the respective tax jurisdiction We
do not anticipate that the amount of the unrecognized benefit will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months
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Share-Based Compensation and Other Equity Instruments

Our stock incentive plan provides for the granting of stock options and share-based awards in accordance with ASC Topic

718 CompensationStock Compensation ASC 718 ASC 718 requires measurement of compensation cost for all share-based

awards at fair value on the grant date or measurement date if different and recognition of compensation expense net of forfeitures

over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest We use the straight-line amortization method for recognizing share-based

compensation expense

The fair value of stock option grants is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model The Black-Scholes option-

pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded stock options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully

transferable characteristics not present in these stock options Additionally option valuation models require the input of highly

subjective assumptions including the expected volatility of the stock price Because the Companys stock options have characteristics

significantly different from those of traded stock options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect

the fair value estimates in managements opinion the existing models may not provide reliable single measure of the fair value of

its share-based awards Our expected volatility assumptions are based on publicly traded
peer groups average implied historical

volatility We expect to continue to use an estimate based on our peer groups historical volatility until we have adequate historical

data regarding the volatility of our traded stock price Expected life assumptions are based upon the average of the simplified

method as described in Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107 which is the midpoint between the

vesting date and the end of the contractual term and the contractual term of the option in accordance with ASC 718 which states that

if no amount within the range is more or less likely than any other amount an average of the range its expected value should be used

for those options issued significantly out-of-the-money or the simplified method for those options issued in the fourth quarter of

2010 which were determined to be issued approximately at-the-money This option has been elected as we do not have sufficient stock

option exercise experience to support reasonable estimate of the expected term The risk-free interest rate was selected based upon

yields currently available on U.S Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining term approximating the expected term of the option

We recognize compensation expense for only the portion of stock options that are expected to vest Accordingly we have estimated

expected forfeitures of stock options based on historical forfeiture experience rates and used these to develop future rate If our

actual forfeiture rate varies from our historical rates and estimates additional adjustments to compensation expense may be required in

future periods

The per share exercise price of our stock option grants is no less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date

of grant and historically has been substantially in excess of fair market value The fair market value of our common stock is

determined on quarterly basis by our Board of Directors in consultation with management Starting in 2009 our Board began

performing quarterly valuations of our common stock using discounted future cash flows and taking into consideration number of

subjective factors including the illiquid nature of our stock and expected time to liquidity The per share exercise price of our stock

options however has been determined based on number of objective factors primarily the contractual value of our stock issued to

sellers in acquisitions and the price per share at which we sold stock in equity financings For example in acquisitions we have

valued our stock and sellers have accepted valuations based on multiple of our pro forma Adjusted EBITDA The multiple has been

based on number of factors including our size and growth rate
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The following table summarizes the number of stock options granted and outstanding as of December 31 2010 for the

quarterly periods from January 2008 through December 31 2010 the per share exercise price of the stock options and estimated per

share weighted average fair value of stock options

Number of shares Weighted average

subject to options Weighted average estimated fair value of

granted and per share exercise options

Quarter ending outstanding price of optious

September 30 2008 506140 2.80 0.78

June 30 2009 441980 2.80 0.66

September 30 2009 105076 3.89 1.02

December 31 2009 67382 3.89 0.99

March3l2010 1346796 6.12 0.63

June 30 2010 631654 6.63 0.67

September3O2010 481944 7.79 1.14

December 31 2010 1477553 11.67 4.32

As described above the per share estimated fair value of stock options was estimated for the date of grant using the Black

Scholes option-pricing model This model estimates the fair value by applying series of factors including the exercise price of the

stock option the fair market value of our common stock risk free interest rate the expected term of the stock option expected share

price volatility of the underlying common stock and expected dividends on the underlying common stock Additional information

regarding our valuation of common stock and option awards is set forth in Note to our consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this report

Accounting for Acquisitions

Accounting for acquisitions requires us to recognize and measure identifiable assets acquired liabilities assumed and any

non-controlling interest in the acquired entity Our accounting for acquisitions involves significant judgments and estimates including

the fair value of certain forms of consideration such as our common stock the fair value of acquired intangible assets which involve

projections of future revenues cash flows and terminal value which are then discounted at an estimated discount rate the fair value of

other acquired assets and assumed liabilities including potential contingencies and the useful lives of the assets The projections are

developed using internal forecasts available industry and market data and estimates of long-term rates of growth for our business The

impact of prior or future acquisitions on our financial position or results of operations may be materially impacted by the change in or

initial selection of assumptions and estimates

Financial Instruments

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 820

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 ASC 820 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair

value in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and expands disclosure about fair value

measurements ASC 820 is effective for interim reporting periods in fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 As such we

adopted the provisions of ASC 820 effective January 2008

ASC 825 Financial Instruments ASC 825 delayed the effective date of the application of ASC 820 to fiscal years

beginning after November 15 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value

in the financial statements on nonrecurring basis Nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities for which the

Company has not applied the provisions of ASC 820 primarily include those measured at fair value in goodwill and long-lived asset

impairment testing those initially measured at fair value in business combination and nonfmancial liabilities for exit or disposal

activities
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ASC 820 defmes fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the

principal most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement

date ASC 820 establishes fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value into the following levels

In determining fair value we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as consider counterpart credit risk in the assessment of fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly

Level Unobservable inputs based on the companys own assumptions

Our financial liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis are categorized using the fair value hierarchy

as of December 31 2009 and 2010 were as follows

Level Level Level Total

As of December 31 2009

Financial liabilities

Interestrateswap 612 612

Contingent consideration 2630 2630

As of December 31 2010

Financial liabilities

Interest rate swap 654 654

Contingent consideration 6202 6202

The fair value of the interest rate swap is determined using observable market inputs such as current interest rates and

considers nonperfonnance risk of the Company and that of our counterparties The contingent consideration relates to earn-out

provisions recorded in conjunction with certain acquisitions completed in 2009 and 2010

In February 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 825 which permits entities to choose to measure

many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value As we did not elect the fair value option the adoption of this

provision of ASC 825 did not have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows for

the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In addition to the recently adopted accounting pronouncements discussed above in conjunction with our critical accounting

policies we believe the following recently adopted accounting pronouncements are important to an understanding of our financial

statements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 805 Business Combinations ASC 805 ASC
805 changes accounting for business combinations through requirement to recognize 100% of the fair values of assets acquired

liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests in acquisitions of less than 100% controlling interest when the acquisition

constitutes change in control of the acquired entity Other requirements include capitalization of acquired in-process research and

development assets expensing as incurred acquisition-related transaction costs and capitalizing restructuring charges as part of the

acquisition only if requirements of ASC 420 Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations are met ASC 805 is effective for business

combination transactions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or

after December 15 2008 The Company adopted ASC 805 effective January 2009 and applied the principles contained in this

standard to all acquisitions that were completed in 2009 Our consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows for

the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010 reflect the adoption of ASC 805
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In March 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 815 Derivatives and Hedging ASC 815 ASC
815 requires additional disclosures about the objectives of the derivative instruments and hedging activities the method of accounting

for such instruments and tabular disclosure of the effects of such instruments and related hedged items on the Companys financial

position results of operations and cash flows ASC 815 is effective for fmancial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods

beginning after November 15 2008 with early adoption encouraged We adopted ASC 815 effective January 2009 and the adoption

did not have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2010

In May 2009 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 855 Subsequent Events ASC 855 ASC 855

requires that an entity shall recognize in the financial statements the effects of all subsequent events that provide additional evidence

about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing financial

statements ASC 855 defmes two types of subsequent events recognized subsequent events and non-recognized subsequent

events Recognized subsequent events provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date and must be

reflected in the Companys financial statements Non-recognized subsequent events provide evidence about conditions that arose after

the balance sheet date and are not reflected in the financial statements of company ASC 855 is effective for interim or annual

financial periods ending after June 15 2009 and is to be applied prospectively We adopted the provisions of ASC 855 for the year

ended December 31 2009 The adoption
of the

provisions of ASC X55 did not have material effect on our consolidated financial

condition results of operations and cash flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure This update

provides amendments to Codification topic Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures which require new disclosures about transfers

in and out of Levels and and the reasons for the transfers as well as reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs Level The update is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2009

Adoption of this update did not have material impact on our financial statements

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In October 2009 the FASB issued ASU 2009-13 ASU 2009-13 addressing revenue arrangements with multiple

deliverables The new guidance establishes selling price hierarchy for determining the selling price of deliverable eliminates the

residual method of allocation requires the allocation of arrangement consideration to all deliverables using the relative selling price

method and significantly expands disclosure requirements The guidance is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered

into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 We do not expect the adoption of the ASU 2009-13 to

have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows

There were various other accounting standards and interpretations issued during 2009 and 2010 that we have not yet been

required to adopt none of which are expected to have material impact on our financial position results of operations or cash flows

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market

prices and rates Our market risk exposure
results primarily from fluctuations in interest rates as well as inflation In the normal course

of business we are exposed to market risks including changes in interest rates which affect our debt as well as cash flows We may
also face additional exchange rate risk in the future as we expand our business internationally

Interest Rate Risk As of December 31 2010 we had cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately $33.6 million These

amounts were held for future acquisition and working capital purposes and were held in non-interest bearing accounts of which $3 1.2

million were held in the U.S Therefore the U.S amounts are insured in full through June 30 2012 against bank failure under the

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program

Our outstanding debt of $5.0 million at December 31 2010 related to indebtedness under our discount facility and contains

floating interest rate Thus our interest rate is subject to market risk in the form of fluctuations in interest rates The effect of

hypothetical one percentage point increase in our variable rate debt would result in an increase of $50000 in our annual pre-tax net

loss assuming no further changes in the amount of borrowings subject to variable rate interest from amounts outstanding at December

31 2010
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In August 2008 as required under our then existing credit facility in order to protect against interest rate exposure on its

variable-rate debt we entered into an interest rate swap to fix the interest rate applicable to our variable-rate debt The agreement

swaps one-month LIIBOR for fixed interest rate of 4.36% We do not and do not intend to engage in the practice of trading

derivative securities for profit

Foreign Exchange Risk As of December 31 2010 we have foreign currency risks related to our revenues and operating

expenses
denominated in currencies other than the U.S dollar the Canadian dollar and the Pound Sterling Our financial results could

be affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign markets We do not

currently hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations given that the net difference between foreign currency

denominated revenue and operating expenses is relatively small In the future however we may hedge such exposure to foreign

currency exchange rate fluctuations

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements set forth herein commence on page F-i of this Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be

disclosed in its Exchange Act reports is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs

rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to its management including the Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

As of the end of the period covered by this report December 31 2010 the Evaluation Date the Company carried out an

evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of its management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures Based upon this

evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Companys disclosure controls and

procedures were effective at reasonable assurance level as of the Evaluation Date

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This annual report on Form 10-K does not include report of managements assessment regarding internal control over

financial reporting or an attestation report of the Companys registered public accounting firm due to transition period established by

the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by

Rule 13a-15d and i5d-i5d of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by Form 10-K that has materially affected

or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Onr Executive Officers and Directors

The following table and descriptions sets forth certain information concerning our executive officers and directors

Name Age Position

Richard Penman 64 Executive Chairman of the Board

James Price 52 Chief Executive Officer and Director

Wesley Campbell 44 President

Miguel Fernandez de Castro 38 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Kevin Kozlowski 48 Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Joshua LeMaire 37 Vice President Sales and Marketing

Crystal Patmore 39 Vice President and Secretary

Clare Arguedas 29 Vice President General Counsel and Assistant Secretary

Peter Bach M.D MAPP 46 Director

Peter Graham 56 Director

Thomas Presby 71 Director

William Shutzer 63 Director

David Zenoff 72 Director

Richard Perlman has been our Executive Chairman of the Board since August 12 2010 Previously Mr Perlman served

as our Co-Chairman of the Board Co-Chief Executive Officer and director from July 2008 Mr Perlman is also the President of

Compass Partners L.L.C Compass Partners merchant banking and financial advisory firm he founded in 1995 that specializes

in middle market companies and corporate restructuring Mr Perlman served as Chairman and Director of TurboChef Technologies

Inc commercial food equipment manufacturer from October 2003 until January 2009 when TurboChef was acquired by The

Middleby Corporation Mr Perlman was the Chairman of PracticeWorks Inc dental software company from March 2001 until its

acquisition by The Eastman Kodak Company in October 2003 Mr Perlman served as Chairman and Treasurer of AIvIICAS Inc

formerly VitalWorks Inc software company specializing in healthcare practice management from January 1998 and as Director

from March 1997 until the completion of the spin-off of PracticeWorks Inc in March 2001 Prior to this time Mr Perlman was

involved in the acquisition and operation of several private companies in the home furnishings automobile replacement parts and real

estate industries where he was principal and Chief Executive Officer Mr Perlman was Director of Alloy Inc media and

marketing services company prior to the company going private in November 2010 as well as several other privately held companies

Mr Perlman serves as Trustee of the James Beard Foundation and as Director on the non-profit board of Fighting Chance Mr
Perlman received B.S in Economics from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and Masters in Business

Administration from Columbia University Graduate School of Business

We believe Mr Perlmans qualifications to serve on our Board of Directors include his expertise in business and corporate

strategy his prior experience at public companies including with respect to acquisition transactions his knowledge regarding our

Company and our industry and his experience as merchant banker and financial advisor

James Price has been our Chief Executive Officer since August 12 2010 and director since July 2008 Previously Mr
Price served as our Co-Chairman of the Board and Co-Chief Executive Officer from July 2008 From October 2003 to January 2009

Mr Price served as President Chief Executive Officer and Director of TurboChef Technologies Inc Mr Price served as President

Chief Executive Officer and Director of PracticeWorks Inc from March 2001 until its acquisition by The Eastman Kodak Company

in October 2003 Mr Price was co-founder of AIvIICAS Inc formerly VitalWorks Inc and served as its Executive Vice President

and Secretary from July 1997 until the completion of the spin-off of PracticeWorks Inc in March 2001 Mr Price also served as an

executive officer of American Medcare and also co-founded and was an executive officer of International Computer Solutions which

companies both provided healthcare software systems and information services and were acquired by VitalWorks Inc Mr Price sits

on the Board of Directors of several other privately held companies and non-profit organizations Mr Price holds B.A in marketing

from the University of Georgia
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We believe Mt Prices qualifications to serve on our Board of Directors include his expertise in business and corporate

strategy his prior experience at public companies including with respect to acquisition transactions and his knowledge regarding our

Company and our industry

Wesley Campbell has been our President since July 2008 Mr Campbell manages the daily corporate operations and

oversees the integration of newly acquired companies During his career Mr Campbell has played key role in acquiring and

integrating over 80 companies and has over 20 years experience in the medical and dental technology industries From April 2007 to

July 2008 Mr Campbell served as Chief Operations Officer of 36Olmaging Inc diagnostic imaging company for dentists Mr

Campbell served as Vice President of International of Practice Works Inc from May 2006 to May 2007 President of Practice Works

Inc from October 2003 to May 2006 and Vice President of Operations of PracticeWorks Inc from March 2001 to October 2003

From October 1997 to March 2001 Mr Campbell served as Vice President of Technical Services for AIvIICAS Inc fonnerly

VitalWorks Inc and from March 1986 to October 1997 served as General Manager of Commercial Computers Inc medical

software company Mr Campbell graduated from DeVry Institute of Technology

Miguel Fernandez de Castro has been our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since March 2009 Mr
Fernandez de Castro manages the finance and treasury functions as well as acquisition due diligence From October 2007 to February

2009 Mr Fernandez de Castro was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of TurboChef Technologies Inc and Vice

President of Finance and Controller since April 2004 From October 2003 to February 2004 Mr Fernandez de Castro served as the

Controller of PracticeWorks Inc and served as Director of Financial Reporting from August 2000 until its acquisition by The

Eastman Kodak Company in October 2003 during which time PracticeWorks was publicly-traded company Mr Fernandez de

Castro served as Manager of Financial Reporting of AMICAS Inc formerly VitalWorks Inc from August 2000 until the

completion of the spin-off of PracticeWorks Inc in March 2001 Mr Fernandez de Castro began his career in the audit services group

of BDO Seidman LLP which provides assurance tax financial advisory and consulting services Mr Fernandez de Castro is

Certified Public Accountant and member of the Georgia Society of CPAs Mr Fernandez de Castro received B.A in Economics

and Spanish and Masters in Accounting from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

Kevin Kozlowski has been our Vice President and Chief Information Officer since July 2008 Mr Kozlowski oversees our

information systems architecture and infrastructure and has more than 25 years of experience in the healthcare information

technology industry From July 2007 to July 2008 Mr Kozlowski served as Chief Technology Officer of 36Olmaging Inc From

October 2003 to June 2007 Mr Kozlowski served as Vice President Research and Development at Kodak Dental Systems dental

products company and from March 2001 to October 2003 at PracticeWorks Inc Mr Kozlowski was Vice President of Research and

Development for the Dental Division of AMICAS Inc formerly VitalWorks Inc from December 1999 until the completion and

spin-off of PracticeWorks Inc in March 2001 Mr Kozlowski was President and founder of Human Touch Software from 1984 to

December 1999 where he was the lead developer of the PatientBase dental practice management system Mr Kozlowski received

B.S in computer science from California State University at Sacramento

Joshua LeMaire has been our Vice President Sales and Marketing since September 2008 Mr LeMaire manages our

corporate branding initiative sales and marketing programs and strategic corporate relationships At Becker-Parkin Dental Supply

Co dental supply company Mr LeMaire served as Executive Vice President of Sales and Marketing from January 2006 to

September 2007 and Vice President of Full Service Sales from March 2003 to December 2005 From January 2001 to February 2003

Mr LeMaire was National Sales Manager at Sky Financial Solutions dental financing company From September 2007 to

September 2008 Mr LeMaire pursued personal interests
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Crystal Patmore has been our Secretary and Vice President Human Resources since March 2009 Ms Patmore works

closely with the finance team and is integral in the due diligence and forensic accounting processes and is also responsible for our risk

management function From December 2003 to February 2009 Ms Patmore served as Vice President of Human Resources and

Director of Business Development for TurboChef Technologies Inc From March 2001 to October 2003 Ms Patmore was the

Controller at PracticeWorks Inc From 1997 to March 2001 Ms Patmore served as the Accounting Manager at AMICAS Inc

formerly VitalWorks Inc. Ms Patrnore started her career at International Computer Solutions and American Medcare Ms Patmore

holds B.B.A in accounting from Georgia State University

Clare Arguedas has been our Vice President General Counsel and Assistant Secretary since February 2010 Prior to

joining ExamWorks Ms Arguedas was an attorney at the law firm of Paul Hastings Janofsky Walker LLP from September 2006

to February 2010 Ms Arguedas received B.A from the University of Pennsylvania and J.D from Emory University School of

Law

Peter Bach M.D MAPP has been director of the Company since July 2010 Dr Bach is also an attending physician

for the Department of Medicine Memorial Hospital for Cancer and Allied Diseases and holds Full Member academic position with

Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center Dr Bach has held both of these positions since his promotion from associate attending

physician and Associate Member respectively in September 2009 From October 2004 to September 2009 Dr Bach was an associate

attending physician for the Department of Medicine Memorial Hospital for Cancer and Allied Diseases and held an Associate

Member academic position with Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center Dr Bach is memberof the working group on HIT for the

Presidents Council of Advisors on Science and Technology From February 2005 to November 2006 Dr Bach served as the Senior

Advisor to the Administrator of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services federal agency in Washington D.C Dr Bach has

been member of number of professional associations and regularly reviews manuscripts for professional medical journals Dr
Bach has been licensed physician in Illinois from June 1995 to June 1997 and in New York since October 1998 He is board certified

in Internal Medicine Pulmonary Medicine and Critical Care Medicine Dr Bach received .A in English and American Literature

from Harvard University an M.D from the University of Minnesota and an M.A in Public Policy from the Harris School of Public

Policy at the University of Chicago

We believe Dr Bachs qualifications to serve on our Board of Directors include his extensive experience practicing and

teaching medicine at the highest levels and his knowledge of the healthcare industry

Peter Graham has been director of the Company since September 2010 From November 1998 to November 2010 Mr
Graham was also director of Alloy Inc media and marketing programs provider since November 1998 where he served as chair

of the audit committee and the compensation committee prior to the company going private Since 2000 Mr Graham has been the

Chairman of the Board of Seventh Generation Inc privately held company of consumer products From 1994 through December

2004 Mr Graham held positions with Ladenburg Thalmann Group Inc an investment banking organization including Principal

President Vice Chairman and Managing Director of its principal subsidiary Ladenburg Thalmami Co Inc Mr Graham joined

Ladenburg Thalmann Co Inc in 1976 after having attended the Wharton School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania

Based on Mr Grahams experience within the investment banking industry we believe his knowledge of capital markets and

business enterprises provides the Company with unique insights and financial guidance

Thomas Presby has been director of the Company since June 2009 In June 2002 Mr Presby retired as partner with

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu an international accounting and consulting firm Over period of 30 years Mr Presby held many

positions with Deloitte in the U.S and abroad including deputy chairman and chief operating officer from January 1995 until his

retirement Mr Presby currently serves as director and audit committee chair of Tiffany Co Invesco Ltd First Solar Inc and

World Fuel Services Corporation Mr Presby served as director of PracticeWorks Inc from June 2002 to October 2003 and served

as director of GreenPoint Financial Corporation from January 2003 to October 2004 From December 2003 to January 2009 Mr
Presby was director of TurboChef Technologies Inc and from December 2005 to January 2011 Mr Presby was director of

American Eagle Outfitters Inc Mr Presby received B.S in Electrical Engineering from Rutgers University and an M.S in

Industrial Administration from the Carnegie Mellon University Graduate School of Business Mr Presby is Certified Public

Accountant in New York and Ohio
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We believe Mr Presbys qualifications to serve on our Board of Directors include his extensive experience at the highest

levels of finance and accounting having served for three decades as partner as well as in positions of senior management including

Chief Operating Officer at one of the worlds largest accounting finns Mr Presby serves number of leading companies by chairing

their audit committees role which he also fhlfills for ExamWorks where he is recognized by the Board as its audit committee

financial expert The Board has determined that Mr Presbys simultaneous service on five audit committees will not impair his ability

to effectively serve as the chair of our audit committee

William Shutzer has been director of the Company since July 2010 Mr Shutzer has been Senior Managing Director

of Evercore Partners financial advisory and private equity firm since April 2004 He previously served as Managing Director of

Lehman Brothers an investment banking firm from October 2000 through December 2003 Partner in Thomas Weisel Partners

LLC merchant banking firm from September 1999 through June 2000 Chairman of Investment Banking of 1NG Baring Furman

Selz LLC an investment banking and brokerage firm from January 1998 through June 1999 President of Furman Selz Inc an

investment banking and brokerage firm from October 1996 through December 1997 Executive Vice President of Furman Selz Inc
from March 1994 through September 1996 and as Managing Director of Lehman Brothers and its predecessors from September

1978 through February 1994 Mr Shutzer is also member of the Board of Directors of Tiffany Co and WebMedia Brands Inc

formerly known as Jupiter Media Corp. He has been director of the following public companies during the past five years

American Financial Group 2003-2006 CSK Auto 2002-2008 and TurboChef Technologies 2003-2009 Mr Shutzer received

both his B.A and M.B.A degrees from Harvard University

We believe Mr Shutzers qualifications to serve on our Board of Directors include his knowledge of and experience in

finance investment banking investor relations and corporate strategy

David Zenoff has been director of the Company since July 2010 Mr Zenoff is also President of David Zenoff and

Associates Inc strategy and administrative practices firm he founded in 1973 Mr Zenoff currently serves as director of

Williams-Sonoma Inc and Depomed Inc From 1966 to 1972 Mr Zenoff was full-time faculty member at the Columbia Graduate

School of Business During the 1970s and the 1980s Mr Zenoff was part-time faculty member at the Stanford University Graduate

School of Business and from 1983 to 1984 he was visiting professor at IMD business school formerly IMEDE in Lausanne

Switzerland He has authored eight books on management finance and marketing Mr Zenoff received B.A in Economics from

Stanford doctorate in International Business and an M.B.A from Harvard University

We believe Mr Zenoffs qualifications to serve on our Board of Directors include his extensive strategic and management

consulting experience with over 90 large companies and organizations in 31 countries and his expertise in guiding long-term strategic

and corporate management planning and advising on organization renewal increasing organization performance marketplace

strategy and executive team-building and business leadership practices

Our Board of Directors

Currently there are seven members of our Board of Directors all of whom were designated by ExamWorks Holdings LLLP

Holdings and elected as directors pursuant to stockholders agreement between us and our stockholders prior to our initial public

offering The stockholders agreement was automatically terminated immediately prior to the consummation of our initial public

offering and ExamWorks Holding LLLPs right to designate board members as referenced above no longer exists Our directors

hold office until their successors have been elected and qualified or until the earlier of their resignation or removal There are no

family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide for staggered or classified

Board of Directors consisting of three classes of directors each serving staggered three-year terms as follows

the Class directors are Mr Zenoff and Mr Presby and their terms will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be

held in 2011

the Class II directors are Mr Graham Mr Shutzer and Dr Bach and their terms will expire at the annual meeting of

stockholders to be held in 2012 and

the Class III directors are Mr Perlman and Mr Price and their terms will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be

held in 2013
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Upon expiration of the term of class of directors directors for that class will be elected for three-year terms at the annual

meeting of stockholders in the year in which that term expires Each directors term continues until the election and qualification of his

successor or his earlier death resignation or removal Any increase or decrease in the number of directors will be distributed among
the three classes so that as nearly as possible each class will consist of one-third of the directors This classification of our Board of

Directors may have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in control of our Company

Director Independence

Our Board of Directors consists of seven members majority of whom are independent under the rules of the New York

Stock Exchange Pursuant to the corporate governance listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange director employed by us

cannot be deemed to be an independent director and each other director will qualif as independent only if our Board of Directors

affirmatively determines that he has no material relationship with us either directly or as partner stockholder or officer of an

organization that has relationship with us Ownership of significant amount of our stock by itself does not constitute material

relationship

Our Board of Directors has affirmatively determined that each of Dr Bach and Messrs Presby Shutzer Zenoff and Graham

is independent in accordance with Section 303A.02b of the NYSE Listed Company Manual

All of the members of the Boards audit committee compensation committee and corporate governance and nominating

committee are independent as defined under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange

Messrs Perlman Presby and Shutzer have invested in unrelated businesses together in the past and may as may other

directors make other investments together in the future

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors executive officers and persons who beneficially

own greater than 10% of our common stock to file certain reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission Based on review

of the copies of the reports furnished to us and the written representations of such reporting persons we believe that all reports that

were required to be filed under Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 were timely filed during fiscal year 2010

Audit Committee

We have standing audit committee of our Board of Directors established in accordance with Section 3a58A of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Our audit committee consists of Messrs Presby chair Shutzer and Graham all three of whom are

independent as defined under and required by the federal securities laws and the rules of the New York Stock Exchange Our

Board of Directors has determined that each of the members of our audit committee satisfies the requirements for financial literacy

under the cunent requirements of the New York Stock Exchange Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr Presby is an audit

committee financial expert as that term is defined by the SEC Mr Presbys qualification to serve as an audit committee financial

expert includes his extensive experience at the highest levels of finance and accounting having served for three decades as partner

and in positions of senior management including Chief Operating Officer at one of the worlds largest accounting firms In addition

Mr Presby serves number of other leading public companies by chairing their audit committees

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted code of ethics as defined in Item 406 of the SECs Regulation S-K that applies to all directors officers

and employees of the Company including our chief executive officer and senior financial officers copy of the Code of Business

Conduct and Ethics is available on the Investor Relations page of our website at www.examworks.com We intend to disclose future

substantive amendments to our code of ethics or certain waivers of such provisions at the same location on our website identified

above and also in public filings
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Item 11 Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This section discusses the principles underlying our executive compensation policies and decisions and the most important

factors relevant to an analysis of these policies and decisions It provides qualitative information regarding the manner and context in

which compensation is awarded to and earned by our named executive officers NEO5 and is intended to place in perspective the

data presented in the tables and narrative that follow Based on applicable securities laws the following were our NEOs for 2010 For

the biographical information of our NEOs see Our Executive Officers and Directors

Richard Perlman Executive Chairman of the Board

James Price Chief Executive Officer

Miguel Fernandez de Castro Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Wesley Campbell President

Kevin Kozlowski Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Joshua LeMaire Vice President Sales and Marketing

From July 2008 through August 11 2010 Messrs Perlman and Price each held the office of Co-Chairman of the Board and

Co-Chief Executive Officer Effective August 12 2010 Mr Perlman became our sole Executive Chairman of the Board and Mr Price

became our sole Chief Executive Officer and continued as director Prior to the appointment of new directors and the establishment

of our compensation committee effective July 16 2010 our Board of Directors had been responsible for the administration and

oversight of our executive compensation program The Board of Directors was composed of Messrs Perlman and Price from our

incorporation until the addition of Mr Presby upon his election to the Board of Directors on July 12 2009 at which time Mr Presby

joined Messrs Perlman and Price in their oversight and administration of the executive compensation program Effective July 16

2010 following the election of additional directors this responsibility was delegated to the compensation committee Our

compensation committee which is currently composed of Messrs Shutzer Chair Bach and Graham administers and oversees all

elements of our executive compensation program including the function and design of our annual cash incentive and equity incentive

programs The compensation committee evaluates the need for revisions to our executive compensation program to ensure our

program is competitive with the companies with which we compete for superior executive talent As part of this process the

compensation committee considers the competitiveness of the elements of the compensation packages we offer to our executives as

well as their total compensation packages While neither an independent compensation consultant nor peer group comparisons have

been used to date in determining executive compensation the compensation committee has retained an independent compensation

consultant to provide and review peer group data and assist it in this process in the future

Overview

We seek to provide compensation package for executives reasonably sufficient to attract and hold talented experienced

energetic and entrepreneurial-minded individuals for our key management positions We balance offering compensation consistent

with the executive marketplace and common sense affordability for company of our size revenues market position and growth

opportunities Management strives to hire and maintain an executive workforce with individuals having the abilities and capacities to

manage today as well as carry us through significant growth tomorrow and beyond We also want to align the interests of our

employees with the interests of our stockholders so we follow compensation strategy that includes meaningfUl equity component

for fUture value Accordingly our philosophy is to provide reasonably competitive salaries and potential cash bonuses with growth

potential through equity incentives While executive compensation strnctures and changes are typically initiated by senior

management our compensation committee reviews and approves salary bonus and equity incentive proposals prior to

implementation

We view base salary as component of compensation designed to reflect the executives relative level of responsibilities and

value to the organization and as reflection of market competition for individuals with similar skill sets and experience We are not

tied to specific ratio of amounts among the three main components of executive compensation but believe base salary presents the

threshold level necessary to compensate and retain qualified individuals before any consideration of the other components of

compensation Bonuses are also considered as no less important to encouraging and rewarding extraordinary performance and results

In 2009 the only year for which bonuses have been paid we paid discretionary bonuses to our NEOs in the form of cash although the

Board has the discretion to pay bonuses in stock or combinations thereof No cash bonuses were paid in 2010 Finally we believe an

equity component of compensation provides dual benefit of aligning the interests of executives with those of other stockholders
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Base Salary

Prior to the election of additional directors and the establishment of the compensation committee on July 16 2010 executive

base salaries were determined by our Co7Chairmen and Co-Chief Executive Officers in their sole discretion The 2010 base salaries

for our NEOs are set forth in the Summary Compensation Table below

Going forward the compensation committee will consider the recommendations of senior management in determining

whether to adjust the salary component of overall compensation in light of the overall compensation package and how the balance of

the components for an individual matches the overall compensation philosophy In recommending cash compensation levels for

executives senior management considers the qualifications of the executive the current needs and expected future needs of the

Company the competitive opportunities for individuals with similar executive skill sets and experience and the expected budget

Annual Cash Incentives

Prior to the election of additional directors and the establishment of the compensation committee on July 16 2010 annual

cash incentives were determined by our Co-Chairmen and Co-Chief Executive Officers Following the establishment of the

compensation on July 16 2010 this responsibility was delegated to our compensation committee Our compensation committee in

consultation with management is responsible for determining the qualitative and other individual corporate performance factors that

will be taken into account when awarding cash incentives

No discretionary bonuses were paid to our named executive officers in 2010 In 2009 discretionary cash bonuses were

determined by our Co-Chairmen and Co-Chief Executive Officers in their sole discretion The determination of the bonus payment

amounts were made after considering each individual executive officers achievement during the year as well as the assessment of our

past and future performance Specifically the 2009 bonuses recognized the significant and successful work of our executives in

acquiring integrating and operating the businesses acquired during the year In 2009 our Co-Chief Executive Officers did not receive

any annual cash incentive In connection with the termination of the Companys obligation to pay cash monitoring fees on its

Monitoring Fee Agreement with Compass Partners our Executive Chairman and our Chief Executive Officer each agreed that they

would not be entitled to receive any cash incentive payment or bonus payment in 2010 See Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions

Equity Incentives

Prior to the election of additional directors and establishment of the compensation committee on July 16 2010 all equity

compensation was recommended by our Co-Chairmen and Co-Chief Executive Officers and approved by the members of the Board

of Directors at the time Following the establishment of the compensation committee on July 16 2010 equity compensation was

reviewed and approved by our compensation commifte

Mr Fernandez de Castro was granted stock options in 2009 in connection with the commencement of his employment In

2009 at the recommendation of the Co-Chairmen and Co-Chief Executive Officers Mr Kozlowski was awarded 30846 stock options

in consideration for his performance and his achievements during the year and the Board of Directors approved such grant Mr
Kozlowskis achievements included his successful and timely implementation and integration of our technology platform in the

businesses acquired by us in 2009

Messrs Perlman and Price as the founders of the Company who designed our business model received no compensation in

2008 and nominal compensation in 2009 as it was initially contemplated that they were to provide management oversight and

assistance with financing acquisition and other strategic matters to the Company As our business continued to grow Messrs Perlman

and Price became fully engaged in numerous areas of the Company on full-time basis including leading the acquisition program

supervising the integration of acquired companies coordinating fmancings to fund our growth recruiting management and executive

level employees and leading and providing management oversight of our operations In light of the foregoing on March 26 2010 the

Board of Directors approved stock option grant to each of Messrs Perlman and Price of stock options to purchase 514110 shares of

common stock of the Company at an exercise price of $6.63 per share The options expire ten years from the date of grant and 257055

of such options vested upon the closing of our initial public offering and the remaining 257055 of such options will vest on the date

that is 12 months following the closing of our initial public offering These stock option awards were further conditioned on Messrs

Perlmans and Prices continued employment for 12 months following the closing of our initial public offering Consequently the

257055 options that vest on the 12-month anniversary following the closing of the initial public offering constitute each of Messrs

Perlman and Prices primary compensation from the Company for that period Messrs Perlman and Price each agreed that they would

not be eligible for any additional grants of equity under the stock incentive plan until the date that is 12 months following the

closing the initial public offering and ii to receive any cash compensation including base salary beyond the minimum required to

qualif for benefits under our benefit plans generally available to our employees other than reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses

incurred on behalf of the Company consistent with Company policy During the course of 2011 the compensation committee will

consider the amount and form of Messrs Perlman and Prices compensation after the 12 month anniversary of the initial public

offering
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On February 15 2010 the Board of Directors approved discretionary stock option grants to certain of our NEOs at the

recommendation of Messrs Penman and Price Mr Fernandez de Castro received stock options to purchase 5182 shares of common
stock of the Company Mr Campbell received stock options to purchase 6477 shares of common stock of the Company Mr
Kozlowski received stock options to purchase 2591 shares of common stock of the Company and Mr LeMaire received stock

options to purchase 25705 shares of common stock of the Company All of the options have an exercise price of $4.86 per share

subject to adjustment as specified in the stock incentive plan The options expire ten years from the date of grant Such options will

vest in one-third annual increments beginning one year from the grant date On July 14 2010 at the recommendation of the Co
Chairmen and Co-Chief Executive Officers Mr LeMaire received stock options to purchase 38588 shares of common stock of the

Company in consideration for his performance and his achievements during the year and the Board of Directors approved such grant

Mr LeMaires achievements included his contribution to the successful re-branding and integration of the companies acquired by us

prior to July 2010 The option grant has an exercise price of $7.79 per share subject to adjustment as specified in the stock incentive

plan vest in one-third annual increments beginning one year from the grant date and expire ten years from the date of grant

Similarly on October 2010 the compensation committee approved discretionary stock option grants to Mr Fernandez de Castro

and Mr Campbell both of whom received stock options to purchase 102822 shares of common stock of the Company to Mr
Kozlowski who received stock options to purchase 51411 shares of common stock of the Company and to Mr LeMaire who
received stock options to purchase 25705 shares of common stock of the Company All of the options have an exercise price of

$11.67 per share subject to adjustment as specified in the stock incentive plan The options expire ten years from the date of grant

Such options will vest in one-third annual increments beginning one year from the grant date See Grants of Plan-Based Awards in

2010 below for information regarding stock options granted to NEOs in 2010

We view equity incentives as means for aligning one aspect of executive compensation with stockholders interests In

addition vesting of equity incentives over continued period of employment can assist in our efforts to retain qualified executive

personnel The amount of an equity award given to an executive officer normally is proposed by senior management to the Board of

Directors and going forward the compensation committee for its consideration and approval While equity incentives are viewed as

longer term forward-looking forms of compensation the recommendation by senior management to award equity incentives other

than in connection with the hiring of new executive generally is based on past performance of the executive on the needs of the

Company to retain that executive and the expected contribution from that executive to the Companys success going forward Stock

option awards in 2009 and 2010 were made under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Companys Amended and Restated

2008 Stock Incentive Plan See Equity Incentive Plans below

Perquisites

Other payments or benefits in the form of perquisites are not significant component of executive compensation Executives

enjoy the same insurance coverages as other employees Our general policies applicable to all employees govern paid vacation and

other time off

Employment Agreements

Other than the standard confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement that we enter into with all of our employees none of the

NIEOs is party to an employment agreement with the Company

Impact of Accounting and Tax Considerations

We maintain awareness of the accounting and tax implications of Sections 162m and 409A of the Internal Revenue Code
Section 162m limits the Companys deduction of certain non-performance based compensation paid to executive officers in excess

of $1 million per year We believe the full deductibility for federal income tax purposes of our executive compensation is not

adversely impacted by Section 162m

Base salary and bonuses are expensed by the Company when the services are rendered base bonuses are expensed ratably

and incentive bonuses are expensed when attainment of financial or operational goals is determinable
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the foregoing Compensation Discussion and Analysis with

management Based on its review and discussion with management the Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that

the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Form 10-K

Respectffihly submitted

William Shutzer Chair

Peter Bach M.D MAPP
Peter Graham

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No current member of our compensation committee has ever been an officer or employee of ours None of our executive

officers serves or has served during the past fiscal year as member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any

other company that has one or more executive officers serving as memberof our Board of Directors or compensation committee

The members of our compensation committee do not have any interlocking relationships as defined under SEC regulations

2010 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth summary information concerning certain compensation awarded to paid to or earned by our

NIEOs for all services rendered to us for fiscal years ended December 31 2009 and 2010

Option All Other

Name and Principal Bonus Awards Compensation

Position Year Salary $2 S3 $4 Total

Richard Perlman 2010 23660 334172 2804 360636

Chairman of the Board1 2009 21840 990217 1012057

James Price

Chief Executive Officer 2010 23660 334172 4101 361933

and Director1 2009 21840 700000 721840

Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Senior Vice President and 2010 200000 447508 13290 660798

Chief Financial Officer 2009 165385 32000 134132 18171 349688

Wesley Campbell 2010 237000 448337 13290 698627

President 2009 237000 32000 18171 287171

Kevin Kozlowski

Vice President and 2010 212000 223754 4990 440744

Chief Information Officer 2009 212000 20000 31620 6144 269764

Joshua LeMaire

Vice President 2010 209000 171487 13296 393783

Sales and Marketing 2009 177346 65000 47683 18171 308200
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From July 2008 through August 11 2010 Messrs Penman and Price each held the office of Co-Chairman of the Board and

Co-Chief Executive Officer

This colunm reports the discretionary bonuses awarded to our NEOs for fiscal year 2010

This column reports the aggregate grant date fair value of awards computed in accordance with stock-based compensation

accounting rules ASC Topic 718 for 2010 discussion of the assumptions used in calculating the award values may be

found in Note to our consolidated fmancial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K Options granted in 2010 to

named executive officers other than Messrs Perlman and Price are exercisable in one-third annual increments beginning one

year from the grant date The options granted to Messrs Perlman and Price in 2010 vest on the date that is 12 months

following the closing of our initial public offering These stock option awards were further conditioned on Messrs Perlman

and Prices continued employment for 12 months following the closing of our initial public offering

See Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
All other compensation for our NEOs for 2009 and 2010 included the following

Miguel

Richard James Fernandez Wesley Kevin Joshua

2010 Perlman Price de Castro Campbell Kozlowski LeMaire

Medical Premiums/HSA

Contributions 2517 3674 11856 11856 4147 11456

Dental Premiums 241 382 928 928 338 928

Short-term long-term and life

insurance premiums 46 46 505 505 505 911

Total 2804 4101 13290 13290 4990 13295

Miguel

Richard James Fernandez Wesley Kevin Joshua

2009 Perlman Price de Castro Campbell Kozlowski LeMaire

Medical Premiums/HSA

Contributions 217 16374 16374 5121 16374

DentalPremiums 1156 1156 381 1156

Short-term long-term and life

insurance premiums 641 641 641 641

Otheri 990000 700000 __________ _________ __________ __________
Total 990217 $700000 18171 18171 6144 18171

Compass Partners was paid approximately $290000 and was issued 739506 shares of Company common stock in 2009

pursuant to Monitoring Fee Agreement in connection with advisory and consulting services and in connection with the termination

of the Companys obligation to pay cash monitoring fees thereunder respectively The 739506 shares were determined to have fair

value of $1.4 million in accordance with stock-based compensation accounting rules ASC Topic 718 for 2009 The Company

therefore incurred approximately $1.7 million of costs under the Monitoring Fee Agreement in 2009 Mr Perlman controls Compass

Partners and owns 99% of the outstanding stock of Compass Partners and Compass Partners directed the Company to issue one half

of such shares to each of Mr Perlman and Mr Price See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Compensation Risk Assessment

As part of its oversight of the Companys executive compensation program the compensation committee considers the

impact of the Companys executive compensation program and the incentives created by the compensation awards that it administers

on the Companys risk profile In addition the Company reviews all of its compensation policies and procedures including the

incentives that they create and factors that may increase the likelihood of excessive risk taking to determine whether they present

significant risk to the Company The compensation committee believes that our compensation programs are designed with the

appropriate balance of risk and reward in relation to our overall business strategy and that the various components of the Companys
overall compensation program taken as whole do not encourage excessive risk taking The compensation committee believes that

the risks arising from our employee compensation policies and practices are not reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on

the Company
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2010

The following table sets forth information regarding grants of awards made to our NEOs during the fiscal year ended

December 31 2010

All Other Grant

Option Awards Exercise or Date Fair

Nnmber of Base Price Value of

Secnrities of Option Stock and

Underlying Awards Option

Name Grant Date Options S/Sh Awards $1
Richard Penman 3/26/2010 514110 6.63 334172

James Price 3/26/2010 514110 6.63 334172

Miguel Fernandez de Castro 2/15/2010 5182 4.86 3316

10/6/2010 102822 11.67 444191

Wesley Campbell 2/15/2010 6478 4.86 4146

10/6/2010 102822 11.67 444191

Kevin Kozlowski 2/15/2010 2591 4.86 1658

10/6/2010 51411 11.67 222096

JoshuaW LeMaire 2/15/2010 25705 4.86 16451

7/14/2010 38588 7.79 43990

10/6/2010 27505 11.67 111046

This column reports the aggregate grant date fair value of awards computed in accordance with stock-based compensation

accounting rules ASC Topic 718 for 2010 discussion of the assumptions used in calculating the award values may be

found in Note to our consolidated fmancial statements included elsewhere in this report Options are exercisable in one

third annual increments beginning one year from the grant date See Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

68



Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End 2010

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding option awards held by our NEOs as of December 31 2010

Option Awards

Number of Number of

Securities Securities

Underlying Underlying

Unexercised Unexercised Option Option

Options Options Exercise Expiration

Name Grant Date Exercisable Unexercisable Price Date

Richard Perlman 3/26/20 10 257055 257055 6.63 3/26/2020

James Price 3/26/2010 257055 257055 6.63 3/26/2020

Miguel Fernandez de Castro 4/3/2009 200462 2.80 4/3/20 19

2/15/2010 5182 4.86 2/15/2020

10/6/2010 102822 11.67 10/6/2020

Wesley Campbell 8/7/2008 204518 2.80 8/7/20 18

2/15/2010 6478 4.86 2/15/2020

10/6/2010 102822 11.67 10/6/2020

Kevin Kozlowski 8/7/2008 100231 2.80 8/7/2018

8/14/2009 30847 3.89 8/14/2019

2/15/2010 2591 4.86 2/15/2020

10/6/2010 51411 11.67 10/6/2020

JoshuaW LeMaire 4/3/2009 51411 2.80 4/3/2019

8/14/2009 12852 3.89 8/14/2009

2/15/2010 25705 4.86 2/15/2020

7/14/20 10 38588 7.79 7/14/2020

10/6/2010 25705 11 10/6/2020

Options granted to NEOs other than Messrs Perlman and Price in 2010 are exercisable in one-third annual

increments beginning one year from the grant date The options granted to Messrs Perlman and Price in 2010 vest on

the date that is 12 months following the closing of our initial public offering These stock option awards were ifirther

conditioned on Messrs Perlmans and Prices continued employment for 12 months following the closing of our

initial public offering

Option Exercises and Stock Vested 2010

The following table sets forth

the number of shares of Common Stock acquired by the executives named in the Summary Compensation

Table upon the exercise of stock options during the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

the aggregate dollar amount realized on the exercise date for such options computed by multiplying the

number of shares acquired by the difference between the market value of the shares on the exercise date

and the exercise price of the options
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Option Awards

Number of

Shares Value

Acquired on Realized

Exercise on Exercise

Name

Richard Penman

James Price

Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Wesley Campbell 46059 555932

Kevin Kozlowski

Joshua LeMaire

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Control

Except with respect to the automatic vesting of options in connection with termination following change of control none of

the NEOs are entitled to receive
any payments upon termination of employment regardless of the reason thereof The table below sets

forth the stock options that would vest and the related exercise price if each of the NIEOs had been terminated as of December 31

2010 following change of control

Number of

Stock

Options Optioa Value

That Will Exercise Realized on

Name Vest Price Vesting

Richard Perlman 257055 6.63 3046102
James Price 257055 6.63 3046102

Miguel Fernandez de Castro 5182 4.86 70579

102822 11.67 700218

Wesley Campbell 6478 4.86 88230

102822 11.67 700218

Kevin Kozlowski 2591 4.86 35289

51411 11.67 350109

JoshuaW LeMaire 25705 4.86 350102

38588 7.79 412506

25705 11.67 175051

Based on closing price of the Companys common stock on December 31 2010 of $18.48

Director Compensation

The following table presents information relating to total compensation of the directors for the fiscal year ended December

31 2010 Information with respect to the compensation of Messrs Perlman and Price is included above in the Summary

Compensation Table but they did not receive any separate compensation for service as director in 2010
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Non-Equity

Incentive Plan

Stock Awards Option Awards Compensation

_______________________________ __________________ _____________________ __________________ ___________

34029

38272

36142

36142

44682

This column reports the grant date fair value of awards computed in accordance with stock-based compensation accounting

rules ASC Topic 718 for 2010 discussion of the assumptions used in calculating the award values may be found in Note

to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

Effective July 16 2010 we amended our director compensation program to provide for cash and equity based retainers to be

paid to non-employee directors as follows Messrs Penman and Price have waived any such compensation for at least one year

following the closing of our initial public offering

Cash Compensation Each non-employee director receives $40000 annual cash retainer The chair of the audit committee

receives an additional annual cash retainer of $5000 and the chairs of the compensation committee and corporate governance and

nominating committee each receive an additional annual cash retainer of $2500 Non-employee directors receive an additional cash

payment of $2500 per additional meeting attended in person if the director attends more than five Board meetings during year or

more than three committee meetings during year on dates different than Board meetings In addition non-employee directors receive

an additional cash payment of $750 per additional meeting attended by telephone if the director attends more than five Board

meetings during year or more than three committee meetings during year on dates different than Board meetings Cash fees are

paid quarterly in arrears to the non-employee directors who were serving as directors at the end of the quarter

Restricted Stock On July 16 2010 each of the following current non-employee directors with the exception of Mr Graham

whose grant took place on October 12 2010 was granted the number of shares of restricted stock pursuant to our Amended and

Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan set forth below Such restricted stock awards shall vest on the one year anniversary of the grant

date or upon change of control

Number of Grant

Restricted Date

Name Grant Date Shares Value $1
Peter Bach M.D MAPP 7/16/2010 10266 34029

Thomas Presby 7/16/20 10 11546 38272

William Shutzer 7/16/2010 10904 36142

David Zenoff 7/16/2010 10904 36142

Peter Graham 10/12/20 10 6853 44682

This column reports the grant date fair value of awards computed in accordance with stock-based compensation accounting

rules ASC Topic 718 for 2010 discussion of the assumptions used in calculating the award values may be found in Note

to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

Name

Peter Bach M.D MAPP

Thomas Presby

William Shutzer

David Zenoff

Peter Graham

Fees earned or

paid in Cash

10000

11250

10625

10625

Change in

Pension Value

and Nonqualified

Deferred

Compensation

Earnings

All Other

Compensation Total

44029

49522

46767

46767

44682
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In addition each non-employee director receives an annual restricted stock grant pursuant to our Amended and Restated 2008

Stock Incentive Plan with value as of each grant date equal to $80000 Further the chair of the audit committee will receive an

additional annual restricted stock grant with value as of each grant date equal to $10000 and the chairs of the compensation

committee and corporate governance and nominating committee will each receive an additional annual restricted stock grant with

value as of each grant date equal to $5000

Expenses We reimburse each non-employee director for ordinary and reasonable expenses incurred in attending board and

board committee meetings

Equity Incentive Plans

Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan

In connection with the Reorganization we assumed the ExamWorks Inc.s 2008 Stock Option Plan and effective July 12

2010 we amended and restated the plan including amending its name to the ExamWorks Group Inc.s Amended and Restated 2008

Stock Incentive Plan which we refer to herein as the Plan This Plan authorizes the Company to make grants of stock options to

purchase shares of common stock stock appreciation rights SARs restricted shares restricted share units RSUs unrestricted

shares deferred share units DSU5 performance and cash-sealed awards and dividend equivalent rights to our employees directors

and/or consultants As of December 31 2010 we have granted stock options to purchase an aggregate of 5253836 shares of common

stock net of expirations and cancellations under the Plan of which options to purchase 1990926 shares of common stock have

vested The initial definition of change of control included in the Plan provided that stock options would automatically vest and

become exercisable upon the closing of an initial public offering Effective February 2010 the definition of change of control was

amended such that unless specifically provided in specific option award agreement future stock option grants will no longer vest

upon the closing of an initial public offering As such stock options to purchase an aggregate of 682991 shares of common stock

vested and became exercisable upon the closing of our initial public offering The following summary of the Plan does not purport to

be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the Plan

maximum of 10282200 shares is available for issuance under the Plan with such total number of shares being adjusted

for future stock splits stock dividends recapitalizations and other similar transactions The shares of our common stock that are

subject to any award that expire or are forfeited cancelled settled or become unexercisable without the issuance of shares will again

be available for subsequent awards We receive no cash consideration for the granting of awards under the Plan However if stock

option were to be exercised we would receive the exercise price for the shares being purchased unless the exercise occurs pursuant to

cashless alternative that the committee pproves

The Plan was approved by written consent of our stockholders on September 15 2010 Stockholder approval of the Plan

primarily enables us to satisfy New York Stock Exchange listing requirements and to make awards that qualify as performance-based

compensation that is exempt from the deduction limitation set forth under Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended the Code Section 162m generally limits the corporate income tax deduction to $1000000 annually for the non

performance-based compensation paid to each of the Chief Executive Officer and the three other highest paid executive officers of the

Company other than the Chief Financial Officer

Administration of the Plan is carried out by our compensation committee provided that our Board may act in lieu of the

compensation committee at any time Either our compensation committee or our Board of Directors may delegate its authority under

the Plan to one or more officers but it may not delegate its authority with respect to making awards to individuals subject to Section 16

of the Exchange Act As used in this summary the term administrator means the compensation committee or the Board of Directors or

its delegate if any The Plan provides that we and our affiliates will indemnify members of the administrative committee and their

delegates against any claims liabilities or costs arising from the good faith performance of their duties under the Plan
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Subject to the terms of the Plan the administrator has express authority to determine the eligible persons who will receive

awards the number of shares of our common stock to be covered by each award and the terms and conditions of awards The

administrator has broad discretion to prescribe amend and rescind rules relating to the Plan and its administration to interpret and

construe the Plan and the terms of all award agreements and to take all actions necessary or advisable to administer the Plan Within

the limits of the Plan the administrator may accelerate the vesting of any awards allow the exercise of unvested awards and may
modify replace cancel or renew any awards

The administrator may grant options that are intended to qualify as incentive stock options ISOs only to employees if

any and may grant all other awards to eligible persons Stock options granted under the Plan will provide award recipients or

participants with the right to purchase shares of our common stock at predetermined exercise price The administrator may grant

stock options that are intended to qualify as ISOs or that are not intended to so qualify Non-ISOs The Plan also provides that ISO

treatment may not be available for stock options that become first exercisable in any calendar year to the extent the value of the shares

that are the subject of the stock option exceed $100000 based upon the fair market value of the shares of our common stock on the

option grant date

An SAR generally permits participant who receives it to receive upon exercise cash and/or shares of our common stock

equal in value to the excess of the fair market value on the date of exercise of the shares of our common stock with respect to which

the SAR is being exercised over the exercise price of the SAR for such shares The administrator may grant SARs in tandem with

options or independently of them SARs that are independent of options may limit the value payable on its exercise to percentage

The exercise price of ISOs Non-ISOs and SARs may not be less than 100% of the fair market value on the grant date of the

shares of our common stock subject to the award although the exercise price of ISOs may not be less than 110% of the fair market

value on the grant date of the underlying shares of our common stock subject to the award for participants who own more than 10% of

our shares of common stock on the grant date To the extent vested and exercisable in accordance with the agreement granting them
stock option or SAR may be exercised in whole or in part and from time to time during its term subject to earlier termination relating

to holders termination of employment or service With respect to stock options unless otherwise provided in an award agreement

payment of the exercise price may be made in any of the following forms or combination of them cash or check in U.S dollars

certain shares of our common stock cashless exercise under program the administrator approves or certain full recourse promissory

notes approved by the administrator

The term over which participants may exercise stock options and SARs may not exceed ten years from the date of grant five

years in the case of ISOs granted to employees who at the time of grant own more than 10% of our outstanding shares of common

stock Under the Plan subject to certain exceptions no participant may receive stock options and SARs that relate to more than

2056440 shares of our common stock issuable under the Plan during the term of the Plan

Under the Plan the administrator may grant restricted stock that is forfeitable until certain vesting requirements are met may

grant RSUs that represent the right to receive shares of our common stock after certain vesting requirements are met or cash under

certain circumstances and may grant unrestricted stock as to which the participants interest is immediately vested For restricted

awards the Plan provides the administrator with discretion to determine the terms and conditions under which participants interests

in such awards become vested

The Plan also authorizes awards of deferred share units in order to permit certain directors officers consultants or select

members of management to defer their receipt of compensation payable in cash or shares of our common stock including shares that

would otherwise be issued upon the vesting of restricted stock and RSUs Deferred share units represent future right to receive

shares of our common stock

The Plan authorizes the administrator to grant performance-based awards in the form of performance units that the

administrator may or may not designate as performance compensation awards that are intended to be exempt from Code Section

162m limitations In either case performance units will vest and/or become payable based upon the achievement within the

specified period of time of performance objectives applicable to the individual us or any affiliate Performance units will be payable

in shares of common stock cash or some combination of the two subject to an individual participant limit of 2056440 shares

subject to adjustment or if seffled in cash $8000000 The administrator will decide the length of performance periods but the

periods may not be less than one fiscal year
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With respect to performance compensation awards the Plan requires that the administrator specify in writing the performance

period to which the award relates and an objective formula by which to measure whether and the extent to which the award is earned

on the basis of the level of performance achieved with respect to one or more performance measures Once established for

performance period the performance measures and performance formula applicable to the award may not be amended or modified in

manner that would cause the compensation payable under the award to fail to constitute performance-based compensation under

Code Section 162m Under the Plan the possible performance measures for performance compensation awards may include one or

more of the following applied in total or on per share basis basic diluted or adjusted earnings per share ii sales or revenue

iii EBITDA or earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization and other adjustments iv basic or adjusted net

income returns on equity assets capital revenue or similar measure vi economic value added vii working capital viii total

stockholder return and ix cash flow margin product development product market share research licensing litigation human

resources information services mergers acquisitions and sales of assets of affiliates or business units

Each performance measure will be to the extent applicable determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles as consistently applied by us or such other standard applied by the administrator and if so determined by the administrator

and in the case of performance compensation award to the extent permitted under Code Section 162m adjusted to omit the effects

of extraordinary items gain or loss on the disposal of business segment unusual or infrequently occurring events and transactions

and cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles Performance measures may vary from performance period to performance

period and from participant to participant and may be established on stand-alone basis in tandem or in the alternative

As condition to the issuance of shares of our common stock pursuant to awards the Plan requires satisfaction of any

applicable federal state local or foreign withholding tax obligations that may arise in connection with the award or the issuance of

shares of our common stock

Finally the Plan authorizes the awarding of dividend equivalent rights to any eligible person These rights may be

independent of other awards or attached to awards other than stock options and SARs and in all cases represent the participants

right to collect any dividends that we declare and pay to our stockholders during the term of the dividend equivalent right Unless an

award agreement provides otherwise the distributions attributable to dividend equivalent rights that are attached to other awards shall

occur when shares of our common stock are issued to settle the underlying award

Awards may not be sold pledged assigned hypothecated transferred or disposed of other than by will or the laws of

descent and distribution except to the extent the administrator permits lifetime transfers to charitable institutions certain family

members or related trusts or as otherwise approved by the administrator

The administrator will equitably adjust the number of shares covered by each outstanding award and the number of shares

that have been authorized for issuance under the Plan but as to which no awards have yet been granted or that have been returned to

the Plan upon cancellation forfeiture or expiration of an award as well as the price per share covered by each such outstanding

award to reflect any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares resulting from stock split reverse stock split stock

dividend combination recapitalization or reclassification of the shares of our common stock or any other increase or decrease in the

number of issued shares effected without receipt of consideration by us In the event of any such transaction or event the

administrator may and shall if we are not the surviving entity or our shares are no longer outstanding provide in substitution for any

or all outstanding awards under the Plan such alternative consideration including securities of any surviving entity as it may in good

faith determine to be equitable under the circumstances and may require in connection therewith the surrender of all options so

replaced In any case such substitution of securities will not require the consent of any person who is granted awards pursuant to the

Plan
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In addition in the event or in anticipation of change of control as defmed in the Plan subject to the terms of any award

agreements the administrator may at any time in its sole and absolute discretion and authority without obtaining the approval or

consent of our stockholders or any participant with respect to his or her outstanding awards except to the extent an award provides

otherwise take one or more of the following actions arrange for or otherwise provide that each outstanding award will be assumed

or substituted with substantially equivalent award by successor corporation or parent or subsidiary of such successor corporation

ii accelerate the vesting of awards so that awards shall vest and to the extent applicable become exercisable as to the shares of our

common stock that otherwise would have been unvested and provide that our repurchase rights with respect to shares of our common

stock issued upon exercise of an award shall lapse as to the shares of our common stock subject to such repurchase right iiiarrange

or otherwise provide for payment of cash or other consideration to participants in exchange for the satisfaction and cancellation of

outstanding awards or iv terminate all or some of the awards upon consummation of the transaction provided that all awards so

terminated are vested in fill immediately prior to the consummation of such transaction

Notwithstanding the above the Plan provides that in the event participant holding an award assumed or substituted by the

successor corporation in change of control is involuntarily terminated as defined in the Plan by the successor corporation in

connection with or within 12 months following the change of control then any assumed or substituted award held by the terminated

participant at the time of termination shall accelerate and become fully vested and exercisable in full in the case of options and SARs

and any repurchase right applicable to any shares of our common stock shall lapse in full The acceleration of vesting and lapse of

repurchase rights provided for in the previous sentence shall occur immediately prior to the effective date of the participants

termination Finally if we dissolve or liquidate all awards will immediately terminate subject to the ability of our Board of Directors

to exercise any discretion that the Board of Directors may exercise in the case of change of control

The Plan shall terminate on July 14 2018 unless terminated prior to such date by the Board of Directors Our Board of

Directors may from time to time amend alter suspend discontinue or terminate the Plan provided that no amendment suspension

or termination of the Plan shall materially and adversely affect awards already granted unless it is required by applicable law relates

to an adjustment pursuant to certain change of control transactions or it is otherwise mutually agreed between the participant and the

administrator

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 2011

subject to certain assumptions set forth in the footnotes for

each stockholder or group of affiliated stockholders who we know beneficially owns mre than 5% of the outstanding

shares of our common stock

each of our current directors

each of our named executive officers and

all of our current directors and current executive officers as group

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with rules of the SEC and generally includes any shares over which

person exercises sole or shared voting andlor investment power Shares of common stock subject to options and warrants currently

exercisable or exercisable within 60 days are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of the person holding the

options but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other person Except as otherwise indicated

we believe the beneficial owners of the common stock listed below based on information furnished by them have sole voting and

investment power with respect to the number of shares listed opposite their names

The number of shares and percentages of beneficial ownership prior to this offering set forth below are based on 33682983

shares of common stock outstanding as of March 2011

Unless otherwise indicated the address of each of the individuals and entities named in the table below under 5%
Stockholders and Named Executive Officers and Directors is ExamWorks Group Inc 3280 Peachtree Road N.E Suite 2625

Atlanta GA 30305
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Amount and

Nature of Percent of

Beneficial Outstanding

Name of Beneficial Owner Ownership Shares

5% Stockholders

ExamWorks Holdings LLLP2 6055216 18.0%

Entities affiliated with Federated Investors Inc 2848733 8.5%

Named Executive Officers and Directors

Richard Perlman4 6682024 19.8%

James Prices 1736410 5.2%

Wesley Campbell6 231908

Miguel Fernandez de Castro7 333485 1.0%

Kevin Kozlowski8 240243

JoshuaW LeMaire9 125819

Peter Bach10 17977

PeterM Graham11 45411

Thomas Presby12 161304

William Shutzer13 1146731 3.4%

David Zenoff14 26327

All directors and executive officers as group 13 persons15 8470284 25.1%

less than 1%

This column lists all shares of common stock beneficially owned including all shares of common stock that can be acquired

through warrant or option exercises within 60 days of March 2011 The beneficial ownership of certain officers and

directors is shown as if shares of common stock have been distributed by ExamWorks Holdings LLLP Holdings to its

partners Other than Mr Perlman those certain officers and directors disclaim beneficial ownership of common stock

currently owned by Holdings

The sole general partner of Holdings is Compass Partners Mr Perlman is the President of Compass Partners and is also

limited partner of Holdings Holdings address is ExamWorks Holdings LLLP do Richard Perlman 655 Madison

Avenue 23rd Floor New York NY 10065

Based on the most recently available Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 10 2011 Federated Investors Inc

Federated is the parent holding company of Federated Equity Management Company of Pennsylvania and Federated

Global Investment Management Corp the Investment Advisers which act as investment advisers to registered investment

companies and separate accounts that own shares of common stock in ExamWorks the ExamWorks Securities The

Investment Advisers are wholly owned subsidiaries of FIl Holdings Inc which is wholly owned subsidiary of Federated

All of Federateds outstanding voting stock is held in the Voting Shares Irrevocable Trust the Trust for which John

Donahue Rhodora Donahue and Christopher Donahue act as trustees collectively the Trustees The Trustees joined

in filing the Schedule 13G because of the collective voting control that they exercise over Federated In accordance with Rule

13d-4 under the Securities Act of 1934 as amended Federated the Trust and each of the Trustees disclaim beneficial

ownership of the ExamWorks Securities Federateds address is Investors Tower Pittsburgh PA 15222-3779
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Shares beneficially owned by Mr Perlman include 257055 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of currently

vested stock options and ii 6055216 shares of common stock currently owned by Holdings which is controlled by Mr
Perlman If Holdings distributed such shares of common stock to its limited partners Mr Penman would own 986213

shares of common stock directly ii 112342 shares of common stock through Roth IRA and iii 11567 shares of

common stock indirectly through Compass Partners

Shares beneficially owned by Mr Price include 257055 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of currently

vested stock options and ii 1109602 shares of common stock currently owned by Holdings which Mr Price would own if

distributed by Holdings to its limited partners

Shares beneficially owned by Mr Campbell include 206678 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of currently

vested stock options and ii 25230 shares of common stock currently owned by Holdings which Mr Campbell would own

if distributed by Holdings to its limited partners

Shares beneficially owned by Mr Fernandez de Castro include 202190 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of

currently vested stock options and ii 75690 shares of common stock currently owned by Holdings which Mr Fernandez de

Castro would own if distributed by Holdings to its limited partners

Shares beneficially owned by Mr Kozlowski include 131942 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of currently

vested stock options and ii 63075 shares of common stock currently owned by Holdings which Mr Kozlowski would own
if distributed by Holdings to its limited partners

Shares beneficially owned by Mr LeMaire include 72830 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of currently vested

stock options

10 Shares beneficially owned by Dr Bach include 10266 shares of restricted stock issued pursuant to the Companys Amended

and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan the Plan that are not yet vested but are eligible to be voted The restricted shares

will vest upon the earlier of July 16 2011 and ii the occurrence of change of control as defined in the Plan

11 Shares beneficially owned by Mr Graham include 6853 shares of restricted stock issued pursuant to the Plan that are not yet

vested but are eligible to be voted The restricted shares will vest upon the earlier of July 16 2011 and ii the occurrence

of an event of change of control as defined in the Plan

12 Shares beneficially owned by Mr Presby include 7712 shares of common stOck issuable upon exercise of currently vested

stock options ii 63075 shares of common stock currently owned by Holdings which Mr Presby would own if distributed

by Holdings to its limited partners and iii 11546 shares of restricted stock issued pursuant to the Plan that are not yet

vested but are eligible to be voted The restricted shares will vest upon the earlier of July 16 2011 and the occurrence

of an event of change of control as defined in the Plan

13 Shares beneficially owned by Mr Shutzer include 1110122 shares of common stock currently owned by Holdings half

of which Mr Shutzer would own directly and half of which Mr Shutzer would own through the Shutzer Family Grantor

Retained Annuity Trnst if distributed by Holdings to its limited partners and ii 10904 shares of restricted stock issued

pursuant to the Plan that are not yet vested but are eligible no be voted The restricted shares will vest upon the earlier of

July 16 2011 and the occurrence of change of control as defined in the Plan Mr Shutzer disclaims beneficial

ownership of 25705 shares owned by the Shutzer Family Limited Partnership of which Mr Shutzers wife is general

partner

14 Shares beneficially owned by Mr Zenoff include 10904 shares of restricted stock issued pursuant to the Plan that are not yet

vested but are eligible to be voted The restricted shares will vest upon the earlier of July 16 2011 and ii the occurrence

of change of control as defined in the Plan

15 Shares beneficially owned include 1242567 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options and 6055216 shares

currently owned by Holdings which is indirectly controlled by our Executive Chairman Mr Perlman
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

In addition to the director and executive officer compensation arrangements discussed above under Executive

Compensation the following is description of transactions since January 2010 to which we have been party in which the

amount involved or exceeded or will exceed $120000 and in which any of our directors executive officers beneficial holders of more

than 5% of our capital stock or persons or entities affiliated with them had or will have direct or indirect material interest

Monitoring Fee Agreement

We entered into Monitoring Fee Agreement dated July 14 2008 as amended the Monitoring Fee Agreement with

Compass Partners L.L.C Compass Partners which is the general partner of our majority stockholder ExamWorks Holdings

LLLP Our Executive Chairman of the Board Richard Perlman owns 99% of Compass Partners and his wife owns the remaining

1% In accordance with the Monitoring Fee Agreement Compass Partners rendered to us monitoring advisory and consulting services

in relation to our debt and equity offerings dispositions or acquisitions and other similar transactions In consideration of the services

provided we originally agreed to pay Compass Partners monitoring fee equal to 5% of our Adjusted EBITDA In order to among

other things maximize the amount of cash available to us the Board of Directors determined that it was in the Companys and its

stockholders best interest to eliminate our obligation to pay Compass Partners this monitoring fee Accordingly the Monitoring Fee

Agreement was amended to eliminate the ongoing obligation to pay
the monitoring fee in exchange for the one-time issuance of

739506 shares issued in connection with our private placement of comjuon stock on January 2010 Compass Partners directed us to

issue one half of such shares to each of Richard Penman and James Price The number of shares issued was determined based on

the present value of projected future cash payments due to Compass Partners as determined by an independent appraisal obtained by

us In addition to the 739506 shares which were determined to have fair value of $1.4 million we paid Compass Partners

approximately $290000 in cash pursuant to the Monitoring Fee Agreement for services rendered prior to the effectiveness of the

amendment described above As result we incurred approximately $1.7 million of costs under the Monitoring Fee Agreement in

2009 The Monitoring Fee Agreement terminated upon the completion of our initial public offering with the exception of the

indemnification provisions set forth in the Monitoring Fee Agreement which survive its termination

RedRidge Finance Group

RedRidge Finance Group RedRidge provides us with financial due diligence services in connection with our acquisition

program and served as our financial advisor with respect to our prior credit facility Investments LLC PP company

owned by Richard Perlman and James Price owns approximately 33% of RedRidge Pursuant to letter agreement dated

December 11 2009 as subsequently amended Richard Perlman and James Price agreed to waive any right to distributions from

RedRidge related to all fees RedRidge receives in connection with services provided to the Company In 2010 we paid RedRidge

approximately $725000 for diligence services and $425000 in connection with our prior credit facility in each case for services

rendered during 2010

Consulting and Services Agreements

The Company is party to certain services agreements with each of Dr Edward Decter and Dr Steven Robbins

During 2010 Dr Robbins and Dr Decter each owned over 5% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company The services

agreements set forth the terms and conditions upon which Dr Decter and Dr Robbins are entitled to compensation for IMEs and other

services performed by them on behalf of the Company Such services agreements provide that Dr Decter and Dr Robbins are to be

provided with minimum number of ilviEs and speciJ the minimum percentage fee they are entitled to These services agreements

are for an initial term of three years expiring on July 13 2011 and thereafter automatically renew from year to year unless terminated

by either party In 2010 Dr Decter and Dr Robbins received an aggregate of approximately $1.1 million and $415000 respectively

for lIME services performed pursuant to these services agreements

In addition the Company is party to certain consulting agreements with Dr Decter and Dr Robbins pursuant to which Dr

Decter and Dr Robbins have agreed to provide certain business training marketing recruiting and strategic advice related to our

business as may be reasonably requested by us These consulting agreements are for an initial term of three years expiring on July 13

2011 and thereafter automatically renew from year to year unless terminated by either party If services are requested under these

consulting agreements Dr Decter and Dr Robbins are entitled to consulting fees at an hourly rate of $500 up to $4000 per day In

2010 no payments were made to Dr Decter and Dr Robbins under the consulting agreements
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PerPrice Aviation Inc Arrangement

In 2010 the Company utilized private planes when necessary for business operations using NetJets Inc NetJets share

belonging to PerPrice Aviation Inc Georgia corporation PerPrice Mr Perlman and Mr Price each own 50% of the total

outstanding shares of PerPrice PerPrice was reimbursed for the actual cost incurred in connection with the Companys use of the

NetJets share in 2010 which totaled approximately $311000 The Company does not expect to incur any further costs through this

arrangement with PerPrice

Compass Partners Lease

In June 2010 the company entered into lease agreement with Compass for corporate office space located at 655 Madison

Avenue 23rd Floor New York NY Pursuant to the lease which runs from April 2010 through June 30 2014 the company paid

Compass rental fee of $10080 per month in 2010 which fee was subject to increase commencing January 2011 based on

proportionate pass through of base rent increases and increases for property taxes and building operating expenses The aggregate

amount of all periodic rental payments we made to Compass for such office space in 2010 is $102720 In addition in June 2010 the

company paid Compass $40320 as advance rent payment for the last four months of the lease and approximately $62000 as our share

of leasehold improvements Prior to the entry into this lease agreement the company did not incur costs in excess of $120000 per

year with respect to leasing this corporate office space
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Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Audit Fees and All Other Fees

Audit Fees

Fees for audit services totaled approximately $1.6 million in 2010 and no amounts were incurred in 2009 Audit fees

principally include fees relating to audits of fiscal years 2008 2009 2010 and acquisitions

Audit-Related Fees

Fees for audit related services totaled approximately $297000 in 2010 and no amounts were incurred in 2009 Audit related

services principally include fees related to the initial public offering

Tax Fees

The Company did not pay its principal accountant any tax fees in 2010 or in 2009

All Other Fees

The Company did not pay its principal accountant any other fees in 2010 or in 2009

The Audit Committee pre-approves all services for which the principal accountant is engaged

We have been advised by KPMG LLP that neither the firm nor any member firm has any financial interest direct or

indirect in any capacity in the Company or its subsidiaries
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Report

Financial Statements

Description

ExamWorks Group Inc and Subsidiaries

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2009 and 2010 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31 2008 2009

and2OlO F-4

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders Equity for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

CFO Medical Services P.A Predecessor Company

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-35

Statement of Operations for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 F-36

Statement of Cash Flows for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 F-37

Notes to Financial Statements F-3

Financial Statement Schedules

The following Financial Statement Schedule for the Registrant is filed as part of this Report and should be read in

conjunction with the Registrants Financial Statements

Description

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 86

Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Title

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated June 23 2010 by and among ExamWorks Group Inc ExamWorks Inc

and Exam Works Merger Sub Inc filed as Exhibit 2.1 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of ExamWorks

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Exam Works

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate of ExamWorks filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 21 2010

and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.1 Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 18 2009 by and among ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries

party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.1 to Amendment No to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.2 Consent and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and among

ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank filed as Exhibit 10.1.2 to

Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein
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10.1.3 Consent and Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and

among ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative

agent for the lenders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.3 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.1.4 Consent and Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and among

ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative agent for

the lenders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.4 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

10.1.5 Consent and Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and

among ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative

agent for the lenders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.5 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.1.6 Consent and Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of January 19 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Filth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.6

to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.7 Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 12 2010 by and among ExamWorks

Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.7 to Amendment

No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

on October 26 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.8 Second Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 15 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.8

to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.9 Third Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 15 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.9

to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.10 Fourth Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 26 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.10

to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.11 Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of April 26 2010 by and among ExamWorks Inc
its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.11 to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.1.12 Seventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 10 2010 by and among ExamWorks
Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative agent for the lenders

party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.12 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

82



10.1.13 Eighth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 23 2010 by and among ExamWorks

Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and General Electric Capital Corporation

filed as Exhibit 10.1.13 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.14 Ninth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 30 2010 by and among ExamWorks Inc
its subsidiaries party thereto Exam Works Canada Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and General Electric

Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.14 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

10.1.15 Fifth Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of America

and General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.15 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010

and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.16 Tenth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 2010 by and among ExamWorks

Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc Fiftb Third Bank Bank of America and General

Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.16 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.1.17 Eleventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and General Electric Capital

Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.17 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference

herein

10.1.18 Twelfth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Europe Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of America

and General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.18 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010

and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.19 Sixth Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of October 2010 by and among
ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc ExamWorks Europe Inc Fifth Third

Bank Bank of America and General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.19 to Amendment No
to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

October 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.20 Consent under Loan and Security Agreement dated as of October 11 2010 by and among ExamWorks Inc its

subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and General Electric

Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.20 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 13 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

10.2.1 Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant effective as of July 12 2010 filed as

Exhibit 10.2.1 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.2.2 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.2.2 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference

herein

10.2.3 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.2.3 to ExamWorks Registration Statement

on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein
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10.2.4 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.2.4 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference

herein

10.3.1 Stockholders Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and among ExamWorks Holdings LLLP the stockholders

party thereto and ExamWorks Inc filed as Exhibit 10.3.1 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.3.2 Amendment to Stockholders Agreement effective as of July 14 2008 by and between ExamWorks Holdings

LLLP and ExamWorks Inc filed as Exhibit 10.3.2 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.3.3 Second Amendment to Stockholders Agreement dated as of March 12 2010 by and among ExamWorks Inc
ExamWorks Holdings LLLP and the stockholders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.3.3 to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.4 Form of Warrant to purchase Common Stock dated May 2010 filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
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10.5 Registration Rights Agreement dated May 2010 by and among ExamWorks Inc Broadband Capital

Management LLC and the officers and employees of Broadband Capital Management LLC party thereto filed as

Exhibit 10.5 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein
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L.L.C Monitoring Fee Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration
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ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
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10.14 Form of due diligence letter with RedRidge filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010
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10.1 Consulting Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFO Medical Services Inc and Edward Decter

M.D filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No ito ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with
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iO.i6 Consulting Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFOMedical Services Inc and Steven Robbins

M.D filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No ito ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with
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iO.i7 Administrative Services and Support Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFO Medical Services

Inc and Edward Decter M.D filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration
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10.1 Administrative Services and Support Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFO Medical Services

Inc and Steven Robbins M.D filed as Exhibit 10.18 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.19 Credit Agreement dated as of October ii 2010 among ExamWorks Group Inc Delaware corporation the

Guarantors party thereto the Lenders party thereto and Bank of America N.A in its capacity as administrative

agent filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October i3 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.20 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of January ii 2011 by and among ExamWorks Group Inc ExamWorks

Inc IVIES Group Inc George Turek and the minority shareholders of IVIES Group Inc set forth therein
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21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 3a- 14a and lSd- 14a
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 3a- 14a and Sd- 14a
32.1 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

Confidential treatment was granted for certain portions which are omitted in the
copy

of the exhibit electronically filed with the

SEC The omitted information was filed separately with the SEC pursuant to our application for confidential treatment

Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SCHEDULE II

EXAIvIWORKS GROUP INC
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Charged to

Begininng Costs and Ending

Balance Expenses Deductions Acquisitions Balance

Year ended December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts 322 127 106 301

Deferred income tax valuation allowance 85 85

Year ended December 31 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts 301 226 208 113 432

Deferred income tax valuation allowance

Year ended December 31 2010

Allowance for doubtful accounts 432 173 109 319 815

Deferred income tax valuation allowance

All financial statement schedules not listed are omifted because they are inapplicable or the requested information is shown in

the financial statements of the Registrant or in the related notes to the consolidated financial statements
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused

this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized on this 11th day of March 2011

EXAMWOEKS GROUP INC

By /5/ Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

/5/ Richard Penman Chairman of the Board and Director March 11 2011

Richard Perlman

Is James Price Chief Executive Officer and March 112011

James Price Director Principal Executive Officer

Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro Senior Vice President and Chief Financial March 11 2011

Miguel Fernandez de Castro Officer Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer

Is Peter Bach Director March 11 2011

Peter B.Bach

Is Peter Graham Director .1arch 11 2011

Peter Graham

Is Thomas Presby Director March 11 2011

Thomas Presby

Is William Shutzer Director March 11 2011

William Shutzer

Is David Zenoff Director March 11 2011

David Zenoff
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

ExamWorks Group Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Exam Works Group Inc and subsidiaries the Company
as of December 31 2009 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss stockholders

equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 In connection with our audits of the

consolidated financial statements we also have audited the financial statement schedule included in Item 15a2 These consolidated

financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made

by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2010 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in

our opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated fmancial statements taken

as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

Is KPMG LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 112011
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EXAMWORICS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands except share and per share amounts

December 31

2009 2010

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1499 33624

Accounts receivable net 8506 38638

Other receivables 57 33

Prepaid expenses 793 2175

Deferred tax assets 642 68

Other current assets 42

Total current assets 11497 74580

Equipment and leasehold improvements net 1972 4870

Goodwill 32395 90582

Intangible assets net 26902 66914

Deferred tax assets noncurrent 1948 7669

Deferred financing costs net 1680 4176

Other assets 153 271

Total assets 76547 249062

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 6819 19999

Accrued expenses 2057 9414

Deferred revenue 64 272

Due to related parties 4936

Current portion of long-term debt 3263

Current portion of subordinated unsecured notes payable 1565 2312

Current portion of contingent earnout obligation 442 2478

Other current liabilities 1725 3105

Total current liabilities 20871 37580

Revolving line of credit and discount facility 600 4998

Long-term debt less current portion 29371

Long-term subordinated unsecured notes payable less current portion 3552 2546

Long-term contingent earnout obligation less current portion 500 2032

Other long-term liabilities 1253 1666

Total liabilities 56147 48822

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $0.0001 par value Authorized 50000000 shares no shares issued and

outstanding at December 31 2009 and 2010

Common stock $0.000 par value Authorized 250000000 shares issued and outstanding

12356942 and 32216104 shares at December 31 2009 and 2010 respectively

Additional paid-in capital 27202 211861

Accumulated other comprehensive income 1216

Accumulated deficit 6802 12840
Total stockholders equity 20400 200240

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 76547 249062

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

In thousands except share and per share amounts

For the years ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

Revenues 14694 49634 163511

Costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 9828 32026 103606

Selling general and administrative expenses 4610 15811 37689

Depreciation and amortization 2392 6889 19505

Total costs and expenses 16830 54726 160800

Income loss from operations 2136 5092 2711

Interest and other expenses net

Interest expense net 515 1807 8178

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 461 3169

Loss gain on interest rate swap 955 343 42

Realized foreign currency gain 156
Total interest and other expenses net 1470 1925 11233

Loss before income taxes 3606 7017 8522
Income tax benefit 1434 2613 2484

Net loss 2172 4404 6038

Per share data

Net loss per share

Basic and diluted 0.44 0.42 0.33

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 4895962 10479155 18500859

Comprehensive Loss

Net loss 2172 4404 6038
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1216

Total comprehensive loss 2172 4404 4822

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity

In thousands except share amounts

Balances at Januasy

2008

Issuance of common stock

net of related costs for

cash

Issuance of common stock

for acquisitions

Share-based compensation

Net loss

Balances at December 31
2008

Issuance of common stock

net of related costs for

cash

Issuance of common stock

for acquisitions

Share based compensation

Net loss

Balances at December31

2009

Issuance of preferred stock

net of related costs for

cash

Issuance of common stock

in exchange for

preferred stock

Issuance of common stock

in public offering net of

issuance costs

Issuance of common stock

net of related costs for

cash and services

Issuance of common stock

net of related costs for

termination of

agreement

Issuance of common stock

net of related costs to

settle earn out

obligations

Issuance of common stock

for acquisitions

Issuance of common stock

for the exercise of

options and warrants

Issuance of common stock

for board services

Share-based compensation

Excess tax benefit on

share-based

compensation

Net loss

Other comprehensive

income

Foreign currency

translation

adjustments

Balances at December31

2010

Series convertible

preferred stuck Common stuck

Shares Amount Shares Amount

5860854

3853840

10023160

210204

2123578

Additional

paid-in Accumulated othcr

capital

481

11520

10819

101

22921

560

3503

218

comprehensive income

1216

1216

Total

Accumulated stockholders

deficit equity

226 255

11520

10819

101

2172 2.172

2398 20523

560

3503

218

4404 4404

6802 20400

32421

308466

12356942 27202

4975180 33000 579

4975180 33000 4975180 33000

9290114 133694

1464392 2966

739506 1434

103947 576

3035851 10075

199699 703

50473

1816

974

32216104 211861

133695

2966

1434

576

10076

703

1816

974

6038 6038

1216

12840 200240

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In thousands

For the years ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

Operating activities

Net loss 2172 4404 6038
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in provided by operating

activities

Loss gain on interest rate swap 955 343 42

Depreciation and amortization 2392 6889 19505

Amortization of deferred rent 101 71 61
Share-based compensation 101 218 1816

Provision for doubtful accounts 322 226 173

Amortization of deferred financing costs 53 132 872

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 461 3169

Deferred income taxes 1450 2723 5406
Other 10

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 173 1100 2098
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 100 141 560

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 596 2982 4972

Deferred revenue and customer deposits 78 270 917
Due to related parties and other current liabilities

______________ 1887 1714

Net cash used in provided by operating activities 289 4177 18303

Investing activities

Cash paid for acquisitions net 22731 25707 115225
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements 358 1559 1330
Working capital and other settlements for acquisitions 1482 418

Other 84
Net cash used in investing activities 23173 25775 116537

Financing activities

Issuance of preferred stock net 32421

Issuance of common stock net 11519 560 136660

Proceeds from the exercise of options and warrants 703

Excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation 974

Borrowings under credit facility 12390 40134 67315

Borrowings repayments under revolving line of credit and discount facility 1500 900 4397

Payments under credit facility 651 19238 99950
Payment of deferred fmancing costs 509 1817 6534
Repayment of subordinated unsecured notes payable 345 2167
Advances repayments from related parties 3500 3500

Net cash provided by financing activities 24249 21894 130319

Exchange rate impact on cash and cash equivalents ______________
40

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 787 296 32125

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 416 1203 1499

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 1203 1499 33624

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities

Issuance of common stock for acquisitions 10819 3503 10075

Issuance of subordinated unsecured notes payable for acquisitions 5512 1747

Issuance of deferred payments for acquisitions 389

Issuance of common stock to settle eamout obligations 576

Isssuance of common stock for termination of agreement 1434

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 457 1332 4994

Cash paid for income taxes 207 231

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2008 2009 and 2010

Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

ExamWorks Group Inc is leading provider of independent medical examinations IMEs peer and bill reviews and related

services IME services or the lIME industry ExamWorks Inc was incorporated as Delaware corporation on April 27 2007 In

2008 ExamWorks Inc acquired three companies operating in the independent medical examination IME industry In 2009

ExamWorks Inc acquired 11 other IME companies including provider of software solutions to the IME industry In 2010

ExamWorks Inc acquired 14 additional IME companies As of December 31 2010 ExamWorks Inc operates out of 27 service

centers serving all 50 United States Canada and the United Kingdom In June 2010 ExamWorks Inc effected corporate

reorganization creating holding company ExamWorks Group Inc with ExamWorks Inc becoming wholly-owned subsidiary of

ExamWorks Group Inc ExamWorks or the Company The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ExamWorks

and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Stock Split

On October 12 2010 the Board of Directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation that effected

stock split of every outstanding shares of preferred stock and common stock into 5.1411 shares of preferred stock or common stock

respectively The par value of the common and convertible preferred stock was not adjusted as result of the stock split All issued

and outstanding common stock convertible preferred stock warrants and options for common stock and per share amounts contained

in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this stock split for all periods presented The Board of Directors

also approved an increase in the authorized capital to 250.0 million shares of common stock and 50.0 million shares of preferred stock

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting

period Management bases its estimates on certain assumptions which they believe are reasonable in the circumstances and actual

results could differ from those estimates The more significant estimates reflected in these consolidated financial statements include

the valuation of equity issued purchase price allocations useful lives of intangible assets potential impairment of goodwill and

intangible assets the allowance for doubtful accounts and the valuation of share-based compensation and derivative instruments

Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated into U.S dollars at the exchange rate on the balance sheet

date Revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year Translation adjustments resulting

from this process are recorded to other comprehensive income

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be

cash equivalents The Company had no cash equivalents as of December 31 2009 and 2010

Accounts Receivable andAllowance for DoubtfulAccounts

Accounts receivable consist of amounts owed to the Company for services provided in the normal course of business and are

reported net of allowance for doubtful accounts which amounted to $432000 and $815000 million as of December 31 2009 and

2010 respectively Generally no collateral is received from customers and additions to the allowance are based on ongoing credit

evaluations of customers with general credit experience being within the range of managements expectations Accounts are reviewed

regularly for collectability and those deemed uncollectible are written off

F-7



Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts

based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers historical trends and other information For the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2009 18% and 11% respectively of total revenues were associated with one customer For the year ended

December 31 2010 no individual customer accounted for more than 10% of revenues At December 31 2009 and 2010 there was no

individual customer that accounted for greater than 10% of the accounts receivable balance

As of December 31 2010 we had cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately $33.6 million These amounts were held

for future acquisition and working capital purposes and were held in non-interest bearing accounts of which $31.2 million were held

in the US Therefore the U.S amounts are insured in full through June 30 2012 against bank failure under the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program

Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over

the estimated useful lives of the respective assets and accelerated methods for income tax purposes Leasehold improvements are

amortized over the lesser of their expected useful life or the remaining lease term Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as

incurred

Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets Subsections of Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB ASC Subtopic 360-10 ASC 360 Property Plant and Equipment Overall long-lived assets such as equipment and

purchased intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable If circumstances require long-lived asset or asset group be

tested for possible impairment the Company first compares undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset

group to its carrying value If the canying value of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow

basis an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds its fair value Fair value is determined through various

valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals as

considered necessary At December 31 2009 and 2010 no impairment was noted

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in business combination that are

not individually identified and separately recognized Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually in accordance with the

provisions of FASB ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other ASC 350 The goodwill impairment test is two-step test

Under the first step the fair value of the reporting unit is compared with its carrying value including goodwill If the fair value of the

reporting unit is less than its carrying value an indication of goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and the enterprise must

perform step two of the impairment test measurement Under step two an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the

carrying amount of the reporting units goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill The implied fair value of goodwill is

determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in manner similar to purchase price allocation and the residual fair

value after this allocation is the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill Fair value of the reporting unit is determined using

discounted cash flow analysis If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value step two does not need to be performed

The Company performed its annual impairment review of goodwill in October 2010 and it was determined that the carrying

amount of goodwill was not impaired and there have been no subsequent developments that would indicate impairment exists as of

December 31 2010 The goodwill impairment review will continue to be performed annually or more frequently if facts and

circumstances warrant review
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ASC 350 also requires that intangible assets with definite lives be amortized over their estimated useful lives Currently

customer relationships trade names covenants not-to-compete and technology are amortized using the straight-line method over

estimated useful lives

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs totaling $1.7 million were incurred in December 2009 in connection with the Fifth Third Credit

Facility see note 10 and were to be amortized to interest expense over the three-year term of the facility using the straight-line

method which approximates the effective interest method The Companys previous credit facility was repaid in December 2009 with

proceeds from the Fifth Third Credit Facility In connection with this early retirement of debt the Company recognized debt

extinguishment costs of approximately $461000 in 2009 for the unamortized portion of the loan costs The debt extinguishment costs

were recorded as other interest expense in accordance with ASC Topic 470 Debt ASC 470 In the first ten months of 2010 an

additional $2.1 million of deferred financing costs were incurred as the Company expanded its borrowing availability under the Fifth

Third Credit Facility see note 10 The Fifth Third Credit facility was repaid in November 2010 with proceeds generated from the

IPO In connection with this early retirement of debt the Company recognized debt extinguishment costs of approximately $3.2

million in 2010 for the unamortized portion of the loan costs In November 2010 the Company entered in to new senior revolving

credit facility with Bank of America N.A see note 10 and incurred deferred financing costs of $4.4 million through December 31
2010 which will be amortized to interest expense over the three-year term of the facility using the straight-line method which

approximates the effective interest method

For the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 the Company amortized $53000 $132000 and $872000 to interest

expense respectively

Ic Deferred Rents

The Company entered into various leases for buildings that have certain escalation clauses or other features which require

rental expense to be recognized on straight-line basis over the life of the lease At December 31 2009 and 2010 the deferred rent

balance was $493000 and $681000 respectively and is included in other current and long-term liabilities in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets

Revenue Recognition

Revenue related to IMEs peer reviews bill reviews and administrative support services is recognized at the time services

have been performed and the report is shipped to the end user The Company believes that recognizing revenue at the time the report is

shipped is appropriate because the Companys revenue policies meet the following four criteria in accordance with ASC 605-10-S25

Revenue Recognition Overall persuasive evidence that arrangement exists ii shipment has occurred iiithe price is fixed and

determinable and iv collectability is reasonably assured

Revenue related to other IME services including litigation support services and medical record retrieval services where no

report is generated is recognized at the time the service is performed The Company believes that recognizing revenue at the time the

service is performed is appropriate because the Companys revenue policies meet the following four criteria in accordance with ASC

605-10-525 persuasive evidence that arrangement exists ii services have been rendered iii the price is fixed and determinable

and iv collectability is reasonably assured

Should changes in conditions cause management to determine these criteria are not met for certain future transactions

revenue recognized for any reporting period could be adversely affected

Costs of Revenues

Costs of revenues are comprised of fees paid to members of the Companys medical panel other direct costs including

transcription film and medical record obtainment and transportation and other indirect costs including labor and overhead related to

the generation of revenues
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Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling charges billed to customers are recorded as revenue the corresponding costs are included in costs of

revenues

Marketing and Advertising Costs

Marketing and advertising costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $137000 $448000 and $1.2 million for the years

ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 respectively

Accounting for Leases

The Company leases office and warehouse
space

under operating lease agreements with original lease periods of
up to 7.5

years Certain of the lease agreements contain renewal and rent escalation provisions Rent escalation provisions are considered in

determining straight-line rent expense to be recorded over the lease term The lease term begins on the date of initial possession of the

lease property for purposes of recognizing lease expense on straight-line basis over the term of the lease Lease renewal periods are

considered on lease-by-lease basis and are generally not included in the initial lease term Landlord allowances for improvements to

leaseholds are included in property and equipment and offset by corresponding deferred rent credit The Company amortizes the

leasehold improvements over the shorter of the life of the improvements or the life of the lease The deferred rent credit is included in

other liabilities current and long term in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and will be amortized as reduction of rent

expense over the term of the applicable lease

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities

and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit cariyforwards Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using

enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered

or settled The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes

the enactment date Beginning with the adoption of FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

included in FASB ASC Subtopic 740-10 Income Taxes Overall as of January 2009 the Company recognizes the effect of

income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained Recognized income tax positions are

measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected

in the period in which the change in judgment occurs Prior to the adoption of FASB interpretation No 48 the Company recognized

the effect of income tax positions only if such positions were probable of being sustained

The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense

Loss Per Common Share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during

each period Diluted loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss adjusted on an as if converted basis by the weighted-

average number of actual shares outstanding and when dilutive the share equivalents that would arise from the assumed conversion

of convertible instruments The effect of potentially dilutive stock options and warrants is calculated using the treasury stock method

For the year ended December 31 2008 the potentially dilutive securities include options exercisable into 817000 shares of

common stock For the year ended December 31 2009 the potentially dilutive securities include options exercisable into 1.3 million

shares of common stock and 219000 shares of common stock issuable to settle the equity component of an earnout obligation For the

year ended December 31 2010 the potentially dilutive securities include options and warrants exercisable into 5.5 million shares of

common stock 113000 shares of common stock issuable to settle the equity component of an eamout obligation and 135000 shares

of common stock issuable at the holders option to settle subordinated unsecured note

For the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 all of the potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the

calculation of shares applicable to loss
per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive
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Share-Based Compensation

The Company has an Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan the Plan that provides for granting of options The

Company accounts for share-based awards in accordance with ASC Topic 718 Compensation Stock Compensation ASC 718
ASC 718 requires measurement of compensation cost for all share-based awards at fair value on the grant date or measurement date if

different and recognition of compensation expense net of forfeitures over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest

The fair value of stock option grants is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model The Black-Scholes option-

pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are frilly

transferable characteristics not present in these employee stock options Additionally option valuation models require the input of

highly subjective assumptions including the expected volatility of the stock price Because the Companys employee stock options

have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can

materially affect the fair value estimates in managements opinion the existing models may not provide reliable single measure of

the fair value of its share-based awards The Companys expected volatility assumptions are based on the Companys peer group

average implied volatility Expected life assumptions are based upon the average of the simplified method as described in Securities

and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107 which is the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the

contractual term and the contractual term of the option in accordance with ASC 718 which states that if no amount within the range

is more or less likely than any other amount an average of the range its expected value should be used for those options issued

significantly out-of-the-money or the simplified method for those options issued in the fourth quarter of 2010 which were

determined to be issued approximately at-the-money The risk-free interest rate was selected based upon yields of U.S Treasury issues

with term equal to the expected life of the option being valued

The assumptibns utilized for stock option grants during 2008 2009 and 2010 were as follows

2008 2009 2010

Volatility 39.73% 45.0647.87% 40.08 44.31%

Expected life years 8.00 8.00 6.50 8.00

Risk-free interest rate 3.35% 2.64 3.30% 1.623.53%

Dividend yield

Fairvalue 0.78 0.66 1.02 0.63 4.32

In 2008 2009 and 2010 the Company issued 820458 772239 and 4172687 respectively stock option awards to

employees and restricted stock units to non-employee directors The weighted average fair value of eaLh stock option was $0.78

$0.79 and $2.06 per option respectively and the aggregate fair value was $645000 $614000 and $8.6 million respectively The

majority of these awards vest over three-year period with the remaining awards vesting 50% over the earlier of 18 months or the

initial public offering IPO period of months and 50% over 12 month period following the IPO provided the individual

remains in the employment of the Company as of the vesting date Additionally all these options could vest earlier in the event of

change in control or merger or other acquisition and 1810166 of these options could vest earlier in the event of an IPO In the fourth

quarter of 2010 in conjunction with the completed IPO the Company accelerated the vesting on all eligible outstanding stock options

and recorded an additional $694000 in share-based compensation expense related to the change in vesting term Share-based

compensation expense related to the awards was $101000 $218000 and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2009

and 2010 respectively At December 31 2009 and 2010 the unrecognized compensation expense related to stock option grants was

$751000 and $7.3 million respectively with remaining weighted average life of 2.0 and 2.1 years respectively

F-Il



summary of option activity for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 follows

Weighted

Number of average

options price

Balance at January 2008

Options granted 820458 2.80

Options forfeited 3342 2.80

Options exercised

Balance at December31 2008 817116 2.80

Options granted 772239 3.20

Options forfeited 265573 2.89

Options exercised

Balance at December 31 2009 1323782 3.02

Options granted 4172687 8.45

Options forfeited 242633 6.88

Options exercised 195311 3.50

Balance at December31 2010 5058525 7.29

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised in 2010 was approximately $2.4 million There were no option exercises

in 2008 or 2009 There were no options exercisable as of December 31 2008 234845 options exercisable as of December 31 2009

with an exercise price of $2.81 and 1795615 options exercisable as of December 31 2010 with weighted average exercise price of

$4.19

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company issued 50475 restricted stock units to certain non-employee

members of the board of directors and 24934 restricted stock units to certain employees and outside consultants These restricted

stock units had weighted average fair value of $7.15 per unit and the aggregate fair value was $539000 The fair value of these

awards was based upon an estimate of fair value or the market price of the underlying common stock as of the date of the grant for

those issued following the IPO These awards vest over one- two- or three-year period provided the individual remains in the

service of the Company as of the vesting date Additionally these shares could vest earlier in the event of change in control or

merger or other acquisition Of these restricted shares 50475 have been issued and the remainder will be issued at the date of vesting

For the year ended December 31 2010 share-based compensation expense
related to these awards was $145000 At December 31

2010 the unrecognized compensation expense related the restricted stock awards is $394000 with remaining weighted average life

of 0.93 years

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosures ASC 820 ASC 820 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value in U.S generally accepted

accounting principles and expands disclosure about fair value measurements ASC 820 is effective for interim reporting periods in

fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The Company adopted the applicable provisions of ASC 820 effective January

2008
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ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments ASC 825 delayed the effective date of the application of ASC 820 to fiscal years

beginning after November 15 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value

in the financial statements on nonrecurring basis Nonrecurring nonfmancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities for which the

Company has not applied the provisions of ASC 820 primarily include those measured at fair value in goodwill and long-lived asset

impairment testing those initially measured at fair value in business combination and nonfinancial liabilities for exit or disposal

activities

ASC 820 defmes fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the

principal most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement

date ASC 820 establishes fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value into the following levels

In determining fair value the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as consider counterpart credit risk in its assessment of fair

value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly

Level Unobservable inputs based on the companys own assumptions

The Companys financial liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis are categorized using the fair value

hierarchy at December 31 2009 and 2010 and are as follows in thousands

Level Level Level Total

As of December 31 2009

Financial liabilities

Interestrateswap 612 612

Contingent consideration 2630 2630

As of December 31 2010

Financial liabilities

Interest rate swap 654 654

Contingent consideration 6202 6202

The fair value of the interest rate swap is determined using observable market inputs such as current interest rates and

considers nonperformance risk of the Company and that of its counterparties

The contingent consideration relates to earnout provisions recorded in conjunction with certain acquisitions completed in

2009 and 2010 see note

In February 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 825 which permits entities to choose to measure

many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value This provision of ASC 825 is effective for fiscal years beginning after

November 15 2007 As the Company did not elect the fair value option the adoption of this provision of ASC 825 did not have

material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December

31 2008 2009 and 2010

ii Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of two components net loss and other comprehensive income Other comprehensive income

refers to revenues expenses gains and losses that under GAAP are recorded as component of stockholders equity but are excluded

from net loss The Companys other comprehensive income consists of foreign currency translation adjustments from those business

units not using the U.S dollar as their functional currency

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
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In June 2006 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes ASC 740 which clarifies

the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprises financial statements ASC 740 also prescribes

recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax position taken or

expected to be taken in tax return In addition ASC 740 provides guidance on derecognition classification interest and penalties

accounting in interim periods disclosure and transition ASC 740 deferred adoption for most nonpublic enterprises to annual periods

beginning after December 15 2008 The Company pursuant to ASC 740 elected to defer its application until its required effective

date of January 2009 The Companys policy for evaluating uncertain tax positions prior to the adoption of ASC 740 has been to

provide for income taxes based on positions taken on the Companys tax return with valuation allowances established for uncertain

positions based on the guidance established by ASC Topic 450 Contingencies The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 740

effective January 2009 and the adoption did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results of

operations and cash flows for the years ended December31 2009 and 2010

In December 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations ASC 805
ASC 805 changes accounting for business combinations through requirement to recognize 100% of the fair values of assets acquired

liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests in acquisitions of less than 100% controlling interest when the acquisition

constitutes change in control of the acquired entity Other requirements include capitalization of acquired in-process research and

development assets expensing as incurred acquisition-related transaction costs and capitalizing restructuring charges as part of the

acquisition only if requirements of ASC 420 Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations are met ASC 805 is effective for business

combination transactions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or

after December 15 2008 The Company adopted ASC 805 effective January 2009 and applied the principles contained in this

standard to all acquisitions that were completed in 2009 The Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and

cash flows for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010 reflect the adoption of ASC 805

In March 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging ASC 815
ASC 815 requires additional disclosures about the objectives of the derivative instruments and hedging activities the method of

accounting for such instruments and tabular disclosure of the effects of such instruments and related hedged items on the

Companys fmancial position results of operations and cash flows ASC 815 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal

years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 with early adoption encouraged The Company adopted ASC 815

effective January 2009 and the adoption did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results of

operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010

In April 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 350 which is effective for all fiscal years and interim

periods beginning after December 15 2008 Early adoption of the provisions of ASC 350 is not permitted ASC 350 requires

additional footnote disclosures about the impact of the Companys ability or intent to renew or extend agreements related to existing

intangibles or expected future cash flows from those intangibles how the Company accounts for costs incurred to renew or extend

such agreements the time until the next renewal or extension period by asset class and the amount of renewal or extension costs

capitalized if any For any intangibles acquired after January 2009 ASC 350 requires that the Company consider its experience

regarding renewal and extensions of similar arrangements in determining the useful life If the Company does not have experience

with similar arrangements ASC 350 requires that the Company use the assumptions of market participant putting the intangible to

its highest and best use in determining the useful life The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 350 effective January 2009 and

the adoption did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows for

the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010

In May 2009 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 855 Subsequent Events ASC 855 ASC 855

requires that an entity shall recognize in the financial statements the effects of all subsequent events that provide additional evidence

about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing fmancial

statements ASC 855 defines two types of subsequent events recognized subsequent events and nonrecognized subsequent

events Recognized subsequent events provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date and must be

reflected in the companys financial statements Nonrecognized subsequent events provide evidence about conditions that arose after

the balance sheet date and are not reflected in the financial statements of company ASC 855 is effective for interim or annual

financial periods ending after June 15 2009 and is to be applied prospectively The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 855 for

the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010 The adoption of the provisions of ASC 855 did not have material effect on the

Companys consolidated fmancial condition results of operations and cash flows
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In June 2009 the FASB issued ASC Topic 105 Generally AcceptedAccounting Principles Brief History ASC 105 ASC
105 will supersede existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards The codification will not change GAAP but will rather

organize it into new hierarchy with two levels authoritative and nonauthoritative All authoritative GAAP will carry equal weight

and be organized in topical structure ASC 105 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after September 15 2009

The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 105 for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010 The adoption of the provisions of

ASC 105 did not have material effect on the Companys consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosure This update provides amendments to Codification topic Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures which require new

disclosures about transfers in and out of Levels and and the reasons for the transfers as well as reconciliation for fair value

measurements using significant unobservable inputs Level The update is effective for interim and annual reporting periods

beginning after December 15 2009 Adoption of this update did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial

condition results of operations and cash flows

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In October 2009 the FASB ASU 2009-13 ASU 2009-13 addressing revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables The

new guidance establishes selling price hierarchy for determining the selling price of deliverable eliminates the residual method of

allocation requires the allocation of arrangement consideration to all deliverables using the relative selling price method and

significantly expands disclosure requirements The guidance is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or

materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 The Company does not expect the adoption of the ASU 2009-

13 to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows

Acquisitions

ExamWorks operates in highly fragmented industry and has completed numerous acquisitions since July 14 2008 key

component of ExamWorks acquisition strategy is growth through acquisitions that expand its geographic coverage that provide new

or complementary lines of business expand its portfolio of services and that increase its market share

The Company has accounted for all business combinations using the purchase method to record new cost basis for the

assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company recorded based on preliminary purchase price allocation intangible assets

representing client relationships tradenames covenants not to compete and technology and the excess of purchase price over the

estimated fair value of the tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the separately recognized intangible assets has been

recorded as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated fmancial statements The goodwill is attributable to synergies achieved

through the streamlining of operations combined with improved margins attainable through increased market presence The results of

operations are reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Company from the date of acquisition

2008 Acquisitions

On July 14 2008 ExamWorks completed the acquisitions of CFO Medical Services Inc Crossland Medical Review

Services Inc Southwest Medical Exam Services Inc Diagnostic Imaging Institute Inc Pacific Billing Services Inc and Southwest

Medical Exam Services of Louisiana LLC enabling the Company to provide DvIE services in the New Jersey New York and Tbxas

areas

CFO Medical Services Acquisition

On July 14 2008 CFO Medical Services Inc CFO merged into wholly-owned subsidiary of ExamWorks for $13.6

million comprised of $7.1 million cash consideration including transaction costs of $220000 less cash acquired of $335000 and

2351004 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $6.6 million The CFO acquisition enabled the

Company to commence its operations in New Jersey
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The final allocation of consideration for the CFO acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary Final

purchase price purchase price

allocation allocation

December 31 Adjustments December 31

2008 reclassifications 2009

Equipment and leasehold improvements 205 205

Customer relationships 3170 3170

Tradename 933 933

Covenants not to compete 129 129

Technology 211 211

Goodwill 8964 249 8715

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 273 35 238

Totals 13885 284 13601

In 2009 the Company finalized the working capital adjustment resulting in decrease to total consideration paid of

$284000 The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the CFO acquisition are expected to be deductible for tax purposes

Crossland Medical Review Services Acquisition

On July 14 2008 ExamWorks acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Crossland Medical Review Services Inc

Crossland for $6.2 million comprised of $5.7 million cash consideration including transaction costs of $98000 less cash acquired of

$557000 and 356211 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.0 million The Crossland acquisition

enabled the Company to expand operations in New York

The final allocation of consideration for the Crossland acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary Final

purchase price purchase price

allocation allocation

December 31 Adjustments December 31
2008 reclassifications 2009

Equipment and leasehold improvements 121 121

Customer relationships 2890 2890

Tradename 953 953

Covenants not to compete 112 112

Technology 157 157

Goodwill 4322 194 4128

Defened tax liability associated with step-up in book basis 1527 157
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 615 30 585
Totals 6413 164 6249

In 2009 the Company finalized the working capital adjustment resulting in decrease to total consideration paid of

$164000 The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the Crossland acquisition are not expected to be deductible for tax

purposes
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Southwest Medical Examination Services Acquisitions

On July 14 2008 ExamWorks acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Southwest Medical Examination

Services Inc Diagnostic Imaging Institute Inc Pacific Billing Services Inc and Southwest Medical Exam Services of Louisiana

LLC collectively known as the Southwest Medical acquisition for $12.2 million comprised of $9.1 million cash consideration

including transactions costs of $171000 less cash acquired of $260000 and 1146625 shares of the Companys common stock with

an estimated fair value of $3.2 million The Southwest Medical acquisition enabled the Company to expand operations in Texas

The final allocation of consideration for the Southwest Medical acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary Final

purchase price purchase price

allocation allocation

December 31 Adjustments December 31
2008 reclassitications 2009

Equipment and leasehold improvements 221 221

Customer relationships 5370 5370

Tradename 845 845

Covenants not to compete 190 190

Technology 106 106

Goodwill 6674 1084 5590

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 154 50 104
Totals 13252 1034 12218

The purchase agreement required the sellers to make tax election under Internal Revenue Code Section 338h10 338
election effectively treating the transaction as an asset acquisition The Company agreed to reimburse the sellers for the estimated

incremental taxes owed as result of this election and deposited $465000 into escrow on the acquisition date recording this payment

as purchase consideration paid in 2008 In 2009 the Company finalized the 338 election analysis and the working capital adjustment

resulting in decrease in total consideration paid of $1.0 million The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the

Southwest Medical acquisition are expected to be deductible for tax purposes

2009 Acquisitions

Abeton Acquisition

On December 31 2009 ExamWorks acquired in two separate transactions substantially all of the assets and assumed

certain liabilities of Abeton Inc and Medical Assurance Group Inc both subsidiaries of The Abeton Group collectively the Abeton

acquisition for aggregate consideration of $9.6 million comprised of $7.0 million cash consideration $2.4 million in seller debt and

153996 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $254000 In conjunction with the Abeton acquisition

the Company incurred transaction costs of $310000 which are reported in selling general and administrative expenses in the

accompanying 2009 consolidated statement of operations The Abeton acquisition enabled the Company to expand its operations in

the Pacific Northwest and Southwest regions
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The final allocation of consideration for the Abeton acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book

basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2009

124

3525

1072

46

99

4340 13

224

Final

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2010

124

3525

1072

46

99

4353

224

Compaay name

The Ricwel Corporation

Ricwel of West Virginia LLC

Marquis Medical Administrators Inc

Florida Medical Services Inc

IME Software Solutions LLC

Benchmark Medical Consultants Inc

The Evaluation Group Inc

MedNet I.M.S Inc

Qualmed Evaluations LLC

IME operations of Dr Chalal and Dr Zeide

Form of acquisition

100% of the outstanding common stock

100% of the membership interest

100% of the outstanding common stock

100% of the outstanding common stock

100% of the membership interest

100% of the outstanding common stock

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Date of

acquisition

April 17 2009

April 17 2009

May 21 2009

May 212009

July 2009

August 2009

August 14 2009

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

Adjustments

reclassifications

224 86 138

9654 73 9581

In 2010 the Company recorded an adjustment to working capital resulting in decrease to total consideration paid of

$73000 The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the Abeton acquisition are expected to be deductible for tax

purposes

Other 2009 Acquisitions

Additionally in 2009 the Company completed the following individually insignificant acquisitions as defined in SEC

Regulation S-X Rule 3-05 with an aggregate purchase price of $26.2 million comprised of $19.1 million cash consideration less cash

acquired of $443000 1613998 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $2.7 million $2.0 million of

seller debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes payable $389000 of deferred payments and $2.3 million of contingent

consideration In conjunction with the other 2009 acquisitions the Company incurred transaction costs of $1.1 million which are

reported in selling general and administrative expenses in the accompanying 2009 consolidated statement of operations These

acquisitions expanded the Companys geographic coverage and to lesser extent enhanced its portfolio of services
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The final allocation of consideration for these acquisitions is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary Final

purchase price purchase price

allocation allocation

December 31 Adjustments December 31
2009 reclassifications 2010

Equipment and leasehold improvements 258 258

Customer relationships 10320 10320

Tradename 3043 3043

Covenants not to compete 851 851

Technology 1289 1289

Goodwill 9622 316 9306

Net defened tax liability asset associated with step-up in book

basis 280 376 96

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 1008 40 1048

Totals 26111 100 26211

In 2010 the Company recorded an adjustment to working capital for one of the insignificant 2009 acquisitions resulting in an

increase to total consideration paid of $100000 Certain of these transactions contain earnout provisions based upon the achievement

of certain revenue targets and profitability targets and payable annually over two-year or 4.75 year period Based on estimates of

expected cash payments and the probability of acquired businesses achieving certain results the Company recorded $2.3 million of

contingent consideration in conjunction with the preliminary purchase price allocation The contingent consideration includes seller

debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes payable with an estimated fair value of $1.1 million 355584 shares of the

Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $572000 and defened payments with an estimated fair value of $618000

The seller debt and the shares of the Companys stock are subject to clawback provisions in the event that certain revenue targets are

not achieved over the eamout period The defened payments are payable annually over twoyear period 50% payable in cash and

50% payable with the Companys common stock The fair value of the defened payments are adjusted quarterly based primarily on

the movement in the fair value of the Companys common stock to be issued with the change being recorded as other income

expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010 the Company

recorded additional contingent consideration of $300000 and $2.3 million respectively resulting primarily from the change in the

value of the earnout As of Decemtxi 31 2009 and 2010 the range of outcomes and the assumptions used to develop the estimate

have not changed Goodwill of $5.2 million and other intangible assets of $9.9 million are expected to be deductible for tax purposes

2010 Acquisitions

Metro Medical Acquisition

On March 26 2010 ExamWorks acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Metro Medical

Services LLC Metro Medical for aggregate consideration of $13.5 million comprised of $13.0 million cash consideration less cash

acquired of $722000 and 589930 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.3 million In conjunction

with the Metro Medical acquisition the Company incurred transaction costs of $101000 which are reported in selling general and

administrative expenses in the accompanying 2010 consolidated statement of operations The Metro Medical acquisition enabled the

Company to further expand its operations in the northeastern region of the United States
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The preliminary allocation of consideration for the Metro Medical acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31 2010

Equipment and leasehold improvements 186

Customer relationships 4715

Tradename 1458

Covenants not to compete 66

Technology 100

Goodwill 5601

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis 680

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 682

Totals 13488

The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the Metro Medical acquisition are expected to be deductible for tax

purposes The Company believes that information gathered to date provides reasonable basis for estimating the fair values of assets

acquired and liabilities assumed but the Company is waiting for additional information necessary to finalize those fair values Thus
the provisional measurements of fair value set forth above are subject to change The Company expects to complete the purchase price

allocation as soon as practicable but no later than one year from the acquisition date

Direct IME Acquisition

On June 30 2010 ExamWorks acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Direct IME

Partnership Direct IME for aggregate consideration of $13.6 million comprised of $11.9 million cash consideration less cash

acquired of $50000 507606 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.4 million and $351000 of

contingent consideration The acquisition agreement contains clawback provision whereby certain revenue and profitability targets

must be met for period of two years The Company expects Direct IME to achieve the targeted levels Additionally the acquisition

agreement contains contingent consideration in the form of an earnout provision based upon the achievement of certain revenue and

profitability targets Any contingent consideration is payable at the end of two-year period The fair value of the contingent

consideration will be adjusted quarterly based primarily on variations in the expected performance of the acquired businesses with the

change being recorded as other income expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations For the year ended

December 31 2010 the Company recorded additional contingent consideration of $210000 resulting primarily from the change in the

value of the eamout As of December 31 2010 the range of outcomes and the assumptions used to develop the estimate have not

changed In conjunction with the Direct IME acquisition the Company incurred transaction costs of $194000 which are reported in

selling general and administrative expenses in the accompanying 2010 consolidated statement of operations The Direct IME

acquisition enabled the Company to expand operations into the Canadian market
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The preliminary allocation of consideration for the Direct 1MB acquisition is summarized as follows hi thousands

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31 2010

34

5416

720

33

48

5708

815

855

13629

The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the Direct IME acquisition are expected to be deductible for tax

purposes The Company believes that information gathered to date provides reasonable basis for estimating the fair values of assets

acquired and liabilities assumed but the Company is waiting for additional information necessary to finalize those fair values Thus

the provisional measurements of fair value set forth above are subject to change The Company expects to complete the purchase price

allocation as soon as practicable but no later than one year from the acquisition date

Verity Acquisition

On August 2010 ExamWorks acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Verity Medical Inc

Verity Medical for cash consideration of $14.0 million In conjunction with the Verity Medical acquisition the Company incurred

transaction costs of $138000 which are reported in selling general and administrative expenses in the accompanying 2010

consolidated statement of operations The Verity Medical acquisition enabled the Company to fhrther expand its operations in the

midwestern region of the United States

The preliminary allocation of consideration for the Verity Medical acquisition is suthmarized as follows in thousands

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Preliminary

pnrchase price

allocation

December 31 2010

46

6063

1036

51

83

6160

12

540

13991

The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the Verity Medical acquisition are expected to be deductible for tax

purposes The Company believes that information gathered to date provides reasonable basis for estimating the fair values of assets

acquired and liabilities assumed but the Company is waiting for additional information necessary to finalize those fair values Thus

the provisional measurements of fair value set forth above are subject to change The Company expects to complete the purchase price

allocation as soon as practicable but no later than one year from the acquisition date
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UK Independent Medical Acquisition

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Tdtals

On September 2010 ExamWorks acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of UK Independent Medical Systems

UKIM for aggregate consideration of $15.6 million comprised of $14.1 million cash consideration and 253003 shares of the

Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.5 million In conjunction with the UKIM acquisition the Company
incurred transaction costs of $447000 which are reported in selling general and administrative expenses in the accompanying 2010

consolidated statement of operations The UTUJvI acquisition enabled the Company to expand operations into the UK market

The preliminary allocation of consideration for the UKIM acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31 2010

152

3238

1704

107

2895

1163

6358

15622

The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the UKIM acquisition are expected to be deductible for U.S federal

income tax purposes The Company expects to make further adjustments to the purchase price allocation principally resulting from

working capital adjustments in accordance with the purchase agreement and the allocation of intangible assets upon the completion

of an outside valuation

Other 2010 Acquisitions

Additionally in 2010 the Company completed the following individually insignificant acquisitions as defined in SEC

Regulation S-X Rule 3-05 with an aggregate purchase price of $70.3 million comprised of $62.9 million cash consideration less cash

acquired of $1.0 million 1685312 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $5.9 million $1.7 million

of seller debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes payable and $786000 of contingent consideration portion of this debt

may be settled at the election of the seller with 135282 shares of the Companys common stock In conjunction with the other 2010

acquisitions the Company incurred transaction costs of $1.2 million which are reported in selling general and administrative

expenses in the accompanying 2010 consolidated statement of operations These acquisitions expanded the geographic coverage and

to lesser extent enhanced the service offering of the Company
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Company name

American Medical Bill Review Inc AMBR
Medical Evaluations Inc MET
401 Diagnostics Inc

Independent Medical Services Corporation

Network Medical Review Co Ltd

SOMA Medical Assessments Inc

Exigere Corporation

Health Cost Management LLC

BME Gateway Inc

Royal Medical Consultants Inc

Form of acquisition

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

100% of the outstanding common stock

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

100% of the outstanding common stock

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Date of acquisition

March 15 2010

March 15 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

August 2010

September 2010

October 2010

December 20 2010

The preliminary allocation of consideration for these acquisitions is summarized as follows in thousands

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Net deferred tax liability associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31 2010

792

24814

5984

242

1219

37513

2540
2294

70318

The Company expects to make further adjustment to the purchase price allocation of certain acquisitions principally

resulting from working capital and tax related adjustments in accordance with the purchase agreements One of the acquisition

agreements contains clawback provision whereby certain revenue and profitability targets must be met for period of two years The

Company expects this acquisition to achieve the targeted levels Additionally this acquisition agreement contins contingent

consideration in the fonn of an earnout provision based upon the achievement of certain revenue and profitability targets At the date

of acquisition the Company recorded $536000 as the estimate of the fair value of the contingent consideration related to this

acquisition Any contingent consideration is payable at the end of two-year period The fair value of the contingent consideration

will be adjusted quarterly based primarily on variations in the expected performance of the acquired businesses with the change being

recorded as other ihcome expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations For the year ended December 31

2010 the Company recorded additional contingent consideration of $714000 resulting primarily from the change in the value of the

earnout As of December 31 2010 the range of outcomes and the assumptions used to develop the estimate have not changed

Goodwill of $23.9 million and other intangible assets of $21.7 million are expected to be deductible for tax purposes

The Company believes that information gathered to date provides reasonable basis for estimating the fair values of assets

acquired and liabilities assumed but the Company is waiting for additional information necessary to finalize those fair values Thus

the provisional measurements of fair value set forth above are subject to change Such changes are not expected to be significant The

Company expects to complete the purchase price allocation as soon as practicable but no later than one year from the acquisition date
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Pro forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31 2009 assumes that the 2009 and

2010 acquisitions were completed on January 2009 The unaudited pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31
2010 assumes that the 2010 acquisitions were completed on January 2010 The pro forma results include adjustments to reflect

additional interest expense to flmd the acquisitions amortization of intangibles associated with the acquisitions and other costs

deemed to be non-recurring in nature

Years ended

December 31
2009 2010

Pro formarevenues 211113 229669

Pro forma net loss 930 526

Pro forma net loss per share

Basic 0.06 0.03

Diluted 0.06 0.03

The pro forma financial information presented above is not necessarily indicative of either the results of operations that

would have occurred had the acquisitions been effective as of January of the respective years or of future operations of the

Company

Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements at December 31 2009 and 2010 consist of the following in thousands

Estimated December 31

useful

lives 2009 2010

Computer and office equipment years 1971 5738

Furniture and fixtures
years

736 1379

Leasehold improvements Lease term 139 295

2846 7412

Less accumulated depreciation

and amortization 874 2542

Total 1972 4870

Depreciation expense was $218000 $656000 and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010

respectively

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill at December 31 2009 and 2010 consists of the following in thousands

December 31

2009 2010

Balance at beginning of year 19960 32395

Goodwill acquired during the year 13962 57877

Adjustments to prior year acquistitions 1527 303
Effect of foreign currency translation 613

Balance at end of year 32395 90582
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Intangible assets at December31 2009 and 2010 consist of the following in thousands

Amortizable intangible assets

Customer relationships

Tradenames

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Totals

Amortizable intangible assets

Customer relationships

Tradenames

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Totals

Estimated

useful lives

40 to 42 months

45 months

36 months

24 to 40 months

2011

2012

2013

2014

Amount

26377

21806

16887

1844

66914

December 31 2009

Gross

carrying Accumulated Net carrying

amount amortization value

25274 5843 19431

6846 1386 5460

1328 326 1002

1861 852 1009

35309 8407 26902

December 31 2010

Gross

Estimated carrying Accumulated Net carrying

useful lives amount amortization value

40to42months 70163 19130 51033

45 months 1729 841 888

36 months 17883 4606 13277

24to4omonths 3427

93202

1711
26288

1716

66914

The aggregate intangible amortization expense was $2.2 million $6.2 million and $17.8 million for the years ended

December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 respectively The estimated future amortization expense of intangible assets is as follows in

thousands

Year ended December 31

Total
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Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses at December 31 2009 and 2010 consist of the following in thousands

December 31
2009 2010

Accrued compensation and benefits 995 1.647

Accrued professional fees 733 1775

Accrued income and other taxes 149 2235

Accrued medical panel fees 12 284

Accrued value added tax 2829

Other accrued expenses 168 644

Total 2057 9414

Stockholders Equity

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company issued 1767994 shares of common stock with fair value of $2.9

million to fund the stock consideration of the acquisitions completed in 2009 Additionally the Company issued 355584 shares of

common stock with fair value of $572000 to fund the stock component of the contingent consideration of an acquisition completed

in 2009

In December 2009 the Company initiated an equity offering of 1250361 shares of common stock in exchange for $3.5

million of which $560000 was received in December 2009 with the balance being received and shares issued in January 2010

Proceeds from this issuance were used to repay the December 2009 subordinated promissory notes see note

In January 2010 the Company issued 739506 shares of common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.4 million to

Compass Partners LLC Compass as consideration for the termination of the monitoring fee see note

During the first quarter of 2010 the Company commenced private placement of Series Convertible Preferred Stock to

raise between $5 million and $33.0 million of additional capital with the final closing occurring on May 2010 In 2010 the

Company issued 4975180 preferred shares representing approximately $33.0 million in gross proceeds to the Company The

preferred shares were converted into 4975180 shares of common stock upon the consummation of the initial public offering

The Company issued warrants to purchase shares of common stock to the private placement agent equal to 9% of the total

number of shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock sold in the private placement The warrants are exercisable for five years

and have an exercise price of $6.63 per share In addition the placement agent elected to receive its placement agent fee and expense

allowance of 7% and 2% respectively of proceeds from the private placement in shares of ExamWorks common stock and $270000

in cash consideration In conjunction with the final closing of the private placement on May 2010 the Company issued 447763

warrants to the placement agent as described above with an estimated fair value of $126000 as of that date In addition as partial

payment for its services the Company issued 407062 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.0

million to the placement agent as of that date During the year ended December 31 2010 4388 of these warrants were exercise in

exchange for shares of common stock On November 2010 the Company cancelled the warrants issued on May 2010 and issued

revised warrants reflecting the Reorganization the October 12 2010 stock split and the initial public offering As of December 31

2010 there were 443375 warrants outstanding

On July 16 2010 the Company issued 43620 shares of restricted stock with an estimated fair value of $145000 to the

members of the Board of Directors as compensation for services to be provided in the upcoming year On October 12 2010 the

Company issued an additional 6853 shares of restricted stock with an estimated fair value of $44000 The Company will record the

expense related to these awards in selling general and administrative expenses over the one-year service period

On August 2010 the Company issued 103947 shares of common stock with fair value of $576000 to fund the stock

component of the first earnout obligation from 2009 acquisition

On August 23 2010 the Company sold approximately 17000 shares of common stock for $200000 in cash
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On October 28 2010 the Company closed an initial public offering of 10300000 shares of its common stock at $16.00 per share

before discounts and commissions to underwriters and other offering expenses Of the shares sold 7745114 were sold by the Company and

2554886 were sold by certain selling shareholders In addition on November 2010 the underwriters exercised their overallotment

provision and an additional 1545000 shares of the Companys common stock were issued at $16.00 per share before offering expenses The

Company used the net proceeds to pay off the amount outstanding under the credit facility in place as of the date of the offering and the

remainder is to be used to continue to expand the Companys business through acquisitions and for working capital and other general

corporate purposes

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company issued approximately 3.0 million shares of common stock with fair

value of $10.1 million to fund the stock consideration of the acquisitions completed in 2010

Related Party Transactions

lii December 2009 two stockholders advanced the Company $3.5 million in the form of subordinated promissory notes to fund

portion of the cash consideration of the acquisitions completed in December 2009 The notes bore interest at an annual rate of 7.5% and were

repaid in January 2010 The notes are included in due to related parties in the accompanying 2009 consolidated balance sheet

Beginning in July 2008 and through December 2009 the Company was party to monitoring fee agreement with Compass

whereby the Company would pay Compass on quarterly basis 5% of Adjusted EBITDA as defined In December 2009 the Company and

Compass agreed to terminate the monitoring fee agreement in exchange for one-time payment of $2.0 million to be settled with 739506

shares of ExamWorks common stock as approved by the Companys independent director The shares were issued in January 2010 The

Company recorded charge in the fourth quarter of 2009 of $1.4 million included in selling general and administrative expenses in the

accompanying 2009 consolidated statement of operations representing the estimated fair value of the shares to be issued to settle the

termination obligation The liability is included in due to related parties in the accompanying 2009 consolidated balance sheet Inclusive of

this charge the Company incurred $1.7 million and $50000 in monitoring fees for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively Compass is an entity owned and controlled by Richard Perlman the Companys then Co-Chairman and Co-CEO

In June 2009 the Company engaged RedRidge Finance Group RedRidge to assist the Company in securing additional debt

financing to allow the Company to continue to implement its acquisition strategy In December 2009 in conjunction with the closing of the

Fifth Third Credit Facility see note 10 the Company paid RedRidge $500000 in broker fees and recorded them as deferred financing costs

in the consolidated balance sheet PP Investment LLC PP company owned by Richard Perlman and James Price the then Co
Chairmen and Co-CEOs of the Company are minority owners of RedRidge For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company paid

RedRidge $425000 in connection with the credit facility Pursuant to the payment of the broker fees the Company RedRidge PP Mr
Perlman and Mr Price entered into letter agreement under which PP waived any right it had to any portion of the broker fees paid by the

Company to RedRidge and agreed that such fee minus amounts paid to RedRidges employees would be paid solely to RedRidges majority

owner

The Fifth Third Credit Facility contains provision requiring the Company to use third party to perform financial due diligence

for acquisitions exceeding certain size With the approval of the senior lender the Company engaged RedRidge to assist it with financial

due diligence and incurred $52000 in fees in 2009 related to acquisitions completed in December 2009 and $725000 in fees in 2010

pertaining to acquisition-related work performed during that period PP Mr Perlman and Mr Price have likewise waived any right PP
had to any portion of the diligence fees paid by the Company to RedRidge

In 2010 the Company utilized private planes when necessary for business operations using NetJets Inc NetJets share

belonging to PerPrice Aviation Inc Georgia corporation PerPrice Mr Perlman and Mr Price each own 50% of the total outstanding

shares of PerPrice PerPrice was reimbursed for the actual cost incurred in connection with the Companys use of the NetJets share in 2010

which totaled approximately $311000 The Company does not expect to incur any further costs through this arrangement with PerPrice

In June 2010 the Company entered into lease agreement with Compass for corporate office space located at 655 Madison Avenue

23rd Floor New York NY Pursuant to the lease which runs from April 2010 through June 30 2014 the Company paid Compass rental

fee of $10080 per month in 2010 which fee was subject to increase commencing January 2011 based on proportionate pass through of

base rent increases and increases for property taxes and building operating expenses The aggregate amount of all periodic rental payments

made to Compass for such office space in 2010 is $102720 In addition in June 2010 the Company paid Compass $40320 as advance rent

payment for the last four months of the lease and approximately $62000 as its share of leasehold improvements Prior to the entry into this

lease agreement the Company did not incur costs in excess of $120000 per year with respect to leasing this corporate office space

The Company is party to certain consulting agreements with each of Dr Edward Decter and Dr Steven Robbins who are

stockholders of the Company and members of its medical panel which set forth the terms and conditions upon
which Dr Decter and Dr

Robbins are entitled to compensation for IMEs and other services performed by them on behalf of the Company In addition such

agreements provide that Dr Decter and Dr Robbins are to be provided with minimum number of IMEs For the years ended December 31

2008 2009 and 2010 the Company paid Dr Decter $279000 $819000 and $1.1 million respectively for IME services performed For the

years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 the Company paid Dr Robbins $122000 $360000 and $415000 respectively for IME

services performed
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Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

The Company and its subsidiaries lease office space under noncancelable operating leases with various expiration dates from

2011 through 2019

Future minimum lease payments under the operating leases in each of the years subsequent to December 31 2010 are as

follows in thousands

Amount

Year ended December 31

2011 4316

2012 3647

2013 2808

2014 1889

2015 1352

Thereafter 1640

Total 15652

Related rent expense was $498000 $1.7 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010

respectively

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries each sponsor separate voluntary defined contribution pension plan under Section 401k
of the Internal Revenue Code The plans cover substantially all employees that meet specific age and length of service requirements

The Company and its subsidiaries have various matching and vesting arrangements within their individual plans For the years ended

December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 the Company recorded $55000 $18000 and $18000 respectively in compensation expense

related to these plans

Letter of Credit

As of December 31 2009 and 2010 the Company had $220000 outstanding under letters of credit which are used to secure

two of the Companys leased office facilities

10 Long-Term Debt

December 31

2009 2010

Senior Revolving Credit Facility Bath of America N.A
Credit facility Fifth Third Bank Fifth Third 32634

Revolving facility Fifth Third 600

Discount facility Barclays 4998

Various subordinated unsecured notes payable

maturing at various dates from 2011 through 2015 5117 4858

38351 9856

Less current portion 4828 2312

33523 7544
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The Company entered into senior revolving credit facility agreement dated November 2010 Bank of America Senior

Revolving Credit Facility The facility initially consisted of $180.0 million revolving credit facility The facility is

available to fmance the Companys acquisition program and working capital needs On February 2011 the Company

exercised the accordion feature of the Bank of America Senior Revolving Credit Facility increasing the facility from $180.0

million to $245.0 million The Company may elect to increase the Bank of America Senior Revolving Credit Facility by an

additional $35 million so long as the Company is not in default under the terms and subject to the agreement of the lenders

or new lenders to provide additional credit

Borrowings under the Bank of America Senior Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at either LIBOR plus the applicable

margin or ii base rate equal to the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% the Bank of America prime rate and

LIBOR using one month-period plus 1.0% plus the applicable margin as we elect The applicable margin means percentage per

annum determined in accordance with the following table

Commitment

Pricing Fee/Unused Letter of Eurocurrency Base Rate

Tier Consolidated Leverage Ratio Line Fee Credit Fee Rate Loans Loans

2.50 to 1.0 0.50% 3.75% 3.75% 2.75%

2.50 to 1.0 but 1.75 to 1.0 0.63% 3.50% 3.50% 2.50%

1.75 to 1.0 but 1.0 to 1.0 0.63% 3.25% 3.25% 2.25%

1.0 to 1.0 0.75% 3.00% 3.00% 2.00%

In the event of default the outstanding indebtedness under the facility will bear interest at an additional 2%

The Bank of America Senior Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants including among other things financial

covenants requiring us to not exceed maximum consolidated senior leverage coverage ratio maximum total consolidated leverage

ratio and to maintain minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio The Bank of America Senior Revolving Credit Facility also

restricts the Companys ability subject to certain exceptions to incur indebtedness prepay or amend other indebtedness create liens

make certain fundamental changes including mergers or dissolutions pay dividends and make other payments in respect of capital

stock make certain investments sell assets change its lines of business enter into transactions with affiliates and other corporate

actions

The Company entered into loan and security agreement dated December 18 2009 Fifth Third Credit Facility The facility

initially Lansisted of $50.0 million term loan facility and $5.0 million revolving credit facility The revolving credit facility was

subject to borrowing base limitations The Fifth Third Credit Facility was available to finance the Companys acquisition program and

working capital needs Borrowings under the Fifth Third Credit Facility bore interest at base rate plus 5.0% for base rate loans or at

LIBOR base rate plus 5.5% for LIBOR loans with LIBOR floor of 2.0% The Fifth Third Credit Facility also required the payment

of monthly commitment fee for any availability at rate 0.5% On April 26 2010 the Fifth Third Credit Facility was amended

increasing the term loan facility from $50.0 million to $65.0 million for total facility of $70.0 million On June 23 2010 the Fifth

Third Credit Facility was further amended increasing the term loan facility from $65.0 million to $105.0 million for total facility of

$110.0 million In conjunction with the initial public offering the Fifth Third Facility was repaid in full and terminated In connection

with this early retirement of this facility the Company recognized debt extinguishment costs of approximately $3.2 million fot the

unamortized portion of the loan costs The debt extinguishment costs were recorded as other interest expense in accordance with ASC
470

The Companys previous Bank of America credit facility was repaid in December 2009 with proceeds from the Fifth Third

Credit Facility In connection with this early retirement of debt the Company recognized debt extinguishment costs of approximately

$461000 for the unamortized portion of the loan costs The debt extinguishment costs were recorded as other interest expense
in

accordance with ASC 470

On September 29 2010 our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary UK Independent Medical Services Limited UTCIM entered

into Sales Finance Agreement SFA with Barclays Bank PLC Barclays pursuant to which Barclays will provide UKIM

working capital facility of up to 5000000 subject to the terms and conditions of the SFA The working capital facility bears

discount margin of 2.5% over Base Rate 0.5% rate on December 31 2010 and serves to finance UTKIMs unpaid account receivables

The working capital facility operates on co-terminus and cross-default basis with other facilities provided by Barclays Bank PLC
and with the Bank of America Senior Revolving Credit Facility As of December 31 2010 the Company had $5.0 million outstanding

under the working capital facility resulting in $2.8 million in availability
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During 2009 the Company issued seller debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes payable with an estimated fair

value of approximately $5.5 million relating to certain acquisitions see note These notes are unsecured and subordinated to the

Bank of America Senior Revolving Credit Facility Five notes payable totaling $4.4 million bear interest at 6% and are payable

quarterly with amounts ranging between $50000 and $76000 with maturity dates ranging from August 2011 through March 2013

The remaining balance of the notes payable $1.1 million are noninterest bearing and are payable annually with amounts ranging

between $250000 and $333000 maturing in 2014 The Company made principal payments totaling $392000 during 2009

As of December31 2010 fbture maturities of long-term debt were as follows in thousands

Amount

Year ended December 31

2011 2312
2012 1848

2013 5220

2014 209

2015 267

Total 9856

11 Financial Instruments

The FASB issued ASC 815 which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments ASC 815

requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities and measure those instruments at fair value Derivatives that

do not qualify as hedge must be adjusted to fair value in earnings If the derivative does qualify as hedge under ASC 815 changes

in the fair value will either be offset against the change in fair value of the hedged assets liabilities or firm commitments or

recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings The ineffective portion of

hedges change in fair value will be immediately recognized in earnings

In August 2008 in order to protect against interest rate exposure on its variable-rate debt the Company entered into an

interest rate swap to fix the interest rate applicable to certain of its variable-rate debt The agreement swaps one-month LIBOR for

fixed interest rate of 4.36% with notional amount of $11.7 million $10.5 million and $8.3 million as of December 31 2008 2009

and 2010 respectively The Company did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting underASC 815 thus the difference between its

amortized cost and its fair value resulted in an unrealized lossgain at December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 of $955000 $343000
and $42000 respectively and such amount was reported in other expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of

operations

The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes
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12 Income Taxes

Current

Federal

State

Foreign

Deferred

Federal

State

Foreign

December 31
2008 2009 2010

1913

16 106 285

_________ _________
724

16 110 2922

1174 2169 4120
191 554 616

670

Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Total

Benefit for income taxes

85
_________

1450 2723
1434 2613

5406
2484

Deferred taxes result from temporary differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for fmancial reporting purposes

and such amounts as measured by tax laws and regulations The sources of the temporary differences and their effect on deferred tax

assets and liabilities as of December 31 2009 and 2010 were as follows in thousands

Deferred tax assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Basis difference of intangible assets

Loss on interest rate swap

Net operating loss carryforwards

Shared-based compensation

Other deferred tax assets

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Basis difference of intangible assets

Basis difference of property and equipment

Other deferred tax liabilities

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets liabilities

279 .$ 542

958

Expected tax benefit

Increase decrease in income taxes resulting from State

income taxes net of federal benefit

Non-deductible items

Other

Change in valuation allowance

Income tax benefit

The components of the benefit for income taxes for the period for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 were

as follows in thousands

December 31

2009 2010

Current Noncurrent Current Noncurrent

240

420

699

6198

257

316 51

689

181

2384

75

620

1162

766

1114

8386

204 538
57 157 1094 179
57 436 1094 717
642 1948 68 7669

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S federal statutory rate to income tax benefit for the years ended

December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 were as follows in thousands

December 31
2008 2009 2010

1226 2386 2897

123 234 297
636

74

85 _________

1434 2613 2484
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As of December 31 2009 the Company had federal net operating losses NOL5 On December 31 2009 change in

ownership took place as defined for income tax purposes under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 IRC Section 382 limiting the

annual utilization of the NOL carryforward The Company generated $5.2 million of federal taxable income in the year ended

December 31 2010 fully utilizing the federal NOLs and resulting in federal income taxes payable of approximately $800000 as of

December 31 2010 included in accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet Management believes that it is

more likely than not that the recorded deferred tax assets will be realized

Effective January 2009 the Company adopted the provisions of ASC 740 as it relates to uncertain tax positions This

interpretation prescribes comprehensive model for how company should recognize measure present and disclose in its financial

statements uncertain tax positions that the company has taken or expects to take on tax return ASC 740 states that tax benefit from

an uncertain tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on its technical

merits The tax benefit of qualifying position is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized

upon settlement with taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information

As of the adoption date the total amount of liability for unrecognized tax benefits related to federal and state taxes was

approximately $96000 As of December 31 2009 the corresponding balance of liability for unrecognized tax benefits was

approximately $96000 The Company recorded an additional $80000 liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the year ended

December 31 2010 related to prior year tax positions of an acquired company The Company recognizes interest and penalties

accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense

The following table summarizes the activity related to the unrecognized tax benefits for the year ended December 31 2009

and 2010 dollars in thousands

Balance at January 2009 96

Increase to prior year tax positions

Increase to current year tax positions

Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment

of taxes

Decrease related to settlements
____________

Balance at December 31 2009 96

Increase to prior year tax positions 80

Increase to current year tax positions

Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment

of taxes

Decrease related to settlements
____________

Balance at December 31 2010 176

The Company is no longer subject to U.S federal income or state tax return examinations by tax authorities for tax years

before 2006 and 2005 respectively which periods relate to certain acquired businesses The Company operates in multiple taxing

jurisdictions and faces audits from various tax authorities The Company remains subject to examination until the statute of limitations

expires for the respective tax jurisdiction The Company does not anticipate that the amount of the unrecognized benefit Swill

significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months

Undistributed earnings of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are considered indefinitely reinvested and accordingly no

provision for U.S federal income taxes has been recorded Deferred taxes are provided for earnings outside the United States when

those earnings are not considered indefinitely reinvested

13 Segment and Geographical Information

The Company complies with ASC Topic 280 Segment Reporting ASC Topic 280 ASC Topic 280 which is based on

management approach to segment reporting establishes requirements to report selected segment information quarterly and to report

annually entity-wide disclosures about products major customers and the geographies in which the entity holds material assets and

reports revenue An operating segment is defined as component that engages
in business activities whose operating results are

reviewed by the chief operating decision maker and for which discrete financial information is available Based on the provisions of

ASC Topic 280 the Company has determined that it operates in one segment The Company manages its resources and assesses its

performance on an enterprise-wide basis The Companys product groups qualify for aggregation under ASC Topic 280 due to their

similarities in customer base economic characteristics and the nature of products and services provided
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For the year ended December 31 2009 all of the Companys revenues were generated in the U.S For the year ended

December 31 2010 $147.9 million $9.7 million and $5.9 million of the Companys revenues were generated in the U.S Canada and

the U.K respectively As of December 31 2009 all of the Companys long-lived assets were located in the U.S With the acquisition

of SOMA and Direct IME in June 2010 the Company entered the Canadian market and with the acquisition of UKIIM in September

2010 the Company entered the U.K market As of December 31 2010 total long-lived assets located in the U.S Canada and the U.K

were $139.4 million $26.3 million and $8.8 million respectively

14 Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through the date of this filing and identified the

following items

On February 18 2011 the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of National IME National lIME for

$2.5 million comprised of $2.3 million cash consideration and 11927 shares of the Companys common stock with fair value of

$250000 The National lIME acquisition increased the Companys presence in the Canadian market

On February 28 2011 the Company completed the acquisition of MES Group Inc MES for $215 million The Company

paid total consideration consisting of $175 million in cash 1424501 shares of Company common stock with fair value of $30

million using value of $21.07 per share the closing price of the Companys common stock on February 28 2011 and $10 million

of assumed indebtedness under MES credit facility which was paid off at closing The MES acquisition broadens the Companys

product portfolio customer base and increases the Companys market share in the U.S
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Stockholders

CFO Medical Services P.A

We have audited the statements of operations and cash flows of CEO Medical Services P.A the Predecessor Company for

the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Predecessor Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made

by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audit provides reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the fmancial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the results of operations and

cash flows of CEO Medical Services P.A for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 in conformity with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles

Is KPMG LLP

Atlanta Georgia

October 12 2010
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CFO MEDICAL SERVICES P.A

Predecessor Company

Statement of Operations

Period from

Jannary 2008

to Jnly 13
2008

Revenues 6071647
Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 3756413

Selling general and administrative expenses 2304395

Depreciation and amortization 33080

Total costs and expenses 6093888

Loss from operations 22241

Other expenses net

Interest expense net 10822

Total other expenses net 10822

Loss before income taxes 33063
Income tax expense 2805

Net loss 35868

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CFO MEDICAL SERVICES P.A

Predecessor Company

Statement of Cash Flows

Period from

January 2008

to July 13
2008

Operating activities

Net loss 35868
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 33080

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable net 168823

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 556
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 527566

Net cash provided by operating activities 693045

Financing activities

Principal payment on note payable 48818
Reductions to revolving line of credit facility net 500000

Net cash used in financing activities 548818

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 144227

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 190504

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 334731

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 10822

Cash paid for income taxes 2805

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CFO MEDICAL SERVICES P.A

Predecessor Company

Notes to Financial Statements

Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

CFO Medical Services P.A CFO or the Company was founded in 2001 The Companys independent review services

include medical evaluation programs for group health disability workers compensation automobile and general liability

The Companys main office is located in Roseland New Jersey and primarily serves the states of New Jersey and New York

On July 14 2008 the Company was merged into wholly-owned subsidiary of ExamWorks Inc The Company is

considered to be the predecessor company of ExamWorks Inc

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparatiofi of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fmancial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Management bases its estimates on certain assumptions which

they believe are reasonable in the circumstances and actual results could differ from those estimates The most

significant estimate reflected in these financial statements is the allowance for doubtful accounts

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable consist of amounts owed to the Company for services provided in the normal course of business

and are reported net of allowance for doubtful accounts Generally no collateral is received from customers and

additions to the allowance are based on ongoing credit evaluations of customers with general credit experience being

within the range of managements expectations Accounts are reviewed regularly for collectibility and those deemed

uncollectible are written off

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and establishes an allowance for doubtful

accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers historical trends and other

information For the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 there was no customer that accounted for greater

than 10% of revenues

Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost Depreciation is computed using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets and accelerated methods for income tax purpc5ses

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their expected useful life or the remaining lease term

Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred Depreciation expense was $33080 for the period from

January 2008 to July 13 2008
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue related to lIMEs and administrative support services is recognized at the time services have been performed

and the report is shipped to the end user The Company believes that recognizing revenue at the time the report is

shipped is appropriate because the Companys revenue policies meet the following four criteria in accordance with

ASC 605-10-525 Revenue Recognition Overall persuasive evidence that arrangement exists ii shipment has

occurred iiithe price is fixed and determinable and iv collectability is reasonably assured

Revenue related to other lIME services including litigation support services and medical record retrieval services

where no report is generated is recognized at the time the service is performed The Company believes that

recognizing revenue at the time the service is performed is appropriate because the Companys revenue policies

meet the following four criteria in accordance with ASC 605-10-525 persuasive evidence that arrangement

exists ii services have been rendered iiithe price is fixed and determinable and iv collectability is reasonably

assured

Costs ofRevenues

Costs of revenues are comprised of fees paid to members of the Companys medical panel other direct costs

including transcription film and medical record obtainment and transportation and other indirect costs including

labor and overhead related to the generation of revenues

Marketing and Advertising Costs

Marketing and advertising costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $52272 for the period from January

2008 to July 13 2008

Ii Income Taxes

The Company has elected with the Internal Revenue Service to be taxed as an corporation Accordingly the

Company is not liable to pay federal income taxes Rather the stockholders separately account for their pro rata

share of corporate items of income deduction loss and credits in their personal income tax returns Items affecting

the stockholders individual income tax liahility are separately stated The Company is subject to the state tax in

New Jersey and in New York Such tax provisions are classified in income tax expense and were $2805 for the

period from January 2008 to July 13 2008

Leases

The Company leases office space under noncancelable operating leases expiring May 31 2011 Related rent expense

for the Companys offices $136906 for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008

Subsequent Eveut

The Company has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through the date of this filing and identified the

following item

On July 14 2008 the Company merged into wholly-owned subsidiary of ExamWorks Inc
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Exhibit 3.1

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

EXAMWORKS GROUP INC

EXAMWORKS GROUP INC corporation organized and existing under the General Corporation Law of the

State of Delaware does hereby certify as follows

The name of the corporation is ExamWorks Group Inc

The date of filing of its original Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of

Delaware was June 22 2010 under the name of ExamWorks Group Inc

The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation is hereby amended and restated

to read as follows

FIRST The name of the corporation is ExamWorks Group Inc hereinafter referred to as the

Corporation

SECOND The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is the Corporation

Trust Center 1209 Orange Street Wilmington Delaware 19801 in the County of New Castle The name of the registered agent at

that address is The Corporation Trust Company

THIRD The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporation

may be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law

FOURTH The Corporation is authorized to issue two classes of stock to be designated respectively

Common Stock and Preferred Stock The total number of shares of all classes of capital stock which the Corporation shall have

authority to issue is 300000000 of which 250000000 shares shall be Common Stock having par value of 50.0001 per share the

Common Stock and 50000000 shares shall be Preferred Stock having par value of 50.0001 per share the Preferred Stock

The board of directors or any authorized committee thereof is authorized to the fullest

extent permitted by law to provide for the issuance of shares of Preferred Stock in series and by filing certificate pursuant to the

applicable law of the State of Delaware such certificate being hereinafter referred to as Preferred Stock Designation to establish

from time to time the number of shares to be included in each such series and to fix the designation powers preferences and rights of

the shares of each such series and any qualifications limitations or restrictions thereof Except as otherwise provided in any Preferred

Stock Designation the number of authorized shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock may from time to time be increased or

decreased but not below the number of shares of such class outstanding by the affirmative vote of majority in voting power of the

outstanding capital of the Corporation irrespective of the provisions of Section 242b2 of the Delaware General Corporation Law



Each outstanding share of Common Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote on

each matter properly submitted to the stockholders of the Corporation for their vote provided however that except as otherwise

required by law holders of Common Stock shall not be entitled to vote on any amendment to this Amended and Restated Certificate

of Incorporation including any Preferred Stock Designation that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of

Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled either separately or together as class with the holders of one or

more other such series to vote thereon pursuant to this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation including any Preferred

Stock Designation

FIFTH The following provisions are inserted for the management of the business and the conduct of the

affairs of the Corporation and for further definition limitation and regulation of the powers of the Corporation and of its directors and

stockholders

The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of

the board of directors

The directors of the Corporation need not be elected by written ballot unless the

Corporations Bylaws so provide

Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock any action required or

permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation must be effected at duly called annual or special meeting of

stockholders of the Corporation and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such stockholders

Special meetings of stockholders of the Corporation may be called only by the board of

directors acting pursuant to resolution adopted by majority of the directors then in office

Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum the

Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought

on behalf of the Corporation ii any action asserting claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any director officer or other

employee of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporations stockholders iiiany action asserting claim arising pursuant to

any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law or iv any action asserting claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to

have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Article FIFTH Section



SIXTH Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional

directors under specified circumstances the number of directors shall be fixed from time to time exclusively by the board of directors

pursuant to resolution adopted by majority of the directors then in office The directors other than those who may be elected by the

holders of any series of Preferred Stock under specified circumstances shall be divided into three classes designated as Class Class

II and Class Ill respectively Directors shall initially be assigned to each class in accordance with resolution or resolutions adopted

by majority of the directors then in office Each class shall consist as nearly as may be possible of one-third of the total number of

directors constituting the entire board of directors The term of office of the Class directors shall expire at the Corporations first

annual meeting of stockholders held after the closing of the Corporations initial public offering the term of office of the Class II

directors shall expire at the Corporations second annual meeting of stockholders held after the closing of the Corporations initial

public offering and the term of office of the Class Ill directors shall expire at the Corporations third annual meeting of stockholders

held after the closing of the Corporations initial public offering with each director to hold office until his or her successor shall have

been duly elected and qualified At each annual meeting of stockholders directors elected to succeed those directors whose terms

expire shall be elected for term of office to expire at the third succeeding annual meeting of stockholders after their election with

each director to hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified

Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding any

and all vacancies in the board of directors however occurring including without limitation by reason of an increase in the size of the

board of directors or the death resignation disqualification or removal of director shall unless otherwise required by law or by

resolution of the board of directors be filled only by majority vote of the remaining directors then in office even if less than

quorum and not by stockholders and directors so chosen shall serve for term expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders at

which the term of office of the class to which they have been chosen expires or until such directors successor shall have been duly

elected and qualified No decrease in the authorized number of directors shall shorten the term of any incumbent director In the event

of vacancy in the board of directors the remaining directors then in office except as otherwise provided by law shall exercise the

powers of the fhll board of directors until the vacancy is filled

Advance notice of stockholder nominations for the election of directors and of business

to be brought by stockholders before any meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation shall be given in the manner provided in the

Bylaws of the Corporation

Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding any

director or the entire board of directors may be removed from office at any time but only for cause and only by the affirmative vote

of the holders of at least majority of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation then

entitled to vote at an election of directors voting together as single class At least forty-five 45 days prior to any annual or special

meeting of stockholders at which it is proposed that any director be removed from office written notice of such proposed removal and

the alleged grounds thereof shall be sent to the director whose removal will be considered at the meeting



SEVENTH Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock that may come into existence

from time to time the board of directors is expressly empowered to adopt amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation Any

adoption amendment or repeal of the Bylaws of the Corporation by the board of directors shall require the approval of majority of

the directors then in office The stockholders shall also have power to adopt amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation provided

however that in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or series of stock of the Corporation required by law or by this

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent 66-

2/3% of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the

election of directors voting together as single class shall be required to adopt amend or repeal any provision of the Bylaws of the

Corporation

EIGHTH director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders

for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as director except for liability for any breach of the directors duty of loyalty

to the Corporation or its stockholders ii for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or

knowing violation of law iii under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law or iv for any transaction from which the

director derived an improper personal benefit If the Delaware General Corporation Law is amended after the effective date of this

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to authorize corporate action ftirther eliminating or limiting the personal liability

of directors then the liability of director of the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the

Delaware General Corporation Law as so amended

Neither any amendment nor repeal nor modification of this Article EIGHTH nor the adoption of any provision of

this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article EIGHTH shall eliminate reduce or otherwise

adversely affect any limitation on the personal liability of director of the Corporation existing at the time of such amendment repeal

modification or adoption of such an inconsistent provision with respect to events occurring prior to the date of such amendment

repeal modification or adoption

NINTH The Corporation reserves the right to amend or repeal any provision contained in this Amended and

Restated Certificate of Incorporation in the manner prescribed by the laws of the State of Delaware and all rights conferred upon
stockholders are granted subject to this reservation provided however that notwithstanding any other provision of this Amended and

Restated Certificate of Incorporation or any provision of law that might otherwise permit lesser vote or no vote but th addition to

any vote of the holders of any class or series of the stock of this Corporation required by law or by this Amended and Restated

Certificate of Incorporation the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent 66-2/3% of the voting

power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors

voting together as single class shall be required to amend or repeal this Article NINTH Sections or of Article FIFTH
Article SIXTH Article SEVENTH or Article EIGHTH

This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly approved by the board of directors

of the Corporation



This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly adopted in accordance with the

provisions of Sections 242 and 245 of the Delaware General Corporation Law by the board of directors and the stockholders of the

Corporation



IN WITNESS WFIEREOF said Corporation has caused this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to

be signed by its duly authorized officer and the foregoing facts stated herein are true and correct

Dated November 2010 ExamWorks Group Inc

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Signature Page to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation



Exhibit 3.2

EXAMWORKS GROUP INC

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

ARTICLE STOCKHOLDERS

Section Annual Meeting

An annual meeting of the stockholders of ExamWorks Group Inc the Corporation for the election of directors

to succeed those whose terms expire and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting in

accordance with Section of this Article shall be held at such place on such date and at such time as the Board of Directors of the

Corporation the Board shall each year fix which date shall be within thirteen 13 months of the last annual meeting of

stockholders The Board may in its sole discretion determine that meeting of stockholders shall not be held at any place but may
instead be held solely by means of remote communication as authorized by Section 21 1a2 of the General Corporation Law of the

State of Delaware the DGCL
Section Advance Notice Provisions for Stockholder Proposals

At an annual meeting of the stockholders only such business shall be conducted as shall have been

properly brought before the meeting To be properly brought before an annual meeting business must be brought before the

meeting by the Corporation and specified in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of the Board ii brought before the

meeting by or at the direction of the Board or iii otherwise properly brought before the meeting by stockholder who was

stockholder of record of the Corporation and with respect to any beneficial owner if different on whose behalf such business is

proposed only if such beneficial owner was the beneficial owner of shares of the Corporation both at the time of giving the notice

provided for in this Section and at the time of the meeting is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with this

Section as to such business Except for proposals properly made in accordance with Rule 14a-8 or any successor thereto under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and the rules and regulations thereunder as so amended and inclusive of such rules and

regulations the Exchange Act and included in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of the Board the foregoing clause

iii shall be the exclusive means for stockholder to propose business to be brought before an annual meeting of the stockholders

Stockholders shall not be permifted to propose business to be brought before special meeting of the stockholders and the only

matters that may be brought before special meeting are the matters specified in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of

the Board pursuant to Section of this Article Stockholders seeking to nominate persons for election to the Board must comply with

Section of this Article and this Section shall not be applicable to nominations except as expressly provided in Section of this

Article



Without qualification for business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by stockholder the

stockholder must provide Timely Notice as defined below thereof in writing and in proper form to the Secretary of the

Corporation and ii provide any updates or supplements to such notice at the times and in the forms required by this Section To be

timely stockholders notice must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not

less than sixty 60 days nor more than ninety 90 days prior to the one 1-year anniversary of the preceding years annual meeting

provided however that if the date of the annual meeting is more than thirty 30 days before or more than sixty 60 days after such

anniversary date notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered or mailed and received not later than the sixtieth 60th

day prior to such annual meeting or if later the tenth 10th day following the day on which public disclosure of the date of such

annual meeting was first made such notice within such time periods Timely Notice In no event shall any adjournment or

postponement of an annual meeting or the announcement thereof commence new time period for the giving of Timely Notice as

described above

To be in proper form for purposes of this Section stockholders notice to the Secretary of the

Corporation shall set forth

As to each Proposing Person as defined below the name and address of such

Proposing Person including if applicable the name and address that appear on the Corporations books and records and the

class or series and number of shares of the Corporation that are directly or indirectly owned of record or beneficially owned within

the meaning of Rule 3d-3 under the Exchange Act by such Proposing Person except that such Proposing Person shall in all events

be deemed to beneficially own any shares of any class or series of the Corporation as to which such Proposing Person has right to

acquire beneficial ownership at any time in the future the disclosures to be made pursuant to the foregoing clauses and are

referred to as StockhQlder Information

ii As to each Proposing Person any derivative swap or other transaction or series of

transactions engaged in directly or indirectly by such Proposing Person the purpose or effect of which is to give such Proposing

Person economic risk similar to ownership of shares of any class or series of the Corporation including due to the fact that the value

of such derivative swap or other transactions are determined by reference to the price value or volatility of any shares of any class or

series of the Corporation or which derivative swap or other transactions provide directly or indirectly the opportunity to profit from

any increase in the price or value of shares of any class or series of the Corporation Synthetic Equity Interests which Synthetic

Equity Interests shall be disclosed without regard to whether the derivative swap or other transactions convey any voting rights in

such shares to such Proposing Person the derivative swap or other transactions are repAired to be or are capable of being sealed

through delivery of such shares or such Proposing Person may have entered into other transactions that hedge or mitigate the

economic effect of such derivative swap or other transactions any proxy other than revocable proxy or consent given in

response to solicitation made pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14a of the Exchange Act by way of solicitation

statement filed on Schedule 14A agreement arrangement understanding or relationship pursuant to which such Proposing Person

has or shares right to vote any shares of any class or series of the Corporation any agreement arrangement understanding or

relationship including any repurchase or similar so-called stock borrowing agreement or arrangement engaged in directly or

indirectly by such Proposing Person the purpose or effect of which is to mitigate loss to reduce the economic risk of ownership or

otherwise of shares of any class or series of the Corporation by manage the risk of share price changes for or increase or decrease

the voting power of sæch Proposing Person with respect to the shares of any class or series of the Corporation or which provides

directly or indirectly the opportunity to profit from any decrease in the price or value of the shares of any class or series of the

Corporation Short Interests any rights to dividends on the shares of any class or series of the Corporation owned beneficially

by such Proposing Person that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Corporation any performance related

fees other than an asset based fee that such Proposing Person is entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the price or value of

shares of any class or series of the Corporation or any Synthetic Equity Interests or Short Interests if any and any other

information relating to such Proposing Person that would be required to be disclosed in proxy statement or other filing required to be

made in connection with solicitations of proxies or consents by such Proposing Person in support of the business proposed to be

brought before the meeting pursuant to Section 14a of the Exchange Act the disclosures to be made pursuant to the foregoing

clauses through are referred to as Disclosable Interests provided however that Disclosable Interests shall not include any

such disclosures with respect to the ordinary course business activities of any broker dealer commercial bank trust company or other

nominee who is Proposing Person solely as result of being the stockholder directed to prepare and submit the notice required by

these Bylaws on behalf of beneficial owner and
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iii As to each item of business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual

meeting reasonably brief description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting the reasons for conducting

such business at the annual meeting and any material interest in such business of each Proposing Person the text of the proposal or

business including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes proposal to

amend the Bylaws of the Corporation the language of the proposed amendment and reasonably detailed description of all

agreements arrangements and understandings between or among any of the Proposing Persons or between or among any

Proposing Person and any other person or entity including their names in connection with the proposal of such business by such

stockholder

iv For purposes of this Section the term Proposing Person shall mean the

stockholder providing the notice of business proposed to be brought before an annual meeting ii the beneficial owner or beneficial

owners if different on whose behalf the notice of the business proposed to be brought before the annual meeting is made iiiany

affiliate or associate each within the meaning of Rule 2b-2 under the Exchange Act for purposes of these Bylaws of such

stockholder or beneficial owner and iv any other person with whom such stockholder or beneficial owner or any of their respective

affiliates or associates is Acting in Concert as defined below

person shall be deemed to be Acting in Concert with another person for purposes of

these Bylaws if such person knowingly acts whether or not pursuant to an express agreement arrangement or understanding in

concert with or towards common goal relating to the management governance or control of the Corporation in parallel with such

other person where each person is conscious of the other persons conduct or intent and this awareness is an element in their

decision-making processes and at least one additional factor suggests that such persons intend to act in concert or in parallel

which such additional factors may include without limitation exchanging information whether publicly or privately attending

meetings conducting discussions or making or soliciting invitations to act in concert or in parallel provided that
person

shall not

be deemed to be Acting in Concert with any other person solely as result of the solicitation or receipt of revocable proxies or

consents from such other person in response to solicitation made pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14a of the Exchange

Act by way of proxy or consent solicitation statement filed on Schedule 14A person Acting in Concert with another person shall

be deemed to be Acting in Concert with any third party who is also Acting in Concert with such other person

-3-



stockholder providing notice of business proposed to be brought before an annual meeting shall fUrther

update and supplement such notice if necessary so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice pursuant to

this Section shall be true and correct as of the record date for the meeting and as of the date that is ten 10 business days prior to the

meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof and such update and supplement shall be delivered to or mailed and received

by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than five business days afier the

recor date for the meeting in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the record date and not later than

eight business days prior to the date for the meeting or if practicable any adjournment or postponement thereof and if not

practicable on the first practicable date prior to the date to which the meeting has been adjourned or postponed in the case of the

update and supplement required to be made as of ten 10 business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement

thereof

Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary no business shall be conducted at an annual

meeting except in accordance with this Section The chairperson of the meeting shall if the facts warrant determine that the

business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with this Section and if he or she should so determine he or

she shall so declare to the meeting and any such business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted

This Section is expressly intended to apply to any business proposed to be brought before an annual

meeting of stockholders other than any proposal made pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act or any successor thereto In

addition to the requirements of this Section with respect to any business proposed to be brought before an annual meeting each

Proposing Person shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act with respect to any such business provided

however that references in these Bylaws to the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder are not intended to

and shall not limit the requirements of these Bylaws applicable to nominations or proposals or any other business to be considered

pursuant to these Bylaws regardless of the stockholders intent to utilize Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act or any successor

thereto Nothing in this Section shall be deemed to affect the rights of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the

Corporations proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act or any successor thereto
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For purposes of these Bylaws public disclosure shall mean disclosure in
press release reported by

national news service or in document publicly filed by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to

Sections 13 14 or 15d of the Exchange Act

Section Advance Notice Provisions for Nominations of Directors

Nominations of any person for election to the Board at an annual meeting or at special meeting but only

if the election of directors is matter specified in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of the Board as set forth in Section

of this Article may be made at such meeting only by or at the direction of the Board including by any committee or persons

appointed by the Board or ii by stockholder who was stockholder of record of the Corporation and with respect to any

beneficial owner if different on whose behalf such nomination is proposed to be made only if such beneficial owner was the

beneficial owner of shares of the Corporation both at the lime of giving the notice provided for in this Section and at the time of the

meeting is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with this Section as to such nomination The foregoing clause

ii shall be the exclusive means for stockholder to make any nomination of person or persons for election to the Board at an

annual meeting or special meeting

Without qualification for stockholder to make any nomination of person or persons for election to the

Board at an annual meeting the stockholder must provide Timely Notice as defined in Section 22 of this Article thereof in

writing and in proper fonn to the Secretary of the Corporation and ii provide any updates or supplements to such notice at the times

and in the forms required by this Section Without qualification if the election of directors is matter specified in the notice of

meeting given by or at the direction of the Board as set forth in Section of this Article then for stockholder to make any

nomination of person or persons for election to the Board at special meeting the stockholder must provide timely notice thereof

in writing and in proper form to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation and ii provide

any updates or supplements to such notice at the times and in the forms required by this Section To be timely stockholders notice

for nominations to be made at special meeting must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the

Corporation not earlier than the ninetieth 90th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the sixtieth 60th day prior to

such special meeting or if later the tenth 10th day following the day on which public disclosure as defined in Section 27 of this

Article of the date of such special meeting was first made In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting

or special meeting or the announcement thereof commence new time period for the giving of stockholders notice as described

above

To be in proper form for purposes of this Section stockholders notice to the Secretary of the

Corporation shall set forth

As to each Nominating Person as defined below the Stockholder Information as

defined in Section 23i of this Article except that for purposes of this Section the term Nominating Person shall be substituted

for the term Proposing Person in all places it appears in Section 23i of this Article
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ii As to each Nominating Person any Disciosable Interests as defmed in Section 23ii of

this Article except that for purposes of this Section of this Article the term Nominating Person shall be substituted for the term

Proposing Person in all places it appears in Section 23ii of this Article and the disclosure in clause of Section 23ii of this

Article shall be made with respect to the election of directors at the meeting

iii As to each person whom Nominating Person proposes to nominate for election as

director all information with respect to such proposed nominee that would be required to be set forth in stockholders notice

pursuant to this Section if such proposed nominee were Nominating Person all information relating to such proposed nominee

that is required to be disclosed in proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for

election of directors in contested election pursuant to Section 14a under the Exchange Act including such proposed nominees

wriften consent to being named in the proxy statement as nominee and to serving as director if elected description of all

direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements arrangements and understandings during the past three

years and any other material relationships between or among any Nominating Person on the one hand and each proposed nominee

his or her respective affiliates and associates and any other persons with whom such proposed nominee or any of his or her respective

affiliates and associates is Acting in Concert as defined in Section 23v of this Article on the other hand including without

limitation all information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 under Regulation S-K if such Nominating

Person were the registrant for purposes of such rule and the proposed nominee were director or executive officer of such registrant

and completed and signed questionnaire representation and agreement as provided in Section 36 of this Article

iv The Corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information

as may reasonably be required by the Corporation to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an

independent director of the Corporation or that could be material to reasonable stockholders understanding of the independence

or lack of independence of such proposed nominee and

For purposes of this Section the term Nominating Person shall mean the

stockholder providing the notice of the nomination proposed to be made at the meeting the beneficial owner or beneficial owners

if different on whose behalf the notice of the nomination proposed to be made at the meeting is made any affiliate or associate of

such stockholder or beneficial owner and any other person with whom such stockholder or such beneficial owner or any of their

respective affiliates or associates is Acting in Concert

stockholder providing notice of any nomination proposed to be made at meeting shall further update

and supplement such notice if necessary so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice pursuant to this

Section shall be true and correct as of the record date for the meeting and as of the date that is ten 10 business days prior to the

meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof and such update and supplement shall be delivered to or mailed and received

by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than five business days after the

record date for the meeting in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the record date and not later than

eight business days prior to the date for the meeting or if practicable any adjournment or postponement thereof and if not

practicable on the first practicable date prior to the date to which the meeting has been adjourned or postponed in the case of the

update and supplement required to be made as of ten 10 business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement

thereof
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Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary no person shall be eligible for election as

director of the Corporation unless nominated in accordance with this Section The chairperson of the meeting shall if the facts

warrant determine that nomination was not properly made in accordance with this Section and if he or she should so determine

he or she shall so declare such determination to the meeting and the defective nomination shall be disregarded

To be eligible to be nominee for election as director of the Corporation the proposed nominee must

deliver in accordance with the time periods prescribed for delivery of notice under this Section to the Secretary of the Corporation

at the principal executive offices of the Corporation written questionnaire with respect to the background and qualification of such

proposed nominee which questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary of the Corporation upon written request and written

representation and agreement in form provided by the Secretary of the Corporation upon written request that such proposed nominee

is not and will not become party to any agreement arrangement or understanding with and has not given any commitment or

assurance to any person or entity as to how such proposed nominee if elected as director of the Corporation will act or vote on any

issue or question Voting Commitment that has not been disclosed to the Corporation or any Voting Commitment that could

limit or interfere with such proposed nominees ability to comply if elected as director of the Corporation with such proposed

nominees fiduciary duties under applicable law ii is not and will not become party to any agreement arrangement or

understanding with any person or entity other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation reimbursement

or indemnification in connection with service or action as director that has not been disclosed to the Corporation and iii in such

proposed nominees individual capacity and on behalf of the stockholder or the beneficial owner if different on whose behalf the

nomination is made would be in compliance if elected to director of the Corporation and will comply with applicable publicly

disclosed corporate governance conflict of interest confidentiality and stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines of the

Corporation

In addition to the requirements of this Section with respect to any nomination proposed to be made at

meeting each Nominating Person shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act with respect to any such

nominations provided however that references in these Bylaws to the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations promulgated

thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the requirements of these Bylaws applicable to nominations or proposals or any other

business to be considered pursuant to these Bylaws regardless of the stockholders intent to utilize Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act

or any successor thereto Nothing in this Section of this Article shall be deemed to affect the rights of stockholders to request

inclusion of proposals in the Corporations proxy statement pursuant to Rule l4a-8 under the Exchange Act or any successor thereto
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Section Special Meetings

Special meetings of the stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by the Board

acting pursuant to resolution adopted by majority of the directors then in office but such special meetings may not be called by

any other person or persons The Board may postpone or reschedule any previously scheduled special meeting

Only such business shall be conducted at special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought

before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board Nominations of persons for election to the Board may be made at special

meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected only by or at the direction of the Board or provided that the Board

has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting by any stockholder of the Corporation who complies with the

requirements set forth in Section of this Article In addition to the requirements of this Section stockholder shall comply with

all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act with respect to matters set forth in this Section provided however that references

in these Bylaws to the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the

requirements of these Bylaws applicable to nominations or proposals or any other business to be considered pursuant to these Bylaws

regardless of the stockholders intent to utilize Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act or any successor thereto Nothing in this Section

shall be deemed to affect the rights of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporations proxy statement pursuant

to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act or any successor thereto

Section Notice of Meetings

Except as otherwise provided by law notice of each meeting of stockholders whether annual or special shall be

given not less than ten 10 days nor more than sixty 60 days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at

such meeting Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given to stockholders any notice shall be effective if

given by form of electronic transmission consented to in manner consistent with the DGCL by the stockholder to whom the

notice is given The notices of all meetings shall state the place if any date and time of the meeting and the means of remote

communications if any by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting

The notice of special meeting shall state in addition the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called If notice is given by

mail such notice shall be deemed given when deposited in the United States mail postage prepaid directed to the stockholder at such

stockholders address as it appears on the records of the Corporation If notice is given by electronic transmission such notice shall be

deemed given at the time specified in Section 232 of the DGCL An affidavit of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the

Corporation or of the transfer agent or any other agent of the Corporation that the notice has been given by mail or by form of

electronic transmission as applicable shall in the absence of fraud be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein
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Section Quorum and Adjournment

At any meeting of the stockholders the holders of majority in voting power of the stock issued and outstanding

and entitled to vote at the meeting present in person present by any means of remote communication authorized by the Board in its

sole discretion or represented by proxy shall constitute quorum for all purposes unless or except to the extent that the presence of

larger number may be required by law the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws Where separate vote by class or classes or

series is required majority of the voting power of the shares of such class or classes or series present in person present by any

means of remote communication authorized by the Board in its sole discretion or represented by proxy shall constitute quorum

entitled to take action with respect to that vote on that matter quorum once established at meeting shall not be broken by the

withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than quorum

If quorum shall not be present or represented at any annual or special meeting of the stockholders the chairperson

of the meeting or the holders of majority in voting power of the shares of stock of the Corporation which are entitled to vote at the

meeting and are present in person present by any means of remote communication authorized by the Board in its sole discretion or

represented by proxy shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time until quorum is present or represented When

meeting is adjourned to another time or place notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place if any thereof

and the means of remote communications if any by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and

vote at such adjourned meeting are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken provided however that if the date of

any adjourned meeting is more than thirty 30 days after the date for which the meeting was originally noticed or if new record date

is fixed for the adjourned meeting notice of the place if any date and time of the adjourned meeting and the means of remote

communications if any by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in
person

and vote at such adjourned

meeting shall be given in conformity herewith At any adjourned meeting any business may be transacted which might have been

transacted at the original meeting

Section Organization

Such person as the Board may have designated or jn the absence of such person the Chairperson of the Board or

in his or her absence the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation or in his or her absence such person as may be chosen by the

holders of majority in voting power of the of stock of the Corporation which are entitled to vote at the meeting and are present in

person present by any means of remote communication authorized by the Board in its sole discretion or represented by proxy shall

call to order any meeting of the stockholders and act as chairperson of the meeting In the absence of the Secretary of the Corporation

the secretary of the meeting shall be such person as the chairperson of the meeting appoints

Section Conduct of Business

The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of business and the procedure at the

meeting including such regulation of the manner of voting and the conduct of discussion as seem to him or her in order The

chairperson of the meeting shall have the power to adjourn the meeting for any reason to another place if any date and time The date

and time of the opening and closing of the polls for each matter upon which the stockholders will vote at the meeting shall be

announced at the meeting
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Section Voting

The stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders shall be determined in accordance with the

provisions of Section 11 of this Article Section 217 relating to voting rights of fiduciaries pledgors and joint owners of stock and

Section 218 relating to voting trusts and other voting agreements of the DGCL

Except as may he otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws each stockholder voting

shall be entitled to one vote for each share of capital stock of the Corporation held by such stockholder

At all meetings of stockholders for the election of directors at which quorum is present plurality of the votes cast

shall be sufficient to elect director All other elections and questions presented to the stockholders at meeting at which quorum is

present shall unless otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation these Bylaws the rules or regulations of any stock

exchange applicable to the Corporation or applicable law or pursuant to any regulation applicable to the Corporation or its securities

be decided by the affirmative vote of the holders of majority in voting power of the shares of stock of the Corporation which are

entitled to vote at the meeting and are present in person present by any means of remote communication authorized by the Board in its

sole discretion or represented by proxy

Section 10 Stockholder Action by Wriften Consent

Subject to the rights of the holders of the shares of any series of Preferred Stock or any other class of stock or series

thereof having preference over the Common Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation any action required or permitted to be taken

by the stockholders of the Corporation must be effected at duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation

and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such stockholders

Section 11 Record Date

In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of

stockholders or any adjournment thereof or to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights or to

exercise any rights in respect of any change conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action the Board

may except as otherwise required by law fix record date which record date shall not precede the date on which the resolution fixing

the record date is adopted and which record date shall not be more than sixty 60 nor less than ten 10 days before the date of any

meeting of stockholders nor more than sixty 60 days prior to the time for such other action as hereinbefore described provided

however that if no record date is fixed by the Board the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at

meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given or if notice is

waived at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held and for determining stockholders

entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of rights or to exercise any rights of change conversion

or exchange of stock or for any other purpose the record date shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts

resolution relating thereto
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determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at meeting of stockholders shall apply to

any adjournment of the meeting provided however that the Board may fix new record date for the adjourned meeting

Section 12 Proxies and Voting

Each stockholder entitled to vote at meeting of stockholders may authorize another person or persons to act for

such stockholder by proxy authorized by an instrument in writing or by transmission permitted by law filed in accordance with the

procedure established for the meeting but no such proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date unless the

proxy provides for longer period The revocability of proxy that states on its face that it is irrevocable shall be governed by the

provisions of Section 212 of the DGCL proxy may be in the form of telegram cablegram or other means of electronic

transmission which sets forth or is submitted with information from which it can be determined that the telegram cablegram or other

means of electronic transmission was authorized by the stockholder

Section 13 Stock List

The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the Corporation shall prepare and make at least ten 10 days

before every meeting of stockholders complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting arranged in alphabetical order

and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder The Corporation

shall not be required to include electronic mail addresses or other electronic contact information on such list Such list shall be
open to

the examination of any stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting for period of at least ten 10 days prior to the meeting

on reasonably accessible electronic network provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the

notice of the meeting or ii during ordinary business hours at the Corjorations principal executive office In the event that the

Corporation determines to make the list available on an electronic network the Corporation may take reasonable steps to ensure that

such information is available only to stockholders of the Corporation If the meeting is to be held at place then the list shall be

produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof and may be inspected by any stockholder who is

present If the meeting is to be held solely by means of remote communication then the list shall also be open to the examination of

any stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on reasonably accessible electronic network and the information required to

access such list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting Such list shall presumptively determine the identity of the

stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting and the number of shares held by each of them

Section 14 Inspectors of Election

The Corporation shall in advance of any meeting of stockholders appoint one or three inspectors of election

to act at the meeting or its adjournment and make written report thereof The Corporation may designate one or more alternate

inspectors of election to replace any inspector who fails to act If no inspector or alternate is able to act at meeting of stockholders

the person presiding at the meeting may and to the extent required by law shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the

meeting Each inspector before entering upon the discharge of his or her duties shall take and sign an oath faithfhlly to execute the

duties of inspector with strict impartiality in good faith and according to the best of his or her ability Every vote taken by ballots

shall be counted by duly appointed inspector or inspectors of election If there are three inspectors of election the decision act or

certificate of majority is effective in all respects as the decision act or certificate of all Any report or certificate made by the

inspector or inspectors of election is prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein
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ARTICLE II- DIRECTORS

Section Powers

Subject to the provisions of the DGCL and any limitations in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws

relating to action required to be approved by the stockholders or by the outstanding shares the business and affairs of the Corporation

shall be managed and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the direction of the Board

Section Number of Directors

The authorized number of directors shall be determined from time to time exclusively by resolution of the Board

provided the Board shall consist of at least one member No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of

removing any director before that directors term of office expires

Section Election qualification and Term of Office of Directors

Except as provided in Section of this Article II each director including director elected to fill vacancy shall

hold office until the expiration of the term for which elected and until such directors successor is elected and qualified or until such

directors earlier death resignation or removal Directors need not be stockholders unless so required by the Certificate of

Incorporation or these Bylaws The Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws may prescribe other qualifications for directors

If so provided in the Certificate of Incorporation the directors of the Corporation shall be divided into three

classes

Section Resignation and Vacancies

Any director may resign at any time upon notice given in writing or by electronic transmission to the Chairperson of

the Board CEO or Secretary of the Corporation such resignation to specifS whether it will be effective at particular time upon

receipt or at the pleasure of the Board If no such specification is made it shall be deemed effective at the pleasure of the Board When

one or more directors so resigns and the resignation is effective at future date majority of the directors then in office including

those who have so resigned shall have power to fill such vacancy or vacancies the vote thereon to take effect when such resignation

or resignations shall become effective and each director so chosen shall hold office as provided in this Section in the filling of other

vacancies
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Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws any and all vacancies however

occurring including without limit by reason of an increase in the authorized number of directors or the death resignation

disqualification or removal may be filled by majority of the directors then in office although less than quorum or by sole

remaining director and not by stockholders and each director so chosen shall hold office until the next annual meeting and until his

or her successor is duly elected and qualified If the directors are divided into classes person so elected by the directors then in

office to fill vacancy or newly created directorship shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director shall

have been chosen and until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified

Section Place of Meetings Meetings by Telephone

The Board may hold meetings both regular and special either within or outside the State of Delaware

Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws members of the Board or any

committee designated by the Board may participate in meeting of the Board or any committee by means of conference telephone

or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other and such

participation in meeting pursuant to this Section shall constitute presence in person at the meeting

Section Regular Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time

be determined by the Board

Section Special Meetings Notice

Special meetings of the Board for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by the chairperson of the

Board the chief executive officer or majority of the authorized number of directors

Notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be

delivered personally by hand by courier or by telephone

ii sent by United States first-class mail postage prepaid

iii sent by facsimile or

iv sent by electronic mail

directed to each director at that directors address telephone number facsimile number or electronic mail address as the case may be

as shown on the Corporations records
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If the notice is delivered personally by hand by courier or by telephone ii sent by facsimile or iii sent by

electronic mail it shall be delivered or sent at least twenty-four 24 hours before the time of the holding of the meeting If the notice

is sent by United States mail it shall be deposited in the United States mail at least four days before the time of the holding of the

meeting Any oral notice may be communicated to the director The notice need not specify the place of the meeting if the meeting is

to be held at the Corporations principal executive office nor the
purpose

of the meeting

Section Conduct of Business

At any meeting of the Board business shall be transacted in such order and manner as the Board may from time to

time determine

Section Quorum

At all meetings of the Board majority of the authorized number of directors shall constitute quorum for the

transaction of business The vote of majority of the directors present at any meeting at which quorum is present shall be the act of

the Board except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws If quorum is

not present at any meeting of the Board then the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time without notice

other than announcement at the meeting until quorum is present

meeting at which quorum is initially present may continue to transact business notwithstanding the withdrawal

of directors if any action taken is approved by at least majority of the required quorum for that meeting

Section 10 Board Action by Written Consent Without Meeting

Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws any action required or permitted to

be taken at any meeting of the Board or of any committee thereof may be taken without meeting if all members of the Board or

committee as the case may be consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission and the writing or writings or electronic

transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee Such filing shall be in paper form

if the minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form

Section 11 Fees and Compensation of Directors

Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws the Board shall have the authority to

fix the compensation of directors The directors may be paid their expenses if any of attendance at each meeting of the Board
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Section 12 Removal of Directors

Except as otherwise provided by the DGCL the Board or any individual director may be removed from office at any

time but only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least majority of the voting power of all of the then

outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation then entitled to vote at an election of directors voting together as single class

At least forty-five 45 days prior to any annual or special meeting of stockholders at which it is proposed that any director be

removed from office written notice of such proposed removal and the alleged grounds thereof shall be sent to the director whose

removal will be considered at the meeting

No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the

expiration of such directors term of office

ARTICLE III- COMMITITEES

Section Committees of Directors

The Board may designate one or more committees each committee to consist of one or more of the directors

of the Corporation The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee who may replace any

absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee In the absence or disqualification of member of committee the

member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting whether or not such member or members

constitute quorum may unanimously appoint another member of the Board to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or

disqualified member Any such committee to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board or in these Bylaws shall have and

may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation and may
authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers that may require it but no such committee shall have the power or

authority to approve or adopt or recommend to the stockholders any action or matter expressly required by the DGCL to be

submitted to stockholders for approval or ii adopt amend or repeal any bylaw of the Corporation

Section Committee Minutes

Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the Board when required

Section Meetings and Action of Committees

Meetings and actions of committees shall be governed by and held and taken in accordance with the provisions of

Section of Article II place of meetings and meetings by telephone

ii Section of Article II regular meetings
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iii Section of Article II special meetings and notice

iv Section of Article II conduct of business

Section of Article II quorum

vi Section of Article Vifi waiver of notice and

vii Section 10 of Article II action without meeting

with such changes in the context of those Bylaws as are necessary to substitute the committee and its members for the Board and its

members However

the time of regular meetings of committees may be determined either by resolution of the

Board or by resolution of the committee

ii special meetings of committees may also be called by resolution of the Board and

iii notice of special meetings of committees shall also be given to all alternate members
who shall have the right to attend all meetings of the committee The Board may adopt rules for the government of any committee not

inconsistent with the provisions of these Bylaws

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS

Section Officers

The officers of the Corporation shall be President and Secretary The Corporation may also have at the

discretion of the Board Chairperson of the Board Vice Chairperson of the Board Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial

Officer or Treasurer one or more Vice Presidents one or more Assistant Vice Presidents one or more Assistant Treasurers

one or more Assistant Secretaries and any such other officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of these

Bylaws Any number of offices may be held by the same person

Section Appointment of Officers

The Board shall appoint the officers of the Corporation except such officers as may be appointed in accordance with

the provisions of Section of this Article IV subject to the rights if any of an officer under any contract of employment

Section Subordinate Officers

The Board may appoint or empower the Chief Executive Officer or in the absence of Chief Executive Officer the

President to appoint such other officers and agents as the business of the Corporation may require Each of such officers and agents

shall hold office for such period have such authority and perform such duties as are provided in these Bylaws or as the Board may
from time to time determine
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Section Removal and Resignation of Officers

Subject to the rights if any of an officer under any contract of employment any officer may be removed either

with or without cause by an affirmative vote of the majority of the Board then in office at any regular or special meeting of the Board

or except in the case of an officer chosen by the Board by any officer upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by the

Board

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Corporation Any resignation shall take effect at

the date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time specified in that notice Unless otherwise specified in the notice of resignation

the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective Any resignation is without prejudice to the rights if any

of the Corporation under any contract to which the officer is party

Section Vacancies in Offices

Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation shall be filled by the Board or as provided in Section of

this Article IV

Section Representation of Shares of Other Corporations

The Chairperson of the Board the President any Vice President the Treasurer the Secretary or Assistant Secretary

of the Corporation or any other person authorized by the Board or the President or Vice President is authorized to vote represent

and exercise on behalf of the Corporation all rights incident to any and all shares of any other corporation or corporations standing in

the name of the Corporation The authority granted herein may be exercised either by such person directly or by any other person

authorized to do so by proxy or power of attorney duly executed by such person having the authority

Section Authority and Duties of Officers

All officers of the Corporation shall respectively have such authority and perform such duties in the management of

the business of the Corporation as may be designated from time to time by the Board or the stockholders and to the extent not so

provided as generally pertain to their respective offices subject to the control of the Board

ARTICLE RECORDS AND REPORTS

Section Maintenance and Inspection of Records

The Corporation shall either at its principal executive office or at such place or places as designated by the Board

keep record of its stockholders listing their names and addresses and the number and class of shares held by each stockholder copy

of these Bylaws as amended to date accounting books and other records
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Any stockholder of record in person or by attorney or other agent shall upon written demand under oath stating the

purpose thereof have the right during the usual hours for business to inspect for any proper purpose
the Corporations stock ledger

list of its stockholders and its other books and records and to make copies or extracts therefrom proper purpose shall mean

purpose reasonably related to such persons interest as stockholder In every instance where an attorney or other agent is the
person

who seeks the right to inspection the demand under oath shall be accompanied by power of attorney or such other writing that

authorizes the attorney or other agent so to act on behalf of the stockholder The demand under oath shall be directed to the

Corporation at its registered office in Delaware or at its principal executive office

Section Inspection by Directors

Any director shall have the right to examine the Corporations stock ledger list of its stockholders and its other

books and records for purpose reasonably related to his or her position as director The Court of Chancery is hereby vested with the

exclusive jurisdiction to determine whether director is entitled to the inspection sought The Court may summarily order the

Corporation to permit the director to inspect any and all books and records the stock ledger and the stock list and to make copies or

extracts therefrom The Court may in its discretion prescribe any limitations or conditions with reference to the inspection or award

such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper

ARTICLE VI- STOCK

Section Certificates of Stock Uncertificated Shares

The shares of the Corporation shall be evidenced by certificates provided however that the Board may provide by

resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of stock of the Corporation shall be uncertificated shares Any
such resolution shall not apply to shares evidenced by certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the Corporation

Notwithstanding the adoption of such resolution by the Board every
holder of stock evidenced by certificates and upon request

every holder of uncertificated shares shall be entitled to have certificate signed by or in the name of the Corporation by the

Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson of the Board or the President or Vice President and by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or

the Chief Financial Officer or the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer certifying the number of shares owned by him or her Any or

all of the signatures on the certificate may be by facsimile In case any officer transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose

facsimile signature has been placed upon certificate has ceased to be such officer transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is

issued it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such person were suqh officer transfer agent or registrar at the

date of issue

Section Transfers of Stock

Subject to any restrictions on transfer and unless otherwise provided by the Board shares of stock that are

represented by certificate may be transferred on the books of the Corporation by the surrender to the Corporation or its transfer agent

of the certificate theretofore properly endorsed or accompanied by written assignment or power of attorney properly executed with

transfer stamps if necessary affixed and with such proof of the authenticity of signature as the Corporation or its transfer agent may
reasonably require Shares of stock that are not represented by certificate may be transferred on the books of the Corporation by

submitting to the Corporation or its transfer agent such evidence of transfer and following such other procedures as the Corporation or

its transfer agent may require
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Section Registered Stockholders

The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of person registered on its books as the owner of

shares to receive dividends and to vote as such owner and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest

in such share or shares on the part of any other person whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof except as otherwise

provided by the laws of the State of Delaware

Section Lost Stolen or Destroyed Certificates

In the event of the loss theft or destruction of any certificate of stock another may be issued in its place pursuant to

such regulations as the Corporation may establish concerning proof of such loss theft or destruction and concerning the giving of

satisfactory bond or bonds of indemnity

Section Regulations

The issue transfer conversion and registration of certificates of stock shall be governed by such other regulations as

the Board may establish

ARTICLE VII- OTHER SECURITIES OF THE CORPORATION

All bonds debentures and other corporate securities of the Corporation other than stock certificates covered in

Article VI may be signed by the Chairperson of the Board the Chief Executive Officer the President or an Vice President or such

other person as may be authorized by the Board and the corporate seal impressed thereon or facsimile of such seal imprinted thereon

and attested by the signature of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or the Chief Financial Officer or Treasurer or an Assistant

Treasurer provided however that where any such bond debenture or other corporate security shall be authenticated by the manual

signature or where permissible facsimile signature of trustee under an indenture pursuant to which such bond debenture or other

corporate security shall be issued the signatures of the persons signing and attesting the corporate seal on such bond debenture or

other corporate security may be the imprinted facsimile of the signatures of such persons Interest coupons appertaining to any such

bond debenture or other corporate security authenticated by trustee as aforesaid shall be signed by the Treasurer or an Assistant

Treasurer of the Corporation or such other person as may be authorized by the Board or bear imprinted thereon the facsimile signature

of such person
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ARTICLE VIII- NOTICES

Section Notices

If mailed notice to stockholders shall be deemed given when deposited in the United States mail postage prepaid

directed to the stockholder at such stockholders address as it appears on the records of the Corporation Without limiting the manner

by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders any notice to stockholders may be given by facsimile telegraph

telex or by electronic transmission in the manner provided in Section 232 of the DGCL

Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders any notice to

stockholders given by the Corporation under the provisions of the DGCL the Corporations Amended and Restated Certificate of

Incorporation or these Bylaws shall be effective if given by single written notice to stockholders who share an address if consented

to by the stockholders at that address to whom such notice is given Any stockholder who fails to object in writing to the Corporation

within sixty 60 days of having been given written notice by the Corporation of its intention to send such single notice shall be

deemed to have consented to receiving such single written notice Any such consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written

notice to the Corporation

Section Waivers

written waiver of any notice signed by stockholder or director or waiver by electronic transmission by such

person whether given before or after the time of the event for which notice is to be given shall be deemed equivalent to the notice

required to be given to such person Neither the business nor the purpose of any meeting need be specified in such waiver

Attendance at any meeting shall constitute waiver of notice except attendance for the sole purpose of objecting to the timeliness of

notice

ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS

Section Facsimile Signatures

In addition to the provisions for use of facsimile signatures elsewhere specifically authorized in these Bylaws

facsimile signatures of any officer or officers of the Corporation may be used whenever and as authorized by the Board or committee

thereof

Section Corporate Seal

The Board may provide suitable seal containing the name of the Corporation which seal shall be in the charge of

the Secretary of the Corporation If and when so directed by the Board or committee thereof duplicates of the seal may be kept and

used by the Treasurer or by an Assistant Secretary or Assistant Treasurer
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Section Reliance upon Books Reports and Records

Each director each member of any committee designated by the Board and each officer of the Corporation shall in

the performance of his or her duties be fully protected in relying in good faith upon the books of account or other records of the

Corporation and upon such information opinions reports or statements presented to the Corporation by any of its officers or

employees or committees of the Board so designated or by any other person as to matters which such director or committee member

reasonably believes are within such other persons professional or expert competence and who has been selected with reasonable care

by or on behalf of the Corporation

Section Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be as fixed by the Board

Section Time Periods

In applying any provision of these Bylaws that requires that an act be done or not be done specified number of

days prior to an event or that an act be done during period of specified number of days prior to an event calendar days shall be

used the day of the doing of the act shall be excluded and the day of the event shall be included

Section Other Offices

The registered office of the Corporation shall be fixed in the Corporations Certificate of Incorporation as same may
be amended from time to time The Corporation shall also have and maintain an office or principal place of business at such place as

may be fixed by the Board and may also have offices at such other places both within and without the State of Delaware as the Board

may from time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require

Section Execution of Corporate Instruments

The Board may in its discretion determine the method and designate the signatory officer or officers or other

person or persons to execute on behalf of the Corporation any corporate instrument or document or to sign on behalf of the

Corporation the corporate name without limitation or to enter into contracts on behalf of the Corporation except where otherwise

provided by law or these Bylaws and such execution or signature shall be binding upon the corporation

All checks and drafts drawn on banks or other depositaries on funds to the credit of the Corporation or in special

accounts of the Corporation shall be signed by such person or persons as provided in these Bylaws or as the Board shall authorize so

to do

Unless authorized or ratified by the Board or within the agency power of an officer no officer agent or employee

shall have any power or authority to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for

any purpose or for any amount
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ARTICLE INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Section Right to Indemnification

Each person who was or is made party or is threatened to he made party to or is otherwise involved in any action

suit or proceeding whether civil criminal administrative or investigative hereinafter Proceeding by reason of the fact that he or

she is or was director or an officer of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as director officer or

trustee of another corporation or of partnership joint venture trust or other enterprise including service with respect to an employee

benefit plan hereinafter an Indeninitee whether the basis of such proceeding is alleged action in an official capacity as director

officer or trustee or in any other capacity while serving as director officer or trustee shall be indemnified and held harmless by the

Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law as the same exists or may hereafter be amended but in the case of any

such amendment only to the extent that such amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader indemnification rights than such

law permitted the Corporation to provide prior to such amendment against all expense liability and loss including attorneys fees

judgments fines ERISA excise taxes or penalties and amounts paid in settlement reasonably incurred or suffered by such Indemnitee

in connection therewith provided however that except as provided in Section of this Article with respect to proceedings to

enforce rights to indemnification the Corporation shall indemnify any such Indemnitee in connection with Proceeding or part

thereof initiated by such Indemnitee only if such Proceeding or part thereof was authorized by the Board of the Corporation or is

expressly required by law

Section Right to Advancement of Expenses

In addition to the right to indemnification conferred in Section of this Article an Indemnitee shall also have the

right to be paid by the Corporation the expenses including attorneys fees incurred in defending any such Proceeding in advance of

its final disposition hereinafter an Advancement of Expenses provided however that if required by the DGCL an Advancement

of Expenses incurred by an Indemnitee in his or her capacity as director or officer and not in any other capacity in which service

was or is rendered by such Indenmitee including without limitation service to an employee benefit plan shall be made only upon

delivery to the Corporation of an undertaking hereinafter an Undertaking by or on behalf of such Indemnitee to repay all amounts

so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by final judicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal hereinafter

Final Adjudication that such Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified for such
expenses

under Section of this Article or

otherwise
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Section Right of Indemnitee to Bring Suit

If claim under Section or of this Article is not paid in lull by the Corporation within sixty 60 days after

written claim has been received by the Corporation except in the case of claim for an advancement of expenses in which case the

applicable period shall be twenty 20 days the Indemnitee may at any time thereafter bring suit against the Corporation to recover the

unpaid amount of the claim If successful in whole or in part in any such suit or in suit brought by the Corporation to recover an

Advancement of Expenses pursuant to the terms of an Undertaking the Indeninitee shall be entitled to be paid also the expense
of

prosecuting or defending such suit In any suit brought by the Indemnitee to enforce right to indemnification hereunder but not in

suit brought by the Indeninitee to enforce right to an Advancement of Expenses it shall be defense that and ii any suit brought

by the Corporation to recover an Advancement of Expenses pursuant to the terms of an Undertaking the Corporation shall be entitled

to recover such expenses upon Final Adjudication that in either case the Indemnitee has not met any applicable standard for

indemnification set forth in the DGCL Neither the failure of the Corporation including its directors who are not parties to such

action committee of such directors independent legal counsel or its stockholders to have made determination prior to the

commencement of such suit that indemnification of the Indenmitee is proper in the circumstances because the Indemnitee has met the

applicable standard of conduct set forth in the DGCL nor an actual determination by the Corporation including its directors who are

not parties to such action committee of such directors independent legal counsel or its stockholders that the Indemnitee has not

met such applicable standard of conduct shall create presumption that the Indenmitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct

or in the case of such suit brought by the Indemnitee be defense to such suit In any suit brought by the Indemnitee to enforce

right to indemnification or to an Advancement of Expenses hereunder or brought by the Corporation to recover an Advancement of

Expenses pursuant to the terms of an Undertaking the burden of proving that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified or to

such Advancement of Expenses under this Article or otherwise shall be on the Corporation

Section Non-Exclusivity of Rights

The rights to indemnification and to the Advancement of Expenses conferred in this Article shall not be exclusive

of any
other right that any person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute the Corporations Amended and Restated

Certificate of Incorporation these Bylaws agreement vote of stockholders or directors or otherwise

Section Insurance

The Corporation may maintain insurance at its expense to protect itself apd any director officer employee or agent

of the Corporation or another corporation partnership joint venture trust or other enterprise against any expense liability or loss

whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnifSr such person against such expense liability or loss under the

DGCL

Section Indemnification of Employees and Agents of the Corporation

The Corporation may to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board grant rights to indemnification and to

the advancement of expenses to any employee or agent of the Corporation to the fullest extent of the provisions of this Article with

respect to the indemnification and advancement of expenses of directors and officers of the Corporation

Section Other Indemnification

The Corporations obligation if any to indemni or advance expenses to any person who was or is serving at its

request as director officer employee or agent of another corporation partnership joint venture trust enterprise or non-profit entity

shall be reduced by any amount such person may collect as indemnification or advancement of expenses from such other corporation

partnership joint venture trust enterprise or non-profit enterprise
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Section Nature of Rights

The rights conferred upon indemnitees in this Article shall be contract rights and such rights shall continue as to

an Indemnitee who has ceased to be director officer or trustee and shall inure to the benefit of the Indemnitees heirs executors and

administrators Any amendment alteration or repeal of this Article that adversely affects any right of an Indemnitee or its

successors shall be prospective only and shall not limit or eliminate any such right with respect to any Proceeding involving any

occurrence or alleged occurrence of any action or omission to act that took place prior to such amendment alteration or repeal

Section Saving Clause

If this Article or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of competent jurisdiction

then the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify and advance
expenses to each director and officer to the fullest extent not prohibited

by any applicable portion of this Article that shall not have been invalidated or by any other applicable law If this Article shall

be invalid due to the application of the indemnification provisions of another jurisdiction then the Corporation shall indemnify and

advance expenses to each director and officer to the fullest extent pennifted under any other applicable law

ARTICLE LOANS TO OFFICERS

Except as otherwise prohibited by applicable law including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 the Corporation may
lend money to or guarantee any obligation of or otherwise assist any officer or other employee of the Corporation or of its

subsidiaries including any officer or employee who is director of the Corporation or its subsidiaries whenever in the judgment of

the Board such loan guarantee or assistance may reasonably be expected to benefit the Corporation The loan guarantee or other

assistance may be with or without interest and may be unsecured or secured in such manner as the Board shall approve including

without limitation pledge of shares of stock of the Corporation Nothing in these Bylaws shall be deemed to deny limit or restrict

the powers of guaranty or warranty of the Corporation at common law or under any statute
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ARTICLE XII- AMENDMENTS

Subject to the limitations set forth in Section of Article in furtherance and not in limitation of the powers

conferred by law the Board is expressly authorized to adopt amend and repeal these Bylaws subject to the power of the holders of

capital stock of the Corporation to adopt amend or repeal Bylaws of the Corporation provided however that with respect to the

power of holders of capital stock to adopt amend and repeal Bylaws of the Corporation notwithstanding any other provision of these

Bylaws or any provision of law that might otherwise permit lesser vote or no vote but in addition to any affirmative vote of the

holders of any particular class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation required by law these Bylaws or any preferred stock

the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent 66-2/3% of the voting power of all of the then

outstanding shares entitled to vote generally in the election of directors voting together as single class shall be required to adopt

amend or repeal any provision of these Bylaws
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Exhibit 21.1

ExamWorks Group Inc

The following table lists the direct and indirect subsidiaries of Exam Works Group Inc

Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or

Name Organization

ExamWorks Inc Delaware

Southwest Medical Examination Services Inc Texas

Diagnostic Imaging Institute Inc Texas

Pacific Billing Services Inc Texas

The Ricwel Corporation Ohio

Marquis Medical Administrators Inc New York

Florida Medical Specialists Inc New Jersey

CEO Medical Services LLC New Jersey

1MB Software Solutions LLC Michigan

ExamWorks Review Services LLC Delaware

Ricwel of West Virginia LLC West Virginia

ExamWorks Evaluations of New York LLC New York

Exigere Corporation Washington

Network Medical Review Company Ltd Illinois

Network Medical Management Company Ltd Illinois

Elite Physicians Ltd Illinois

Insurance Appeals Ltd Illinois

WorkersFirst Inc Illinois

MIES Group Inc Michigan

Medical Evaluation Specialists Inc Michigan

Medical Evaluation Specialists California

Medical Evaluation SpecialistsMassachusetts Inc Massachusetts

Medical Evaluation Specialists Inc Pennsylvania

MES Management Services Inc New York

Lone Star Consulting Services Inc Texas

DDA Management Services LLC New York

ExamWorks Canath Inc Delaware

SOMA Medical Assessments Corp Ontario Canada

Direct 1MB Corp Ontario Canada

ExamWorks Europe Inc Delaware

ExamWorks UK Ltd England and Wales

UK Independent Medical Services Limited England and Wales

UK Legal Funding Solutions Ltd England and Wales

Legal Evolve Limited England and Wales

Independent Medical Reporting IMR Limited England and Wales

Independent Medical Reports Limited England and Wales

Independent Medicals Ltd England and Wales

Independent Medical Assessment Services Ltd England and Wales

Independent Medical Experts Limited England and Wales

Independent Medical Providers Ltd England and Wales

Independent Reports Limited England and Wales

Axis Costs Limited England and Wales

UK Legal Imaging Services Limited England and Wales



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors

ExamWorks Group mc

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement No 333-170487 on Form S-8 of BxamWorks

Group Inc of our report dated March 11 2011 relating to the consolidated balance sheets of ExamWorks Group Inc and

subsidiaries as of December 31 2009 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss

stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 and related financial

statement schedule and our report dated October 12 2010 relating to the statements of operations and cash flows from January

2008 to July 13 2008 of CFO Medical Services P.A Predecessor Company which reports appear in the December 31 2010 annual

report on Form 10-K of ExamWorks Group Inc

Is KPMG LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 112011



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

James Price certifr that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ExamWorks Group Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were

made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other fmancial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of

and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifing officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those

entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially

affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifing officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 112011

Is James Price

James Price

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTiFICATION

Miguel Fernandez de Castro certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ExamWorks Group Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were

made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other fmancial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of

and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and lSd-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those

entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially

affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over fmancial reporting

Date March 112011

Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies that to his knowledge the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31 2010 of ExamWorks Group Inc the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date

hereof fhlly complies with the requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information

contained in such report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Is James Price

Name James Price

Title Chief Executive Officer

Date March 112011

Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title Chief Financial Officer

Date Marchll2011


